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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
 

Some of the information presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking
statements” regarding risks and uncertainties with respect to our business and operations. Although Brocade
Communications (“Brocade” or the “Company,” which may also be referred to as “we,” “us” or “our”)
believes that its expectations are based on reasonable assumptions within the bounds of its knowledge of its
businesses and operations, there can be no assurance that actual results will not differ materially from our
expectations. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from expectations include:
 

 • changes in our relationship with EMC Corporation (“EMC”), International Business Machines
Corporation (“IBM”), Hitachi Data Systems (“HDS”), Hewlett-Packard (“HP”) and our other
distribution partners and the level of their orders;

 

 • a loss of any of our key OEM customers (and our OEMs’ key customers), distributors, or resellers, a
changes in our relationship with our large end-user customers and the level of their orders, or the loss
of any of our key suppliers or our contract manufacturers;

 

 • changes in our relationship with our large end-user customers and the level of their orders;
 

 • our ability to successfully increase sales of Brocade’s directors, switches, channel extension products,
embedded software, management software solutions, third party products, maintenance and support
contracts, and professional services;

 

 • competition in the storage networking and channel extension market, including competitive pricing
pressures and product give-aways, by our competitors such as QLogic Corp., or QLogic, Cisco
Systems, Inc., or Cisco, Emulex Corporation and other IP and multi-protocol switch and software
suppliers;

 

 • our ability to expand our product offerings including our ability to successfully qualify and ramp sales
of new products (including higher port density, multi-protocol and intelligent network products);

 

 • our ability to continue selling legacy McDATA Corporation (“McDATA”) products and services to
end-user customers;

 

 • our ability to partner with other companies and jointly sell products, including but not limited to
management software with Network Appliance, Riverbed, FalconStor and software for blade servers
with QLogic;

 

 • unexpected engineering costs or delays, additional manufacturing and component costs or production
delays that we may experience in connection with new product development or an inability to source
products from third party product providers;

 

 • any change in business conditions, our business and sales strategy or product development plans, and
our ability to attract and retain highly skilled individuals;

 

 • any industry or technology changes that cause obsolescence of our products or components of those
products;

 

 • any material settlement or unfavorable resolution of litigation matters involving the Company; and
 

 • other one-time events and other important risks and factors disclosed previously and from time to time
in our filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, including the risk factors
discussed in this Annual Report.

 

You should not construe these cautionary statements as an exhaustive list or as any admission by us
regarding the adequacy of the disclosures made by us. We cannot always predict or determine after the fact
what factors would cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by our forward-looking
statements or other statements. In addition, you are urged to consider statements that include the terms
“believes,” “belief,” “expects,” “plans,” “objectives,” “anticipates,” “intends,” or the like to be uncertain and
forward-looking. All cautionary statements should be read as being applicable to all forward-looking
statements wherever they appear. We do not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statements.
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PART I
 

Item 1.  Business
 

General
 

Brocade is the leading supplier of storage area network equipment and a leading provider of data center
networking solutions that help enterprises connect and manage their information. The Company offers a
comprehensive line of data center networking products, software and services that enable businesses to make
their data centers more efficient, reliable and adaptable.
 

Brocade products and services are designed to help information technology (“IT”) organizations manage
their data assets in an efficient, cost-effective manner. The Brocade family of Storage Area Network (“SAN”)
infrastructure products and solutions includes directors, switches, routers, embedded switches for blade
servers, fabric-based software applications, as well as management applications and utilities to centralize data
management. The Brocade family of File Area Network (“FAN”) solutions includes software offerings for
more effectively managing file data and storage resources. Brocade also offers services that assist customers
with consulting and support in designing, implementing, deploying and managing data center enterprise
solutions. Together, Brocade’s products and services simplify IT infrastructure, increase resource utilization,
ensure availability of mission critical applications and serve as a platform for corporate data back up and
disaster recovery.
 

Brocade products and services are marketed, sold and supported worldwide to end-user customers
through distribution partners, including original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), distributors, systems
integrators, value-added resellers and by Brocade directly.
 

Brocade was incorporated in California on August 24, 1995 and re-incorporated in Delaware on May 14,
1999. Brocade’s mailing address and executive offices are located at 1745 Technology Drive, San Jose,
California 95110. Brocade’s telephone number is (408) 333-8000. Brocade’s corporate website is
www.brocade.com. Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current
Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to reports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are available free of charge on Brocade’s website when such reports are
available on the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) website. The public may read and copy any
materials filed by Brocade with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE,
Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room
by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and
information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at
http://www.sec.gov. The contents of these websites are not incorporated into this filing. Further, Brocade’s
references to the URLs for these websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.
 

Products and Services
 

Brocade’s products and services are designed to help companies reduce the cost and complexity of
managing business information within a shared data storage environment while enabling high levels of
availability of mission critical business applications. In addition, its products and services assist companies in
the development and delivery of storage and server consolidation, disaster recovery and data security and in
meeting compliance issues regarding data management. Brocade’s products are generally used in conjunction
with servers and storage subsystems, SAN interconnection components such as host bus adapters and storage
management software applications and tools. By utilizing a shared storage, or networked storage solution,
companies can more easily share and consolidate server and storage resources; centralize and simplify data
management; scale and provision storage resources more effectively; and improve application efficiency,
performance and availability. As a result, companies are able to better utilize information technology assets,
improve productivity of information technology personnel, reduce capital and operational expenditures, and
more reliably and securely store, manage, and administer business information.
 

Brocade believes that as the need for data storage continues to grow, companies will look to further
simplify the tasks of storing, managing and administering their data, while looking to maximize their
information technology investments and reduce both capital and operational expenditures. SANs provide a
platform that helps companies
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optimize their information technology assets and support future data growth and have been installed at many
of the world’s leading companies since the mid-1990s. Brocade also believes companies will continue to
expand the size and scope of their SANs and data center networks and the number and types of applications
that these networks support.
 

Since its inception, Brocade has been a pioneer and innovator in developing the market for shared storage
solutions and has grown to be a market leader in storage networking infrastructure. Brocade believes that the
future evolution of the storage networking and data center management markets will be led by the providers
of products and services that simplify the management of heterogeneous server and storage environments and
maximize end-users’ information technology investments on an ongoing basis. Brocade also believes that
storage networking and data center infrastructure solutions will evolve to provide increased capabilities that
enable new types of storage management applications that simplify storage management, increase operational
efficiencies and reduce operating expense. As a result, many of Brocade’s initiatives and investments are
aimed at expanding the capabilities enabled by storage networks, increasing end-to-end interoperability,
protecting end-user investments in existing and new information technology resources and making it easier
for Brocade and its partners to deliver solutions that provide efficiencies in managing large, complex and
growing enterprise data center environments.
 

Storage Networking Solutions
 

Brocade’s family of SAN directors, switches and bladed switch products provide interconnections,
bandwidth and high-speed routing of data between servers and storage devices. Product models range from
entry-level 8-port fabric switches to 512-port directors with multiple blade options, addressing the needs of
small departments and global enterprises alike. Based predominantly on the Fibre Channel protocol, these
high-performance solutions are available to support requirements both for open systems and mainframe
operations. All switches and directors support key applications such as data backup, remote mirroring and
high-availability clustering as well as high-volume transaction processing applications such as enterprise
resource planning (ERP) and data warehousing. They have been designed to meet the storage networking
needs of end-users in environments ranging from small and medium-size businesses to large enterprises with
SAN fabrics that scale to thousands of ports, spread across multiple locations around the world.
 

The Brocade Fabric Operating System, or Fabric OS, is the operating system that provides the core
infrastructure for deploying SANs. As the foundation for Brocade’s family of SAN products, Fabric OS helps
ensure the reliable and high-performance data transport which is critical for scalable SAN fabrics
interconnecting multiple servers and storage devices. Brocade’s SAN management operating system also
includes a common set of optional advanced software services that build upon the foundation of Fabric OS
and help improve performance, availability, scalability and the overall functionality of the network. These
software services include the ability to proactively monitor the health and performance of the SAN, the ability
to aggregate bandwidth between switches to deliver higher performance for storage applications and the
ability to securely control data access in multi-vendor SAN environments. In addition, Brocade offers
management tools that enable end-users to manage and administer their SANs. Brocade believes that its
Fabric OS provides it with an advantage in the storage networking market, enabling differentiation and
increasing optional licensable features and services.
 

File Data Management Solutions
 

With the acquisition of NuView in March of 2006, Brocade introduced a family of file data management
solutions to market which are designed to help organizations consolidate access to file data while simplifying
the availability and recovery of that data as part of a strategic FAN. As a result, these solutions help optimize
server and storage assets, increase operational flexibility and significantly reduce overall data management
and storage costs. These solutions include the following:
 

 • Brocade StorageX is an integrated suite of applications designed to logically aggregate distributed file
data across heterogeneous environments, providing administrators with policies to better manage and
automate distributed file data;
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 • Brocade File Lifecycle Manager (“FLM”), provides a powerful way to automatically move files across
tiers of storage based on company or administrative policies. Brocade FLM helps to meet compliance
requirements, while driving lower overall storage costs;

 

 • Brocade MyView is a resource access management solution that provides personalized, secure access
to Windows file resources across the enterprise, improving data security and compliance practices; and

 

 • Brocade UNC Update helps support non-disruptive storage migration by accurately reporting and
updating interdependent references in files.

 

Server Connectivity Solutions
 

In late fiscal year 2007, Brocade outlined its plans to deliver innovative next-generation server
connectivity products, commonly referred to as host bus adapters (“HBAs”) in today’s market. Brocade began
shipping its first HBA products in May 2007, with availability of next-generation products expected
beginning in the first half of 2008. These future offerings are expected to include 8 Gbit/sec Fibre Channel
and 10 Gigabit Ethernet technologies and to dovetail with evolving SAN standards and virtualization
solutions.
 

Brocade Services
 

Brocade offers a range of professional and support services to facilitate customer projects, to assist
customers in the design, implementation, management and operation of their SAN and to provide extended
customer support. These services address a number of customer risk factors that must be managed during the
life cycle of a storage network or data center infrastructure and are valued because they bring valuable
experience and expertise to a customer challenge. Brocade services may be delivered directly to end-user
customers, or via partners as a component of a broader service and support offering.
 

Industry Initiatives and Standards Development
 

Brocade works with industry-leading companies to facilitate the development of standards, technologies,
products, and services that focus on the simplification of data center infrastructure management, and the
implementation and management of storage networking environments. Brocade has an open approach to
standards works with nearly every leading provider of server, storage and SAN management applications and
technologies.
 

Brocade is continuing this commitment with regard to its file data management products. Brocade is
actively involved with key file management product partners and competitors to develop an industry-based
technical working group to deliver common architecture definitions for the FAN sector.
 

Brocade’s has a long history of being a major contributor to the evolution of industry standards ranging
from Fibre Channel communication technology to SAN interoperability to storage and SAN management.
Brocade contributes to related industry standards committees and has authored or co-authored the majority of
the Fibre Channel protocol standards in existence today. As Brocade continues to expand its leadership
presence in the new markets the Company’s participation in associated standards groups continues to grow.
The Company in the past fiscal year has added membership in the Green Grid, SNIA Green Working Group,
Ethernet Alliance and Fibre Channel over Ethernet (“FCoE”) organizations.
 

Storage Networking Environment Interoperability
 

As SANs have increased in size and comprise more and different types of server, storage and
interconnection devices, the need for interoperability among those devices has similarly increased. Brocade
has invested a significant amount of resources for purposes of providing interoperability among Brocade
solutions and the servers, storage and storage management applications that run in the Brocade environment,
as well as in driving standards for interoperability among SAN interconnection devices. Brocade also certifies
its solutions in operational storage environments through its testing programs, its partners’ testing and
qualification initiatives, and through certification programs for third party products, which it offers as a
resource to its application and technology partners. Through Brocade’s testing initiatives, Brocade also
certifies interoperability configurations of common customer environments, such as remote data backup in a
multi-vendor server and storage environment.
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Application Interoperability
 

An important aspect of managing storage environments is the management software used to administer,
manage and provision storage resources and data. Brocade products offer advanced capabilities that allow
third-party developers of storage software applications to gain additional functionality and simplify the
development of their applications.
 

Education and Technical Certification Services
 

Brocade’s education and training organization delivers technical education and training on Brocade
technology that encompasses design, implementation and management solutions to its partners and their
customers. Brocade curriculum is delivered worldwide using diverse methodologies, which include instructor
led classes and an online web based training portfolio as well as a “live” virtual classroom capability. Brocade
Education Services trains over 18,000 information technology professionals annually. The Brocade
Certification Programs offers certification on Brocade solutions for information technology professionals who
have completed certain tests administered by an independent testing organization. These certification
programs are designed to measure the knowledge and proficiency of information technology professionals in
Brocade data center and data management solutions and technologies, and to help ensure that Brocade’s
customers receive superior customer service and support. Over 7,000 information technology professionals
are now certified on Brocade solutions. Brocade’s education and training services are made available through
its own education facilities and through its worldwide training provider network.
 

Distribution Model
 

Brocade’s products are marketed, sold and supported worldwide primarily through a wide range of
distribution partners, including OEM partners, distributors, system integrators and value-added resellers
(“VARs”), and directly by Brocade.
 

 • Brocade’s OEM partners are leading server, storage and systems providers who offer Brocade’s
products under their own private label or as Brocade branded solutions. Sales of these products through
OEM partners comprise the majority of Brocade’s business.

 

 • Other distribution partners include Brocade-authorized distributors, systems integrators and VARs.
These partners are authorized by Brocade to market, sell and support its products and services. Some of
these partners also sell training and other value-added services.

 

Brocade has OEM or distribution agreements with most of the major companies that sell enterprise
servers and storage systems. In addition, Brocade employs a worldwide sales force to assist its distribution
partners in marketing Brocade solutions, assessing customer requirements and designing, implementing and
maintaining Brocade-based solutions.
 

Customers
 

Brocade’s major OEM customers for the fiscal year ended October 27, 2007 (in alphabetical order)
included Dell Computer Corporation, EMC Corporation (“EMC”), Fujitsu Siemens, Hewlett-Packard
Company (“HP”), Hitachi Data Systems, Inc., IBM Corporation (“IBM”), Network Appliance, Inc., Siemens
AG, Sun Microsystems, Inc. and Unisys Corporation. Brocade’s primary non-OEM customers for the fiscal
year ended October 27, 2007 (in alphabetical order) included Bell Microproducts, Digital China, GE Access
Distribution and Tokyo Electron Limited.
 

For the years ended October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005, EMC, HP and IBM each
represented greater than ten percent of Brocade’s total revenues for combined totals of 68 percent, 73 percent
and 71 percent, of its total revenues, respectively. The level of sales to any OEM customer may vary from
quarter to quarter and Brocade expects that significant customer concentration will continue for the
foreseeable future. The loss of, or a decrease in the level of sales to, or a change in the ordering pattern of, any
one of these customers could have a material adverse impact on Brocade’s financial condition or results of
operations. In addition, its OEM partners experience seasonal revenue patterns which Brocade experiences as
well. These patterns are generally in-
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line with its OEMs on a calendar quarter basis. Historically, Brocade’s first and fourth fiscal quarters are
seasonally stronger quarters than its second and third fiscal quarters.
 

Geographic Information
 

Historically, domestic revenues have been between 60 percent and 75 percent of total revenues. For the
year ended October 27, 2007, domestic and international revenues were approximately 61 percent and
39 percent of total revenues, respectively. For the year ended October 28, 2006, domestic and international
revenues were approximately 64 and 36 percent of total revenues, respectively, and for the year ended
October 29, 2005, domestic and international revenues were approximately 63 percent and 37 percent of
Brocade’s total revenues, respectively. Revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on the location of
the customer to which Brocade’s products are shipped rather than where the products are ultimately used.
International revenues primarily consist of sales to customers in Western Europe and the greater Asia Pacific
region. For the year ended October 27, 2007, revenues in Europe have increased partly as a result of the
market growth in that region and partly as a result of the McDATA acquisition. For the year ended
October 28, 2006, revenues in Europe have increased primarily as a result of faster growth in that region
relative to North America and Asia Pacific region. For the years ended October 29, 2005 international
revenues decreased as a result of faster growth in the North America region. However, certain OEM
customers take possession of Brocade’s products domestically and then distribute these products to their
international customers. Because Brocade accounts for all of those OEM revenues as domestic revenues,
Brocade cannot be certain of the extent to which its domestic and international revenue mix is impacted by
the practices of its OEM customers. Nevertheless, data provided by OEM customers indicates that
international customers may account for a higher percentage of end-user demand than that indicated by
Brocade’s mix of domestic and international revenues (see Note 14, “Segment Information,” of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements).
 

Acquisitions and Investments
 

Brocade’s acquisition and investment strategy is focused on facilitating the evolution and expansion of
shared storage and data management. Brocade has made equity investments in companies that develop
technology or provide services that are complementary to or broaden the markets for its products or services
and further its business objectives.
 

On May 3, 2005, Brocade completed its acquisition of Therion Software Corporation, or Therion, a
privately held developer of software management solutions for the automated provisioning of servers over a
storage network based in Redmond, Washington. As of the acquisition date, Brocade owned approximately
13% of Therion’s equity interest through investments totaling $1.0 million. Therion was a development stage
company with no recognized revenue and a core technology that had not yet reached technological feasibility.
Accordingly, the acquisition of Therion was accounted for as an asset purchase.
 

On March 6, 2006, Brocade completed its acquisition of NuView, Inc., a privately held provider of a
family of standards-based enterprise file management products based in Houston, Texas. The acquisition
expanded Brocade’s File Management Solutions that include software that extends the benefits of shared
storage architectures to file data environments.
 

On January 5, 2007, the Company completed its acquisition of Silverback Systems, Inc. (“Silverback”), a
privately held provider of network acceleration technology headquartered in Campbell, California. This
acquisition further enables the Company to provide Ethernet-based solutions for data center networks.
 

On January 29, 2007, the Company completed its acquisition of McDATA Corporation, a provider of
storage networking and data infrastructure solutions. McDATA is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.
 

As of October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005, the carrying value of Brocade’s
investments in non-publicly traded companies was $5.0 million, $0.8 million and $3.8 million, respectively.
 

Research and Development
 

The industry in which Brocade competes is subject to rapid technological developments, evolving
industry standards, changes in customer requirements and new product introductions. As a result, Brocade’s
success
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depends, in part, on its ability to continue to enhance its existing solutions and to develop and introduce new
solutions that improve performance and reduce the total cost of ownership in the storage environment.
Brocade has invested significantly in product research and development. It continues to enhance and extend
its products and increase the speed, performance and port-density of its switching platform. Brocade also
continues to expand the value-added services of its intelligent platform to enable more functionality for end
customers, OEM partners and application partners and to further simplify storage management.
 

Brocade products are designed to support current industry standards and will continue to support
emerging standards that are consistent with its product strategy. Brocade products have been designed around
a common platform architecture, which facilitates the product design, development and testing cycle, and
reduces the time to market for new products and features. Brocade intends to continue to leverage this
common architecture to develop and introduce additional hardware and software products and enhancements
in the future.
 

Brocade’s product development process includes the certification of certain of its products by its OEM
partners, which is referred to as the product qualification process. During this process, Brocade supports its
OEM partners in the testing of its new products to ensure they meet quality and functionality and
inoperability requirements. The process is completed once the OEM partner has certified the product and
announced general availability of that product to their customers. This process generally is completed in a
range of two to four months.
 

For the years ended October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005, Brocade’s research and
development expenses totaled $213.3 million, $164.8 million and $132.4 million, respectively. All
expenditures for research and development costs have been expensed as incurred. In fiscal 2008, Brocade
expects to increase its level of investment, in absolute dollars, in research and development.
 

Competition
 

The markets for data center networking solutions are competitive and subject to rapid technological
change. Major storage systems and server providers are continually introducing new solutions and products
into these markets and enhancing their existing networked storage and data management solutions and
products. Brocade believes its primary competition is from providers of SAN switching products for
interconnecting servers and storage, including Cisco Systems (“Cisco”), QLogic Corporation (“QLogic”) and
Emulex Corporation, as well as from other private and public companies who have invested in various aspects
of networked storage and data management hardware, software and service offerings. Some of Brocade’s
competitors have longer operating histories and significantly greater human and financial resources than the
Company.
 

In addition, as the storage network and data center management markets evolve, additional technologies
are available and may increasingly become available, for interconnecting servers and storage. To the extent
that products based upon these technologies provide the ability to network servers and storage and support
high-performance storage applications, they are likely to compete with Brocade’s current and future products.
Competitive products include, but are not limited to, non-Fibre Channel emerging products based on Gigabit
Ethernet, 10 Gigabit Ethernet, Fibre Channel over Ethernet (“FCoE”), InfiniBand and iSCSI, as well as other
storage solutions such as Network Attached Storage (“NAS”) and Direct Attached Storage (“DAS”). In
addition, networking companies, manufacturers of networking equipment and other companies may develop
competitive products and technologies. Brocade’s OEM partners or other partners could also develop and
introduce products that compete with its product offerings. Brocade believes the competitive factors in this
market include product performance and features, product reliability, price, size and extent of installed base,
ability to meet delivery schedules, customer service, technical support and distribution channels.
 

Manufacturing
 

Brocade uses third-party contract manufacturers, Hon Hai Precision Industry Co. (“Foxconn”), SCI —
Sanmina (“Sanmina”) and Solectron Corporation (“Solectron”) (recently acquired by Flextronics International
Ltd.) to manufacture its products. Foxconn, Sanmina and Solectron invoice Brocade based on prices and
payment terms mutually agreed upon and set forth in purchase orders it issues to them. Although the purchase
orders Brocade places with its contract manufacturers are cancelable, Brocade could be required to purchase
all unused material not cancelable, returnable or usable by other customers.
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Brocade uses Foxconn, Sanmina and Solectron for final turnkey product assembly, but Brocade also
maintains key component selection and qualification expertise internally. Brocade designs and develops the
key components of its products, including application-specific integrated circuits (“ASICs”) and operating
system and other software, as well as certain details in the fabrication and enclosure of its products. In
addition, Brocade determines the components that are incorporated into its products and Brocade selects
appropriate suppliers of those components.
 

Although Brocade uses standard parts and components for its products where possible, Brocade’s
contract manufacturers currently purchase, on Brocade’s behalf, several key components used in the
manufacture of its products from single or limited supplier sources. Brocade’s principal limited source
components include ASICs, printed circuit boards, microprocessors, certain connectors, certain logic chips,
small form-factor pluggable transceivers (“SFPs”), power supplies and programmable logic devices. In
addition, Brocade licenses certain software from third parties that is incorporated into its fabric operating
system and other software.
 

Brocade is also subject to various environmental and other regulations governing product safety,
materials usage, packaging and other environmental impacts in the various countries where its products are
sold. For example, many of Brocade’s products are subject to laws and regulations that restrict the use of lead,
mercury, hexavalent chromium, cadmium and other substances and require producers of electrical and
electronic equipment to assume responsibility for collecting, treating, recycling and disposing of its products
when they have reached the end of their useful life. In Europe, substance restrictions apply to products sold.
In addition, recycling, labeling, financing and related requirements apply to products Brocade sells in Europe.
Brocade may be required to redesign its products to ensure that they comply with any new requirements as
well as related requirements imposed by its OEM customers. Brocade also continues to work with its
suppliers to provide it with compliant materials, parts and components. Various other countries and states in
the United States have issued, or are in the process of issuing, other environmental regulations that may
impose additional restrictions or obligations and require further changes to the Company’s products.
 

Patents, Intellectual Property and Licensing
 

Brocade relies on a combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, confidentiality
agreements and other contractual restrictions with employees and third parties to establish and protect its
proprietary rights. Despite these precautions, the measures Brocade undertakes may not prevent
misappropriation or infringement of its proprietary technology. These measures may not preclude competitors
from independently developing products with functionality or features similar to its products.
 

Brocade maintains a program to identify and obtain patent protection for its inventions. As of
December 5, 2007, Brocade has been issued 139 patents in the United States and 10 patents in various foreign
countries (based on certain US patents or patent applications) that are currently in force and has
approximately 150 patent applications pending in the United States and approximately 30 patent applications
pending in various foreign countries (based on certain US patents or patent applications). The normal
expiration dates of its issued patents in the United States range from 2010 to 2024. It is possible that Brocade
will not receive patents for every application it files. Furthermore, Brocade’s issued patents may not
adequately protect its technology from infringement or prevent others from claiming that its products infringe
the patents of those third parties. Brocade’s failure to protect its intellectual property could materially harm its
business. In addition, Brocade’s competitors may independently develop similar or superior technology,
duplicate Brocade’s products, or design around its patents. It is possible that litigation may be necessary in the
future to enforce Brocade’s intellectual property rights, to protect its trade secrets, or to determine the validity
and scope of the proprietary rights of others. Litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of
resources and could materially harm Brocade’s business.
 

Some of Brocade’s products are designed to include software or other intellectual property licensed from
third parties. While it may be necessary in the future to seek or renew licenses relating to various aspects of
its products, Brocade believes that such licenses generally could be obtained on commercially reasonable
terms. However, failure to obtain such licenses on commercially reasonable terms could materially harm
Brocade’s business.
 

Brocade has received and may receive in the future, notice of claims of infringement of other parties’
proprietary rights. Infringement or other claims could be asserted or prosecuted against Brocade in the future
and it
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is possible that past or future assertions or prosecutions could harm its business. Any such claims, with or
without merit, could be time-consuming, result in costly litigation and diversion of technical and management
personnel, cause delays in the development and release of its products, or require Brocade to develop
non-infringing technology or enter into royalty or licensing arrangements. Such royalty or licensing
arrangements, if required, may require Brocade to license back its technology or may not be available on
terms acceptable to Brocade, or at all. For these reasons, infringement claims could materially harm
Brocade’s business.
 

Backlog
 

Brocade’s business is characterized by short lead-time orders and fast delivery schedules. Sales of its
products are generally made pursuant to contracts and purchase orders that are cancelable without significant
penalties. These commitments are subject to price negotiations and to changes in quantities of products and
delivery schedules in order to reflect changes in customers’ requirements and manufacturing availability. In
addition, actual shipments depend on the manufacturing capacity of suppliers and the availability of products
from such suppliers. As a result of the foregoing factors, Brocade does not believe that backlog at any given
time is a meaningful indicator of its ability to achieve any particular level of revenue or financial
performance.
 

Employees
 

As of October 27, 2007, Brocade had 2,368 employees. Brocade has not experienced any work stoppages
and considers its relations with employees to be good. Employees are currently located in our United States
headquarters in San Jose, California, our European headquarters in Geneva, Switzerland, our Asia Pacific
headquarters in Singapore and offices throughout North America, Europe and Asia Pacific.
 

Item 1A.  Risk Factors
 

1.  Brocade’s future revenue growth depends on its ability to introduce new products and services on a
timely basis and achieve market acceptance of these new products and services.

 

The market for data center networking solutions is characterized by rapidly changing technology and
accelerating product introduction cycles. Brocade’s future success depends largely upon its ability to address
the rapidly changing needs of its customers by developing and supplying high-quality, cost-effective
products, product enhancements and services on a timely basis and by keeping pace with technological
developments and emerging industry standards. This risk will become more pronounced as the data center
networking markets become more competitive and as demand for new and improved technologies increases.
 

Brocade has introduced a significant number of new products in recent history, including products across
its family of SAN infrastructure solutions, which accounts for a substantial portion of Brocade’s revenues.
For example, in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2007 Brocade announced its new Data Center Fabric
architecture and plans to provide a wide range of new solutions, technologies and partnerships over the
following six months, including new product offerings based on 8 Gigabit per second, or Gbit, technology
solutions. Other recent product introductions in the SAN infrastructure market include the Brocade 5000,
Brocade’s first interoperable platform with McDATA’s classic director and switch products.
 

Brocade must achieve widespread market acceptance of Brocade’s new products and service offerings in
order to realize the benefits of Brocade’s investments. The rate of market adoption is also critical. The success
of Brocade’s product and service offerings depends on numerous factors, including its ability to:
 

 • properly define the new products and services;
 

 • timely develop and introduce the new products and services;
 

 • differentiate Brocade’s new products and services from its competitors’ technology and product
offerings;

 

 • address the complexities of interoperability of Brocade’s products with its OEM partners’ server and
storage products and its competitors’ products; and

 

 • maintain product quality and reliability.
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Various factors impacting market acceptance are outside of Brocade’s control, including the availability
and price of competing products and alternative technologies; the cost of certain product subcomponents,
which could reduce Brocade’s gross margins; product qualification requirements by Brocade’s OEM partners,
which can cause delays in the market acceptance; and the ability of its OEM partners to successfully
distribute, support and provide training for its products. If Brocade is not able to successfully develop and
market new and enhanced products and services on a timely basis, its business and results of operations will
be harmed.
 

2.  Brocade is currently expanding its product and service offerings in new and adjacent markets and
Brocade’s operating results will suffer if these initiatives are not successful.

 

Brocade has made a series of investments and plans to continue to invest, in offerings focused on new
markets that are adjacent or related to Brocade’s traditional market, including new and emerging markets. For
instance, Brocade has recently made a series of introductions in the emerging File Area Network (FAN)
market with several enhancements to existing products in its family of file data management solutions which
includes Brocade StorageX and Brocade File Lifecycle Manager, or FLM. Brocade has also recently
announced new host bus adapter (HBA) product offerings in the Server Connectivity market. In addition,
Brocade has added multiple new professional service offerings to its solution portfolio.
 

Part of Brocade’s growth strategy is to derive competitive advantage and drive incremental revenue
growth through such investments. As a result, Brocade believes these new markets could substantially
increase its total available market opportunities. However, Brocade cannot be certain that it has accurately
identified and estimated these market opportunities. Moreover, Brocade cannot assure you that its new
strategic offerings will achieve market acceptance, or that Brocade will realize the full benefits from the
substantial investments it has made and plans to continue to make in them. Brocade may also have only
limited experience in these new markets given that such markets are adjacent or parallel to Brocade’s core
market. As a result, Brocade may not be able to successfully penetrate or realize anticipated revenue from
these new potential market opportunities. Brocade also faces greater challenges in accurately forecasting its
revenue and margins with respect to these market opportunities.
 

Developing new offerings also requires significant, upfront, investments that may not result in revenue
for an extended period of time, if at all. Particularly as Brocade seeks to diversify its product and service
offerings, Brocade expects to incur significant costs and expenses for product development, sales, marketing
and customer services, most of which are fixed in the short-term or incurred in advance of receipt of
corresponding revenue. In addition, these investments have caused and will likely continue to result in, higher
operating expenses and if they are not successful, Brocade’s operating income and operating margin will
deteriorate. These new offerings may also involve cost and revenue structures that are different from those
experienced in Brocade’s historical business, which could negatively impact Brocade’s operating results.
 

Because these new offerings may address different market needs than those it has historically addressed,
Brocade may face a number of additional challenges, such as:
 

 • developing new customer relationships both with new and existing customers;
 

 • expanding Brocade’s relationships with its existing OEM partners and end-users;
 

 • managing different sales cycles;
 

 • hiring qualified personnel with appropriate skill sets on a timely basis; and
 

 • establishing effective distribution channels and alternative routes to market.
 

Brocade’s new product and service offerings also may contain some features that are currently offered by
Brocade’s OEM partners, which could cause conflicts with partners on whom Brocade relies to bring its
current products to customers and thus negatively impact Brocade’s relationship with such partners.
 

3.  Increased market competition may lead to reduced sales, margins, profits and market share.
 

The data center networking markets continue to be very competitive as new products, services and
technologies are introduced by existing competitors and as new competitors enter these markets. Increased
competition in
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the past has resulted in greater pricing pressure and reduced sales, margins, profits and market share. For
example, Brocade expects to experience increased competition in future periods as other companies gain
broader market acceptance with recently released 4 Gbit products that are intended to compete with Brocade’s
4 Gbit products. Moreover, new competitive products could be based on existing technologies or new
technologies that may or may not be compatible with Brocade’s storage network technology and new data
center architecture. While new technologies such as Fibre Channel over Ethernet (“FCoE”) and non-Fibre
Channel based emerging products utilizing Gigabit Ethernet, 10 Gigabit Ethernet, InfiniBand, or Internet
Small Computer System Interface (“iSCSI”), represent future opportunities for further establishing or
expanding Brocade’s market presence, they also could be disruptive to Brocade’s business if Brocade is not
able to develop products that compete effectively.
 

In addition to competing technology solutions, Brocade faces significant competition from providers of
Fibre Channel switching products for interconnecting servers and storage. These principle competitors
include Cisco Systems and QLogic Corporation. Brocade also faces other competitors in markets adjacent to
the SAN market, such as Cisco and F5 Networks in the FAN market and QLogic and Emulex in the Server
Connectivity market. In addition, Brocade’s OEM partners, who also have relationships with some of
Brocade’s current competitors, could become new competitors by developing and introducing products that
compete with Brocade’s product offerings, by choosing to sell Brocade’s competitors’ products instead of
Brocade’s products, or by offering preferred pricing or promotions on Brocade’s competitors’ products.
Competitive pressure will likely intensify as Brocade’s industry experiences further consolidation in
connection with acquisitions by Brocade, its competitors and its OEM partners.
 

Some of Brocade’s competitors have longer operating histories and significantly greater human, financial
and capital resources than Brocade does. Particularly as Brocade enters new adjacent markets, Brocade may
face competitors with well-established market share and customer relationships. Brocade’s competitors could
adopt more aggressive pricing policies than Brocade. Brocade believes that competition based on price may
become more aggressive than it has traditionally experienced. Brocade’s competitors could also devote
greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of their products than Brocade may be able to
support and, as a result, be able to respond more quickly to changes in customer or market requirements.
Brocade’s failure to successfully compete in the market would harm Brocade’s business and financial results.
 

Brocade’s competitors may also put pressure on Brocade’s distribution model of selling products to
customers through OEM solution providers by focusing a large number of sales personnel on end-user
customers or by entering into strategic partnerships. For example, one of Brocade’s competitors has formed a
strategic partnership with a provider of network storage systems, which includes an agreement whereby
Brocade’s competitor resells the storage systems of its partner in exchange for sales by the partner of
Brocade’s competitor’s products. Such strategic partnerships, if successful, may influence Brocade to change
Brocade’s traditional distribution model.
 

4.  Brocade’s revenues will be affected by changes in domestic and international information technology
spending and overall demand for data center solutions.

 

In the past, unfavorable or uncertain economic conditions and reduced global information technology
spending rates have adversely affected Brocade’s operating results. For example, in the latter half of fiscal
2007 the SAN market experienced cautious enterprise spending in North America. Brocade is unable to
predict changes in general economic conditions and when information technology spending rates will be
affected. If there are future reductions in either domestic or international information technology spending
rates, or if information technology spending rates do not improve, Brocade’s revenues, operating results and
financial condition may be adversely affected.
 

Even if information technology spending rates increase, Brocade cannot be certain that the market for
storage network and data center networking solutions will be positively impacted. Brocade’s storage
networking products are sold as part of storage systems and subsystems. As a result, the demand for
Brocade’s storage networking products has historically been affected by changes in storage requirements
associated with growth related to new applications and an increase in transaction levels. Although in the past
Brocade has experienced growth as enterprise-class customers have adopted storage area network technology,
demand for data center products in the enterprise-class sector could be adversely affected if the overall
economy weakens or experiences greater uncertainty, or if larger businesses were to decide to limit new
equipment purchases. If information technology
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spending levels are restricted and new products improve Brocade’s customers’ ability to utilize their existing
data center infrastructure, the demand for data center solutions may decline. If this occurs, Brocade’s business
and financial results will be harmed.
 

5.  Brocade depends on OEM partners for a majority of Brocade’s revenues and the loss of any of these
OEM partners or a decrease in their purchases could significantly reduce Brocade’s revenues and
negatively affect Brocade’s financial results.

 

Brocade depends on recurring purchases from a limited number of large OEM partners for the majority of
its revenue. As a result, these large OEM partners have a significant influence on Brocade’s quarterly and
annual financial results. For fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, the same three customers each represented ten
percent or more of Brocade’s total revenues for a combined total of 68%, 73% and 71%, respectively.
Brocade’s agreements with its OEM partners are typically cancelable, non-exclusive, have no minimum
purchase requirements and have no specific timing requirements for purchases. Brocade’s OEM partners
could also elect to reduce, or rebalance, the amount they purchase from Brocade and increase the amount
purchased from Brocade’s competitors. Brocade anticipates that its revenues and operating results will
continue to depend on sales to a relatively small number of OEM partners. The loss of any one significant
OEM partner, or a decrease in the level of sales to any one significant OEM partner, or unsuccessful quarterly
negotiation on key terms, conditions or timing of purchase orders placed during a quarter, would likely cause
serious harm to Brocade’s business and financial results.
 

In addition, some of Brocade’s OEM partners purchase Brocade’s products for their inventories in
anticipation of customer demand. These OEM partners make decisions to purchase inventory based on a
variety of factors, including their product qualification cycles and their expectations of end customer demand,
which may be affected by seasonality and their internal supply management objectives. Others require that
Brocade maintain inventories of Brocade’s products in hubs adjacent to their manufacturing facilities and
purchase Brocade’s products only as necessary to fulfill immediate customer demand. If more of Brocade’s
OEM partners transition to a hub model, form partnerships, alliances or agreements with other companies that
divert business away from Brocade; or otherwise change their business practices, their ordering patterns may
become less predictable. Consequently, changes in ordering patterns may affect both the timing and volatility
of Brocade’s reported revenues. The timing of sales to Brocade’s OEM partners and consequently the timing
and volatility of Brocade’s reported revenues, may be further affected by the product introduction schedules
of Brocade’s OEM partners.
 

Brocade’s OEM partners evaluate and qualify Brocade’s products for a limited time period before they
begin to market and sell them. Assisting Brocade’s OEM partners through the evaluation process requires
significant sales, marketing and engineering management efforts on Brocade’s part, particularly if Brocade’s
products are being qualified with multiple distribution partners at the same time. In addition, once Brocade’s
products have been qualified, its customer agreements have no minimum purchase commitments. Brocade
may not be able to effectively maintain or expand its distribution channels, manage distribution relationships
successfully, or market its products through distribution partners. Brocade must continually assess, anticipate
and respond to the needs of its distribution partners and their customers and ensure that its products integrate
with their solutions. Brocade’s failure to successfully manage its distribution relationships or the failure of its
distribution partners to sell Brocade’s products could reduce Brocade’s revenues significantly. In addition,
Brocade’s ability to respond to the needs of its distribution partners in the future may depend on third parties
producing complementary products and applications for Brocade’s products. If Brocade fails to respond
successfully to the needs of these groups, its business and financial results could be harmed.
 

6.  Brocade’s failure to successfully manage the transition between its new products and its older products
may adversely affect Brocade’s financial results.

 

As Brocade introduces new or enhanced products, Brocade must successfully manage the transition from
older products to minimize disruption in customers’ ordering patterns, avoid excessive levels of older product
inventories and provide sufficient supplies of new products to meet customer demands. For example,
Brocade’s introduction of 4 Gigabit per second, or Gbit, technology solutions that replaced many of
Brocade’s 2 Gbit products contributed to a quarterly drop in revenue in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005
and write-downs of $3.4 million and $1.8 million for excess and obsolete inventory during the third and
fourth quarters of fiscal year 2005, respectively. When
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Brocade introduces new or enhanced products, such as new products based on 8 Gbit technology anticipated
for fiscal 2008, Brocade faces numerous risks relating to product transitions, including the inability to
accurately forecast demand, address new or higher product cost structures and manage different sales and
support requirements due to the type or complexity of the new products. In addition, any customer uncertainty
regarding the timeline for rolling out new products or Brocade’s plans for future support of existing products,
may negatively impact customer purchase decisions.
 

7.  Failure to manage expansion effectively could seriously harm our business, financial condition and
prospects.

 

We continue to increase the scope of our operations domestically and internationally as a result of our
expanded product and service offerings and acquisitions of other companies or businesses. Our ability to
successfully implement our business plan, develop and offer products and manage expansion in a rapidly
evolving market requires a comprehensive and effective planning and management process. Moreover, our
growth in business and relationships with customers and other third parties has placed and will continue to
place, a significant strain on management systems, resources, intercompany communications and
coordination. Failure to maintain and to continue to improve upon our operational, managerial and financial
controls, reporting systems, processes and procedures and/or our failure to continue to expand, train and
manage our work force worldwide, could seriously harm our business and financial results.
 

8.  The failure to accurately forecast demand for Brocade’s products or the failure to successfully manage
the production of Brocade’s products could negatively affect the supply of key components for
Brocade’s products and Brocade’s ability to manufacture and sell Brocade’s products.

 

Brocade provides product forecasts to its contract manufacturers and places purchase orders with them in
advance of the scheduled delivery of products to Brocade’s customers. Moreover, in preparing sales and
demand forecasts, Brocade relies largely on input from its OEM partners. Therefore, if Brocade or its OEM
partners are unable to accurately forecast demand, or if Brocade fails to effectively communicate with its
distribution partners about end-user demand or other time-sensitive information, sales and demand forecasts
may not reflect the most accurate, up-to-date information. If these forecasts are inaccurate, Brocade may be
unable to obtain adequate manufacturing capacity from its contract manufacturers to meet customers’ delivery
requirements, or Brocade may accumulate excess inventories. Furthermore, Brocade may not be able to
identify forecast discrepancies until late in its fiscal quarter. Consequently, Brocade may not be able to make
adjustments to its business model. If Brocade is unable to obtain adequate manufacturing capacity from its
contract manufacturers, if Brocade accumulates excess inventories, or if Brocade is unable to make necessary
adjustments to Brocade’s business model, revenue may be delayed or even lost to Brocade’s competitors and
Brocade’s business and financial results may be harmed. In addition, Brocade may experience higher fixed
costs as it expands its contract manufacturer capabilities and be less able to react quickly if demand suddenly
decreases.
 

Brocade’s ability to accurately forecast demand also may become increasingly more difficult as Brocade
enters new or adjacent markets, begins phasing out certain products, or in the event of acquisitions of other
companies or businesses. Forecasting demand for new or adjacent markets, particularly where the markets are
not yet well-established, can be highly speculative and uncertain. For products that are nearing end of life or
being replaced by new versions, it may be difficult to forecast how quickly to ramp down production on the
older products and ramp up production on the new products. Acquired companies or businesses may offer less
visibility into demand than Brocade typically has experienced, may cause customer uncertainty regarding
purchasing decisions and may use different measures to evaluate demand that are less familiar to Brocade and
thus more difficult to accurately predict.
 

In addition, although the purchase orders placed with Brocade’s contract manufacturer are cancelable, in
certain circumstances Brocade could be required to purchase certain unused material not returnable, usable
by, or sold to other customers if Brocade cancels any of Brocade’s orders. This purchase commitment
exposure is particularly high in periods of new product introductions and product transitions. If Brocade is
required to purchase unused material from Brocade’s contract manufacturer, Brocade would incur
unanticipated expenses and Brocade’s business and financial results could be negatively affected.
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9.  The prices of Brocade’s products have declined in the past and Brocade expects the price of Brocade’s
products to continue to decline, which could reduce Brocade’s revenues, gross margins and
profitability.

 

The average selling price for Brocade’s products has declined in the past and Brocade expects it to
continue to decline in the future as a result of changes in product mix, competitive pricing pressure, increased
sales discounts, new product introductions by Brocade or Brocade’s competitors, the entrance of new
competitors or other factors. For example, while the pricing environment for the past several quarters has
been more favorable than historical levels, price declines may increase as competitors ramp up product
releases that compete with Brocade’s 4 Gbit products. If Brocade is unable to offset any negative impact that
changes in product mix, competitive pricing pressures, increased sales discounts, enhanced marketing
programs, new product introductions by Brocade or Brocade’s competitors, or other factors may have on it by
increasing the volume of products shipped or reducing product manufacturing cost, Brocade’s total revenues
and gross margins will be negatively impacted.
 

In addition, to maintain Brocade’s gross margins Brocade must maintain or increase the number of
products shipped, develop and introduce new products and product enhancements and continue to reduce the
manufacturing cost of Brocade’s products. While Brocade has successfully reduced the cost of manufacturing
Brocade’s products in the past, Brocade may not be able to continue to reduce cost of production at historical
rates. Moreover, most of Brocade’s expenses are fixed in the short-term or incurred in advance of receipt of
corresponding revenue. As a result, Brocade may not be able to decrease its spending quickly enough or in
sufficient amounts to offset any unexpected shortfall in revenues. If this occurs, Brocade could incur losses,
Brocade’s operating results and gross margins could be below expectations.
 

10.  Brocade is dependent on sole source and limited source suppliers for certain key components, the loss
of which may significantly impact results of operations.

 

Brocade purchases certain key components used in the manufacture of its products from single or limited
sources. Brocade purchases specific ASICs from a single source and Brocade purchases microprocessors,
certain connectors, small form-factor pluggable transceivers, or SFP’s, logic chips, power supplies and
programmable logic devices from limited sources. Brocade also licenses certain third-party software that is
incorporated into Brocade’s operating system software and other software products. If Brocade is unable to
obtain these and other components when required or Brocade experiences significant component defects,
Brocade may not be able to deliver Brocade’s products to Brocade’s customers in a timely manner. As a
result, Brocade’s business and financial results could be harmed.
 

In addition, the loss of any of Brocade’s major third party contract manufacturers could significantly
impact Brocade’s ability to produce its products for an indefinite period of time. Qualifying a new contract
manufacturer and commencing volume production is a lengthy and expensive process. If Brocade is required
to change its contract manufacturer or if its contract manufacturer experiences delays, disruptions, capacity
constraints, component parts shortages or quality control problems in its manufacturing operations, shipment
of Brocade’s products to Brocade’s customers could be delayed resulting in loss of revenues and Brocade’s
competitive position and relationship with customers could be harmed.
 

11.  Brocade has been named as a party to several class action and derivative action lawsuits arising from
Brocade’s internal reviews and related restatements of Brocade’s financial statements during 2005,
and Brocade may be named in additional litigation, all of which could require significant
management time and attention and result in significant additional legal expenses as well as result in
an unfavorable resolution which would likely have a material adverse effect on Brocade’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

 

Brocade is subject to a number of lawsuits arising from Brocade’s internal reviews and the related
restatements of Brocade’s financial statements in 2005, some filed on behalf of a class of Brocade’s
stockholders, against Brocade and certain of its current and former officers and directors claiming violations
of securities laws and others purportedly filed on behalf of Brocade against certain of Brocade’s current and
former officers and directors, and Brocade may become the subject of additional private actions. The expense
of defending and resolving such
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litigation is significant. The amount of time to resolve these lawsuits is unpredictable and defending Brocade
may divert management’s attention from the day-to-day operations of Brocade’s business, which could
adversely affect Brocade’s business. In addition, Brocade believes that it is probable that any settlement
between the parties in the consolidated class action pending in federal court or unfavorable resolution of such
litigation will result in a payment to the class in an amount that will have a material adverse effect on
Brocade’s business, results of operations and/or cash flows. Brocade believes it is probable that the ultimate
resolution of the consolidated class action lawsuit will result in a payment to the class in an amount that is
material to the Company; however, such amount is not yet reasonably estimable. Finally, Brocade has certain
indemnification obligations to its former officers and directors that are also named in these actions for, among
other things, the advancement of certain legal expenses and the indemnification of certain judgments and
settlements.
 

12.  Certain former employees of Brocade are subject to ongoing actions by the SEC, the Department of
Justice, or DOJ, and others, which have required, and may continue to require, a significant amount
of legal expense pursuant to indemnification obligations of Brocade, which could adversely affect
Brocade’s results of operations and cash flows.

 

Although the Company reached a settlement with the SEC regarding the previously-disclosed SEC
investigation of the Company’s historical stock option granting practices in May 2007, the SEC, DOJ and
various other third parties are continuing to investigate and pursue actions against certain former executive
officers of Brocade. While those actions are targeted against certain former executive officers and not
Brocade, Brocade has certain indemnification obligations to such former officers for, among other things, the
advancement of legal expenses incurred in connection with such actions, which have required, and may
continue to require, a significant amount of expense to Brocade. Whether Brocade may be entitled to recoup
all or a portion of the expenses advanced by Brocade on behalf of such former officers or recover for any
losses resulting from certain actions of such former officers is complex and can be affected by, among other
things, various state laws, the interpretation of indemnification agreements and the collectability of any such
amounts.
 

13.  Brocade may not realize the anticipated benefits of past or future acquisitions and strategic
investments and integration of acquired companies or technologies may negatively impact Brocade’s
business.

 

Brocade has in the past acquired, or made strategic investments, in other companies, products or
technologies and Brocade expects to make additional acquisitions and strategic investments in the future.
Examples of recent acquisitions include McDATA Corporation in January 2007 and NuView, Inc. in March
2006. Brocade may not realize the anticipated benefits of these or any other acquisitions or strategic
investments, which involve numerous risks, including:
 

 • difficulties in successfully integrating the acquired businesses;
 

 • revenue attrition in excess of anticipated levels if existing customers alter or reduce their historical
buying patterns;

 

 • unanticipated costs, litigation and other contingent liabilities;
 

 • diversion of management’s attention from Brocade’s daily operations and business;
 

 • adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and customers;
 

 • risks associated with entering into markets in which Brocade has limited, or no prior, experience;
 

 • potential loss of key employees;
 

 • inability to retain key customers, distributors, vendors and other business partners of the acquired
business;

 

 • failure to successfully manage additional remote locations, including the additional infrastructure and
resources necessary to support and integrate such locations;

 

 • assumption of debt and contingent liabilities;
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 • additional costs such as increased costs of manufacturing and service costs; costs associated with
excess or obsolete inventory; costs of employee redeployment; relocation and retention, including
salary increases or bonuses; accelerated amortization of deferred equity compensation and severance
payments; reorganization or closure of facilities; and taxes; advisor and professional fees and
termination of contracts that provide redundant or conflicting services;

 

 • incurrence of significant exit charges if products acquired in business combinations are unsuccessful;
 

 • incurrence of acquisition-related costs or amortization costs for acquired intangible assets that could
impact Brocade’s operating results;

 

 • potential write-down of goodwill and/or acquired intangible assets, which are subject to impairment
testing on a regular basis, and could significantly impact Brocade’s operating results; and

 

 • dilution of the percentage of Brocade’s stockholders to the extent equity is used as consideration or
option plans are assumed.

 

If Brocade is not able to successfully integrate businesses, products, technologies or personnel that Brocade
acquires, or to realize expected benefits of Brocade’s acquisitions or strategic investments, Brocade’s
business and financial results would be adversely affected.
 

14.  Brocade’s business is subject to cyclical fluctuations and uneven sales patterns, which makes
predicting results of operations difficult.

 

Many of Brocade’s OEM partners experience uneven sales patterns in their businesses due to the cyclical
nature of information technology spending. For example, some of Brocade’s partners close a disproportionate
percentage of their sales transactions in the last month, weeks and days of each fiscal quarter, and other
partners experience spikes in sales during the fourth calendar quarter of each year. Because the majority of
Brocade’s sales are derived from a small number of OEM partners, when they experience seasonality,
Brocade typically experiences similar seasonality. Historically, Brocade’s first and fourth fiscal quarters are
seasonally stronger quarters than its second and third fiscal quarters. In addition, Brocade has experienced
quarters where uneven sales patterns of Brocade’s OEM partners have resulted in a significant portion of
Brocade’s revenue occurring in the last month of Brocade’s fiscal quarter. This exposes Brocade to additional
inventory risk as it has to order products in anticipation of expected future orders and additional sales risk if
Brocade is unable to fulfill unanticipated demand. Brocade is not able to predict the degree to which the
seasonality and uneven sales patterns of Brocade’s OEM partners or other customers will affect Brocade’s
business in the future particularly as Brocade releases new products.
 

15.  Brocade’s quarterly and annual revenues and operating results may fluctuate in future periods due to
a number of factors, which could adversely affect the trading price of Brocade’s stock.

 

Brocade’s quarterly and annual revenues and operating results may vary significantly in the future due to
a number of factors, any of which may cause Brocade’s stock price to fluctuate. Factors that may affect the
predictability of Brocade’s annual and quarterly results include, but are not limited to, the following:
 

 • announcements, introductions and transitions of new products by Brocade and its competitors or its
OEM partners;

 

 • the timing of customer orders, product qualifications and product introductions of Brocade’s OEM
partners;

 

 • seasonal fluctuations;
 

 • long and complex sales cycles;
 

 • changes, disruptions or downturns in general economic conditions, particularly in the information
technology industry;

 

 • declines in average selling prices for Brocade’s products as a result of competitive pricing pressures or
new product introductions by Brocade or its competitors;
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 • the emergence of new competitors and new technologies in the storage network and data management
markets;

 

 • deferrals of customer orders in anticipation of new products, services, or product enhancements
introduced by Brocade or its competitors;

 

 • Brocade’s ability to timely produce products that comply with new environmental restrictions or
related requirements of its OEM customers;

 

 • Brocade’s ability to obtain sufficient supplies of sole- or limited-sourced components, including
ASICs, microprocessors, certain connectors, certain logic chips and programmable logic devices;

 

 • increases in prices of components used in the manufacture of Brocade’s products;
 

 • Brocade’s ability to attain and maintain production volumes and quality levels;
 

 • variations in the mix of Brocade’s products sold and the mix of distribution channels and geographies
through which they are sold;

 

 • pending or threatened litigation;
 

 • stock-based compensation expense that is affected by Brocade’s stock price;
 

 • new legislation and regulatory developments; and
 

 • other risk factors detailed in this section entitled “Risks Related to Brocade’s Business.”
 

Accordingly, the results of any prior periods should not be relied upon as an indication of future
performance. Brocade cannot assure you that in some future quarter Brocade’s revenues or operating results
will not be below Brocade’s projections or the expectations of stock market analysts or investors, which could
cause Brocade’s stock price to decline.
 

16.  Undetected software or hardware errors could increase Brocade’s costs, reduce Brocade’s revenues
and delay market acceptance of Brocade’s products.

 

Networking products frequently contain undetected software or hardware errors, or bugs, when first
introduced or as new versions are released. Brocade’s products are becoming increasingly complex and,
particularly as Brocade continues to expand Brocade’s product portfolio to include software-centric products,
including software licensed from third parties, errors may be found from time to time in Brocade’s products.
In addition, through its acquisitions, Brocade has assumed, and may in the future assume, products previously
developed by an acquired company that may not have been through the same product development, testing
and quality control processes typically used for products developed internally by Brocade that have known or
undetected errors. Some types of errors also may not be detected until the product is installed in a heavy
production or user environment. In addition, Brocade’s products are often combined with other products,
including software, from other vendors. As a result, when problems occur, it may be difficult to identify the
source of the problem. These problems may cause Brocade to incur significant warranty and repair costs,
divert the attention of engineering personnel from product development efforts and cause significant customer
relations problems. Moreover, the occurrence of hardware and software errors, whether caused by another
vendor’s storage network and data management products or Brocade’s, could delay market acceptance of
Brocade’s new products.
 

17.  If Brocade loses key personnel or is unable to hire additional qualified personnel, Brocade’s business
may be harmed.

 

Brocade’s success depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of key management,
engineering, sales and other personnel, many of whom would be difficult to replace. Brocade believes its
future success will also depend, in large part, upon Brocade’s ability to attract and retain highly skilled
managerial, engineering, sales and other personnel, and on the ability of management to operate effectively,
both individually and as a group, in geographically disparate locations. There are only a limited number of
qualified personnel in the applicable market and competition for such employees is fierce. Brocade has
experienced difficulty in hiring
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qualified personnel in areas such as application specific integrated circuits, software, system and test, sales,
marketing, service, key management and customer support. In addition, Brocade’s past reductions in force
could potentially make attracting and retaining qualified employees more difficult in the future. Brocade’s
ability to hire qualified personnel may also be negatively impacted by Brocade’s lawsuits relating to its
historical stock option granting practices and related media coverage, as well as Brocade’s fluctuating stock
price. Brocade’s ability to retain qualified personnel may also be affected by future acquisitions, which can
cause uncertainty and loss of key personnel. The loss of the services of any of Brocade’s key employees, the
inability to attract or retain qualified personnel in the future, or delays in hiring required personnel,
particularly engineers and sales personnel, could delay the development and introduction of, and negatively
affect Brocade’s ability to sell its products or services.
 

In addition, companies in the computer storage and server industry whose employees accept positions
with competitors may claim that their competitors have engaged in unfair hiring practices or that there will be
inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information. Brocade may be subject to such claims in
the future as Brocade seeks to hire additional qualified personnel. Such claims could result in material
litigation. As a result, Brocade could incur substantial costs in defending against these claims, regardless of
their merits, and be subject to additional restrictions if any such litigation is resolved against Brocade.
 

18.  Brocade is subject to environmental regulations that could have a material adverse effect on
Brocade’s business.

 

Brocade is subject to various environmental and other regulations governing product safety, materials
usage, packaging and other environmental impacts in the various countries where Brocade’s products are
sold. For example, many of Brocade’s products are subject to laws and regulations that restrict the use of lead,
mercury, hexavalent chromium, cadmium and other substances, and require producers of electrical and
electronic equipment to assume responsibility for collecting, treating, recycling and disposing of Brocade’s
products when they have reached the end of their useful life. For example, in Europe, substance restrictions
apply to products sold, and certain of Brocade’s OEM partners require compliance with these or more
stringent requirements. In addition, recycling, labeling, financing and related requirements apply to products
Brocade sells in Europe. China has also enacted similar legislation. Despite Brocade’s efforts to ensure that
Brocade’s products comply with new and emerging requirements, Brocade cannot provide absolute assurance
that its products will, in all cases, comply with such requirements. If Brocade’s products do not comply with
the substance restrictions under local environmental laws, Brocade could become subject to fines, civil or
criminal sanctions and contract damage claims. In addition, Brocade could be prohibited from shipping
non-compliant products into one or more jurisdictions and required to recall and replace any non-compliant
products already shipped, which would disrupt Brocade’s ability to ship products and result in reduced
revenue, increased obsolete or excess inventories and harm to Brocade’s business and customer relationships.
Brocade’s suppliers may also fail to provide it with compliant materials, parts and components despite
Brocade’s requirement to them to provide compliant materials, parts and components, which could impact
Brocade’s ability to timely produce compliant products and, accordingly could disrupt Brocade’s business.
 

19.  Brocade’s future operating expenses may be adversely affected by changes in Brocade’s stock price.
 

A portion of Brocade’s outstanding stock options and restricted stock units are subject to variable
accounting. Under variable accounting, Brocade is required to re-measure the value of certain options and
other equity awards, and the corresponding compensation expense, at the end of each reporting period until
the option is exercised, cancelled or expires unexercised, or the RSU vests or is cancelled. As a result, the
stock-based compensation expense Brocade recognizes in any given period can vary substantially due to
changes in the market value of Brocade’s common stock. Volatility associated with stock price movements
has resulted in compensation benefits when Brocade’s stock price has declined and compensation expense
when Brocade’s stock price has increased. For example, the market value of Brocade’s common stock at the
end of the third and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2006 and the first quarter of 2007 was $6.17, $8.43 and
$8.30 per share, respectively. Accordingly, Brocade recorded compensation expense (benefit) in the fourth
quarter of fiscal year 2006 and the first quarter of fiscal year 2007 of approximately $2.0 million and
$(0.1) million, respectively. Brocade is unable to predict the future market value of
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Brocade’s common stock and therefore is unable to predict the compensation expense or benefit that Brocade
will record in future periods.
 

20.  Brocade has extensive international operations, which subjects it to additional business risks.
 

A significant portion of Brocade’s sales occur in international jurisdictions and Brocade’s contract
manufacturer has significant operations in China. Brocade also plans to continue to expand its international
operations and sales activities. Expansion of international operations will involve inherent risks that Brocade
may not be able to control, including:
 

 • supporting multiple languages;
 

 • recruiting sales and technical support personnel with the skills to design, manufacture, sell and support
Brocade’s products;

 

 • increased complexity and costs of managing international operations;
 

 • increased exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;
 

 • commercial laws and business practices that favor local competition;
 

 • multiple, potentially conflicting and changing governmental laws, regulations and practices, including
differing export, import, tax, labor, anti-bribery and employment laws;

 

 • longer sales cycles and manufacturing lead times;
 

 • difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;
 

 • reduced or limited protection of intellectual property rights;
 

 • managing a development team in geographically disparate locations, including China and India; and
 

 • more complicated logistics and distribution arrangements.
 

In addition, international political instability may halt or hinder Brocade’s ability to do business and may
increase Brocade’s costs. Various events, including the occurrence or threat of terrorist attacks, increased
national security measures in the United States and other countries, and military action and armed conflicts,
can suddenly increase international tensions. In addition, concerns about other international crises, such as
potential pandemics, may have an adverse effect on the world economy and could adversely affect Brocade’s
business operations or the operations of Brocade’s OEM partners, contract manufacturer and suppliers.
 

To date, no material amount of Brocade’s international revenues and costs of revenues have been
denominated in foreign currencies. As a result, an increase in the value of the United States dollar relative to
foreign currencies could make Brocade’s products more expensive and, thus, not competitively priced in
foreign markets. Additionally, a decrease in the value of the United States dollar relative to foreign currencies
could increase Brocade’s operating costs in foreign locations. In the future, a larger portion of Brocade’s
international revenues may be denominated in foreign currencies, which will subject Brocade to additional
risks associated with fluctuations in those foreign currencies.
 

21.  Brocade relies on licenses from third parties and the loss or inability to obtain any such license could
harm Brocade’s business.

 

Many of Brocade’s products are designed to include software or other intellectual property licensed from
third parties. While it may be necessary in the future to seek or renew licenses relating to various aspects of
Brocade’s products, Brocade believes that, based upon past experience and standard industry practice, such
licenses generally could be obtained on commercially reasonable terms. Nonetheless, there can be no
assurance that the necessary licenses would be available on acceptable terms, if at all. Brocade’s inability to
obtain certain licenses or other rights on favorable terms could have a material adverse effect on Brocade’s
business, operating results and financial condition. In addition, if Brocade fails to carefully manage the use of
“open source” software in Brocade’s products, Brocade may be required to license key portions of Brocade’s
products on a royalty free basis or expose key parts of source code.
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22.  Third-parties may bring infringement claims against Brocade, which could be time-consuming and
expensive to defend.

 

In recent years, there has been significant litigation in the United States involving patents and other
intellectual property rights. Brocade has in the past been involved in intellectual property-related disputes,
including lawsuits with Vixel Corporation and Raytheon Company and Brocade may be involved in such
disputes in the future, to protect Brocade’s intellectual property or as a result of an alleged infringement of the
intellectual property of others. Brocade may also inherit intellectual property-related disputes from
acquisitions of other companies, products or technologies made by Brocade. Brocade also may be subject to
indemnification obligations with respect to infringement of third party intellectual property rights pursuant to
Brocade’s agreements with OEM partners or customers. These claims and any resulting lawsuit could subject
Brocade to significant liability for damages and invalidation of proprietary rights. Any such lawsuits, even if
ultimately resolved in Brocade’s favor, would likely be time-consuming and expensive to resolve and would
divert management’s time and attention. Any potential intellectual property dispute also could force Brocade
to do one or more of the following:
 

 • stop selling, incorporating or using products or services that use the challenged intellectual property;
 

 • obtain from the owner of the infringed intellectual property a license to the relevant intellectual
property, which may require Brocade to pay royalty or license fees, or to license Brocade’s intellectual
property to such owner and which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at
all; and

 

 • redesign those products or services that use technology that is the subject of an infringement claim.
 

If Brocade is forced to take any of the foregoing actions, Brocade’s business and results of operations could
be materially harmed.
 

23.  Business interruptions could adversely affect Brocade’s business.
 

Brocade’s operations and the operations of its suppliers, contract manufacturer and customers are
vulnerable to interruption by fire, earthquake, hurricanes, power loss, telecommunications failure and other
events beyond Brocade’s control. For example, a substantial portion of Brocade’s facilities, including its
corporate headquarters, is located near major earthquake faults. In the event of a major earthquake, Brocade
could experience business interruptions, destruction of facilities and loss of life. Brocade does not carry
earthquake insurance and has not set aside funds or reserves to cover such potential earthquake-related losses.
In addition, Brocade’s contract manufacturer has a major facility located in an area that is subject to
hurricanes. In the event that a material business interruption occurs that affects Brocade or its suppliers,
contract manufacturer or customers, shipments could be delayed and Brocade’s business and financial results
could be harmed.
 

24.  Brocade’s business is subject to increasingly complex corporate governance, public disclosure,
accounting and tax requirements that have increased both its costs and the risk of noncompliance.

 

Brocade is subject to rules and regulations of federal and state government as well as the stock exchange
on which Brocade’s common stock is listed. These entities, including the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board, (“PCAOB”), the SEC, the Internal Revenue Service and Nasdaq, have issued a significant
number of new and increasingly complex requirements and regulations over the course of the last several
years and continue to develop additional regulations and requirements in response to laws enacted by
Congress, most notably the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Brocade’s efforts to comply with these requirements
have resulted in, and are likely to continue to result in, increased expenses and a diversion of management
time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities.
 

Brocade is subject to periodic audits or other reviews by such governmental agencies. For example, in
November 2005, Brocade was notified by the Internal Revenue Service that Brocade’s domestic federal
income tax return for the year ended October 25, 2003 was subject to audit. Additionally, in May 2006, the
Franchise Tax Board notified Brocade that its California income tax returns for the years ended October 25,
2003 and October 30, 2004 are subject to audit. The SEC also periodically reviews Brocade’s public company
filings. Any such examination or review frequently requires management’s time and diversion of internal
resources and, in the event of an unfavorable outcome, may result in additional liabilities or adjustments to
Brocade’s historical financial results.
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25.  Provisions in Brocade’s charter documents, customer agreements and Delaware law could prevent or
delay a change in control of Brocade, which could hinder stockholders’ ability to receive a premium
for Brocade’s stock.

 

Provisions of Brocade’s certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a
merger or mergers that a stockholder may consider favorable. These provisions include:
 

 • authorizing the issuance of preferred stock without stockholder approval;
 

 • providing for a classified board of directors with staggered, three-year terms;
 

 • prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors;
 

 • limiting the persons who may call special meetings of stockholders;
 

 • prohibiting stockholder actions by written consent; and
 

 • requiring super-majority voting to effect amendments to the foregoing provisions of Brocade’s
certificate of incorporation and bylaws.

 

Certain provisions of Delaware law also may discourage, delay, or prevent someone from acquiring or
merging with Brocade and Brocade’s agreements with certain of Brocade’s customers require that Brocade
give prior notice of a change of control and grant certain manufacturing rights following a change of control.
Brocade’s various anti-takeover provisions could prevent or delay a change in control of Brocade, which
could hinder stockholders’ ability to receive a premium for Brocade’s stock.
 

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments.
 

None.
 

Item 2.  Properties
 

Brocade’s principal administrative, sales, marketing, education, customer support and research &
development facilities are located in approximately 405,000 square feet in San Jose, California. Additional
research & development and administration facilities are located in approximately 278,000 square feet, in
aggregate, in Broomfield, Colorado and Plymouth, Minnesota. Approximately 321,000 square feet of such
space is leased and 362,000 square feet is owned property. Brocade’s noted leased properties have expirations
between April & August 2010. In addition to the noted facilities Brocade also leases sales, marketing and
administrative office space in various locations to serve our customers throughout the world.
 

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings
 

From time to time, claims are made against Brocade in the ordinary course of its business, which could
result in litigation. Claims and associated litigation are subject to inherent uncertainties and unfavorable
outcomes could occur, such as monetary damages, fines, penalties or injunctions prohibiting Brocade from
selling one or more products or engaging in other activities. The occurrence of an unfavorable outcome in any
specific period could have a material adverse affect on the Brocade’s results of operations for that period or
future periods.
 

On July 20, 2001, the first of a number of putative class actions for violations of the federal securities
laws was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against Brocade,
certain of its officers and directors, and certain of the underwriters for Brocade’s initial public offering of
securities. A consolidated amended class action captioned In Re Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, No. 01 Civ. 6613 was filed on April 19, 2002. The initial
complaint generally alleges that various underwriters engaged in improper and undisclosed activities related
to the allocation of shares in Brocade’s initial public offering and seeks unspecified damages for claims under
the Exchange Act on behalf of a purported class of purchasers of common stock from May 24, 1999 to
December 6, 2000. The lawsuit against Brocade is coordinated for pretrial proceedings with a number of other
pending litigations challenging underwriter practices in over 300 cases as In Re Initial Public Offering
Securities Litigation, 21 MC 92(SAS).
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Also part of these coordinated proceedings are actions against McDATA Corporation, certain of its
officers and directors and the underwriters for McDATA’s initial public offering of securities, No. 01 Civ.
6627, and Inrange Technologies Corporation (which was first acquired by CNT and subsequently acquired by
McDATA as part of the CNT acquisition), certain of its officers and directors and the underwriters for
Inrange’s initial public offering of securities, No. 01 Civ. 10800. The complaints in these actions asserted
claims under the Securities Act and Exchange Act. In October 2002, the individual defendants in the Brocade,
McDATA and Inrange actions were dismissed without prejudice from the action, pursuant to a tolling
agreement.
 

On February 19, 2003, the Court issued an Opinion and Order dismissing all of the plaintiffs’ claims
against Brocade and some but not all of the claims against McDATA and Inrange. In June 2004, a stipulation
of settlement and release of claims against the issuer defendants, including Brocade, McDATA and Inrange,
was submitted to the Court for approval. On August 31, 2005, the Court granted preliminary approval of the
settlement. In December 2006, the appellate Court overturned the certification of classes in the six test cases
that were selected by the underwriter defendants and plaintiffs in the coordinated proceeding. Neither
Brocade, McDATA, nor Inrange is a test case. On June 25, 2007, the Court entered an order terminating the
proposed settlement based upon a stipulation among the parties to the settlement. Plaintiffs have filed
amended master allegations and amended complaints in the six test cases, which the defendants in those cases
have moved to dismiss. It is uncertain whether there will be any revised or future settlement. If the litigation
proceeds, the Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to plaintiffs’ claims and intends to defend the
action vigorously.
 

Beginning on or about May 19, 2005, several securities class action complaints were filed against
Brocade and certain of its then current and former officers. These actions were filed in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of California on behalf of purchasers of Brocade’s stock from
February 21, 2001 to May 15, 2005. These lawsuits followed and relate to Brocade’s restatement of certain
financial results due to stock-based compensation accounting issues. On January 12, 2006, the Court
appointed a lead plaintiff and lead counsel. On April 14, 2006, the lead plaintiff filed a consolidated
complaint on behalf of purchasers of Brocade’s stock from May 18, 2000 to May 15, 2005. On November 3,
2006, the Court denied Brocade’s motion to dismiss the consolidated complaint and granted certain individual
defendants’ motions to dismiss the consolidated complaint with leave to amend. On January 2, 2007, the lead
plaintiffs filed an amended consolidated complaint on behalf of purchasers of Brocade’s stock from May 18,
2000 to May 15, 2005. The amended consolidated complaint names the Company and certain of its former
officers and directors and alleges, among other things, violations of sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange
Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. The amended consolidated complaint alleges, among other
things, that Brocade and the individual defendants made false or misleading public statements regarding
Brocade’s business and operations and seeks unspecified monetary damages and other relief against the
defendants. On January 29, 2007, Brocade filed its answer to the amended consolidated complaint. On
August 7, 2007, a federal jury convicted Brocade’s former Chief Executive Officer, Gregory Reyes, on ten
criminal counts related to the Company’s historical stock option practices. On August 27, 2007, the Court
denied certain individual defendants’ motion to dismiss the amended consolidated complaint. On October 12,
2007 the Court granted lead plaintiffs’ motion for class certification and certified a class in this action
consisting of all persons and entities who purchased or otherwise acquired the securities of Brocade between
May 18, 2000 to May 15, 2005, inclusive, and who were damaged thereby. The Court also partially granted
plaintiffs’ motion for partial summary judgment against Mr. Reyes, who is a defendant in this action,
prohibiting him from re-litigating in this class action the jury’s finding from Mr. Reyes’ criminal case that he
knowingly and willfully made material misrepresentations in Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
2001, 2002 and 2003. On December 5, 2007, a federal jury convicted Brocade’s former human resources
director, Stephanie Jensen, on two criminal counts related to the Company’s historical stock option practices.
(Ms. Jensen is not a defendant in the class action.) No trial date has been set for the class action. Brocade
believes it is probable that the ultimate resolution of this class action lawsuit will result in a payment to the
class in an amount that is material to the Company; however, such amount is not yet reasonably estimable.
 

Beginning on or about May 24, 2005, several derivative actions were also filed against certain of
Brocade’s current and former officers and directors. These actions were filed in the United States District
Court for the Northern District of California and in the California Superior Court in Santa Clara County. The
complaints allege, among other things, that certain of Brocade’s officers and directors breached their fiduciary
duties to Brocade by
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engaging in alleged wrongful conduct including conduct complained of in the securities litigation described
above. Brocade is named solely as a nominal defendant against whom the plaintiffs seek no monetary
recovery (other than the award of attorneys’ fees). The derivative actions pending in the District Court for the
Northern District of California were consolidated and the Court created a Lead Counsel structure. The
derivative plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint in the District Court for the Northern District of California
on October 7, 2005, and Brocade filed a motion to dismiss that action on October 27, 2005. On January 6,
2006, Brocade’s motion was granted and the consolidated complaint in the District Court for the Northern
District of California was dismissed with leave to amend. The parties to this action subsequently reached a
preliminary settlement, and on February 14, 2007, the Court entered an Order granting preliminary approval
of the settlement. On April 27, 2007 the Court refused to grant final approval of the settlement at that time
and set a further hearing on the settlement.
 

The derivative actions pending in the Superior Court in Santa Clara County were also consolidated. The
derivative plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint on September 19, 2005. Brocade filed a motion in the state
derivative action to stay that action in deference to the substantially identical consolidated derivative action
pending in the District Court for the Northern District of California, and on November 15, 2005, the state
Court stayed the action. In October 2006, the Court partially lifted the stay and granted plaintiffs leave to file
an amended complaint. On November 13, 2006, plaintiffs filed an amended complaint, and Brocade filed a
demurrer to the action on March 9, 2007 and, on September 4, 2007, a motion to dismiss due to plaintiffs’
lack of standing.
 

On October 23, 2007, a class action complaint was filed against Brocade and certain of its former officers
and current and former directors. This action was filed in the California Superior Court in Santa Clara County
on behalf of individuals who owned Brocade stock between February 21, 2001 and May 16, 2005. The
complaint generally alleges that Brocade and the individual defendants breached the duty of disclosure by
failing to disclose alleged wrongful conduct including conduct complained of in the securities litigation
described above and seeks unspecified monetary damages and other relief against the defendants. On
November 26, 2007, this action was removed from state court to the United States District Court for the
Northern District of California. On November 28, 2007, Brocade filed a motion seeking to have this action
deemed “related” to the consolidated federal securities class action described above. On December 3, 2007,
Brocade filed a motion to dismiss the action in its entirety on the ground that it is preempted by the Securities
Litigation Uniform Standards Act of 1998.
 

No liabilities have been accrued in Brocade’s Consolidated Financial Statements associated with these
matters as the amounts are not both probable and reasonably estimable, other than the $7.0 million estimated
settlement payment to the SEC in connection with Brocade’s historical stock option granting processes.
Brocade’s settlement with the SEC received final court approval on August 27, 2007 and the $7.0 million
settlement amount was released to the SEC.
 

Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
 

None.

 

PART II
 

Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

 

Our common stock has been quoted on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “BRCD”
since our initial public offering on May 24, 1999. Prior to this time, there was no public market for the stock.
See “Item 6 — Selected Financial Data” for the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock as
reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, for the periods indicated.
 

According to records of our transfer agent, we had 384,534,247 stockholders of record at December 13,
2007 and we believe there are a substantially greater number of beneficial holders. We did not pay dividends
in fiscal year 2005, fiscal year 2006 or fiscal year 2007. We currently expect to retain future earnings, if any,
for use in the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the
foreseeable future.
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The following table summarizes stock repurchase activity for three months ended October 27, 2007 (in
thousands, except per share amounts):
 
                 

        
Total Number

of   
Approximate

Dollar  

        
Shares

Purchased   
Value of Shares

that  

  
Total

Number      
as Part of
Publicly   May Yet be  

  of Shares   Average Price   Announced   Purchased Under  

  Purchased(1)  
Paid per

Share   Program(1)   the Program(2)  
 

July 29, 2007 — August 25, 2007   3  $ 6.97   2,835  $ 112,891 
August 26, 2007 — September 22, 2007   —  $ 7.12   1,530  $ 102,001 
September 23, 2007 — October 27, 2007   3  $ 8.73   2,238  $ 82,458 
                 

Total   6  $ 7.60   6,603  $ 82,458 
                 

 

 

(1) The total number of shares repurchased include those shares of Brocade common stock that employees
deliver back to Brocade to satisfy tax-withholding obligations at the settlement of restricted stock
exercises or upon termination of the employee and the forfeiture of restricted awards, but does not
include those shares of Brocade common stock that were cashed-out as a result of the Reverse/Forward
Split effective June 26, 2007.

 

(2) On January 29, 2007, the Company announced the authorization of $200 million for stock repurchases,
which is in addition to the $52.7 million remaining under the previously announced a $100 million stock
repurchase program approved by our Board of Directors in August 2004. In addition, the Company
announced on November 29, 2007 that an additional $500 million had been authorized for repurchase of
the Company’s common stock. The purchases may be made, from time to time, in the open market or by
privately negotiated transactions and will be funded from available working capital. The Company has
also entered into a written plan for the automatic repurchase of its securities in accordance with
Section 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as part of its share repurchase program. The
number of shares to be purchased and the timing of purchases will be based on the level of our cash
balances, general business and market conditions and other factors, including alternative investment
opportunities.
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Brocade Communications Systems, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index,

The NASDAQ Computer Index And SIC Code 3577
 

 

 

* $100 invested on 10/26/02 in stock or on 10/31/02 in index-including reinvestment of dividends. Indexes
calculated on month-end basis.
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Item 6.  Selected Financial Data
 

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial
statements and related notes, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations,” and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 

The consolidated statement of income data set forth below for the fiscal year ended October 27, 2007,
October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005, the consolidated balance sheet data as of October 27, 2007 and
October 28, 2006, are derived from, and qualified by reference to, the audited financial statements appearing
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The consolidated statement of income data for the fiscal year
ended October 30, 2004 and October 25, 2003 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of October 29, 2005,
October 30, 2004 and October 25, 2003, is derived from audited financial statements not included herein.
 

Five-Year Summary
 
                     

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 27,   October 28,   October 29,   October 30,   October 25,  
  2007(1)   2006(2)   2005(3)   2004(4)   2003(5)  
  (In thousands, except per share amounts)  

 

Statement of Income Data:                     
Net revenues  $ 1,236,863  $ 750,592  $ 574,120  $ 596,265  $ 525,277 
Cost of revenues   575,451   305,184   251,161   268,974   241,163 
                     

Gross margin   661,412   445,408   322,959   327,291   284,114 
                     

Operating expenses (benefits):                     
Research and development   213,311   164,843   132,448   142,535   146,545 
Sales and marketing   211,168   139,434   101,202   102,445   115,075 
General and administrative   46,980   31,089   25,189   24,593   21,306 
Legal fees associated with indemnification

obligations, SEC investigation and other
related costs, net   46,257   13,654   14,027   —   — 

Provision for SEC settlement   —   7,000   —   —   — 
Amortization of intangible assets   24,719   2,294   —   —   — 
Acquisition and integration costs   19,354   9,646   —   —   — 
Restructuring and facilities lease losses, net   —   3,775   (670)   84,557   20,828 
Settlement of an acquisition-related claim   —   —   —   6,943   — 
In-process research and development   —   —   7,784   —   134,898 
                     

Total operating expenses   561,789   371,735   279,980   361,073   438,652 
                     

Income (loss) from operations   99,623   73,673   42,979   (33,782)   (154,538)
Interest and other income, net   38,501   29,098   22,656   18,786   18,424 
Interest expense   (6,414)   (7,082)   (7,693)   (10,677)   (13,339)
Gain on repurchases of convertible

subordinated debt   —   —   2,318   5,613   11,118 
Gain (loss) on investments, net   13,205   2,663   (5,062)   436   3,638 
                     

Income (loss) before provision for income
taxes   144,915   98,352   55,198   (19,624)   (134,697)

Income tax provision   68,043   30,723   12,077   14,070   11,852 
                     

Net income (loss)   76,872  $ 67,629  $ 43,121  $ (33,694)  $ (146,549)
                     

Net income (loss) per share — basic  $ 0.21  $ 0.25  $ 0.16  $ (0.13)  $ (0.58)
                     

Net income (loss) per share — diluted  $ 0.21  $ 0.25  $ 0.16  $ (0.13)  $ (0.58)
                     

Shares used in per share calculation — basic   362,070   269,602   268,176   260,446   250,610 
                     

Shares used in per share calculation —
diluted   377,558   274,142   270,260   260,446   250,610 

                     

Balance Sheet Data:                     
Cash, cash equivalents, investments and

restricted short-term investments  $ 625,832  $ 582,554  $ 764,402  $ 736,908  $ 835,565 
Working capital(6)   502,499   428,233   317,819   434,162   355,634 
Total assets   1,930,100   900,718   981,730   987,382   1,063,174 
Non-current liabilities associated with lease

losses   25,742   11,105   12,481   16,799   16,518 
Convertible subordinated debt and capital

lease obligations   167,498   —   278,883   352,279   442,950 
Total stockholders’ equity   1,266,658   616,230   508,847   445,652   447,868 
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Note:We report our fiscal year on a 52/53-week period ending on the last Saturday in October of each
year. Accordingly, the fiscal year ends for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, were October 27, 28 and 29,
respectively. As is customary for companies that use the 52/53-week convention, every 5th year contains a
53-week fiscal year. As a result, our fiscal year 2004 was a 53-week fiscal year. Also as a result, our second
quarter of fiscal year 2004 included one extra week and was 14 weeks in length. Fiscal years 2007, 2006,
2005 and 2003 were 52-week fiscal years.
 

 

(1) The fiscal year ended October 27, 2007 includes the impact of the acquisition of McDATA, which was
completed in the second quarter of fiscal year 2007 (see Note 3, “Acquisitions,” of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements). In addition, in the fiscal year ended October 27, 2007 we recorded a
$13.2 million gain on investments on the disposition of portfolio investments primarily associated with
the disposition of marketable strategic investments at amounts above the carrying value (see Note 16,
“Gain on Investment, net,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). The fiscal year ended
October 27, 2007 also includes net legal fees associated with applicable indemnification obligations,
SEC investigation and other related costs of $46.3 million. Further, during the first quarter of fiscal year
2006, we began active settlement discussions with the SEC’s Division of Enforcement regarding our
financial restatements related to stock option accounting. As a result of these discussions, we recorded a
provision of $7.0 million for an estimated settlement expense in the fiscal year ended October 28, 2006.
On May 31, 2007, the offer of settlement was approved by the SEC’s Commissioners. On August 27,
2007, final judgment approving the settlement was entered by the United States District Court for the
Northern District of California and the $7.0 million settlement amount was released to the SEC.

 

(2) The fiscal year ended October 28, 2006 includes the impact of the acquisition of NuView, which was
completed in the second quarter of fiscal year 2006 (see Note 3, “Acquisitions,” of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements). In addition, in the fiscal year ended October 28, 2006 we recorded a
$2.7 million gain on investments on the disposition of portfolio investments primarily associated with
non-marketable private strategic investments (see Note 16, “Gain on Investment, net,” of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements). The fiscal year ended October 28, 2006 also includes net legal fees
associated with applicable indemnification obligations, SEC investigation and other related costs of
$13.7 million. Further, during the first fiscal quarter we began active settlement discussions with the
SEC’s Division of Enforcement regarding our financial restatements related to stock option accounting.
As a result of these discussions, we recorded a provision of $7.0 million for an estimated settlement
expense (see Note 9, “Commitments and Contingencies”, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements). During the second fiscal quarter, we recorded a charge of $3.8 million related to estimated
facilities lease losses, net of expected sublease income (see Note 5, “Liabilities Associated with
Facilities Lease Losses,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). Moreover, during the
fourth quarter and related to prior acquisitions and the potential acquisition of McDATA, we recorded
acquisition and integration costs for a total of $9.6 million.

 

(3) The fiscal year ended October 29, 2005 includes the impact of the acquisition of Therion, which was
completed in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005. In connection with our acquisition of Therion, we
recorded in-process research and development expense of $7.8 million (see Note 3, “Acquisitions,” of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). The fiscal year ended October 29, 2005 also includes
Audit Committee internal review and net SEC investigation costs of $14.0 million. In January 2005 we
announced that our Audit Committee completed an internal review regarding historical stock option
granting practices. Following the January 2005 Audit Commit tee internal review, on May 16, 2005, we
announced that additional information came to our attention that indicated that certain guidelines
regarding stock option granting practices were not followed and our Audit Committee had commenced
an internal review of our stock option accounting focusing on leaves of absence and transition and
advisory roles. Our Audit Committee review was completed in November 2005. In addition, in the fiscal
year ended October 29, 2005 we recorded a $5.1 million net loss on investments on the disposition of
portfolio investments primarily associated with the defeasance of the indenture agreement relating to our
2% Convertible Notes (see Note 8, “Convertible Subordinated Debt,” of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements) and recorded a total of $2.3 million gain on repurchases of convertible
subordinated debt.
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(4) The fiscal year ended October 30, 2004 includes the impact of restructuring costs of $9.0 million related
to a restructuring plan implemented during the three months ended May 1, 2004. The fiscal year ended
October 30, 2004 also includes a net lease termination charge and other of $75.6 million. During the
three months ended January 24, 2004, we purchased a previously leased building located near our
San Jose headquarters for $106.8 million in cash. The $106.8 million consisted of $30.0 million for the
purchase of land and a building and $76.8 million for a lease termination fee (see Note 5, “Liabilities
Associated with Facilities Lease Losses,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). In
addition, in the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004 we recorded a $6.9 million charge in settlement of a
claim relating to our acquisition of Rhapsody and recorded a total of $5.6 million gain on repurchases of
convertible subordinated debt.

 

(5) The fiscal year ended October 25, 2003 includes the impact of our acquisition of Rhapsody, which was
completed in the second quarter of fiscal year 2003. In connection with our acquisition of Rhapsody, we
recorded in-process research and development expense of $134.9 million. The fiscal year ended
October 25, 2003 also includes restructuring costs of $20.8 million, gain on repurchases of convertible
subordinated debt of $11.1 million and net gains on the disposition of non-marketable private strategic
investments of $3.6 million.

 

(6) The calculation of working capital for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005 also includes the balance
of convertible subordinated debt of $278.9 million.
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  First   Second   Third   Fourth  
  Quarter   Quarter   Quarter   Quarter  
  (In thousands, except per share and stock price amounts)  

 

Quarterly Data:                 
Fiscal Year Ended October 27, 2007                 
Net revenues  $ 224,156  $ 345,268  $ 327,455  $ 339,984 
Gross margin  $ 141,366  $ 170,848  $ 165,788  $ 183,410 
Income from operations  $ 39,413  $ 8,836  $ 12,004  $ 39,370 
Net income  $ 33,318  $ 843  $ 10,690  $ 32,020 
Per share amounts:                 

Basic  $ 0.12  $ 0.00  $ 0.03  $ 0.08 
Diluted  $ 0.12  $ 0.00  $ 0.03  $ 0.08 

Shares used in computing per share amounts:                 
Basic   272,855   395,574   392,450   387,400 
Diluted   285,137   411,989   407,113   408,844 

Closing prices:                 
High  $ 9.41  $ 10.52  $ 9.77  $ 9.25 
Low  $ 7.56  $ 8.23  $ 7.37  $ 6.19 

Fiscal Year Ended October 28, 2006                 
Net revenues  $ 170,082  $ 182,742  $ 188,947  $ 208,821 
Gross margin  $ 100,701  $ 105,144  $ 111,914  $ 127,649 
Income from operations  $ 12,261  $ 15,357  $ 21,575  $ 24,480 
Net income  $ 9,660  $ 13,513  $ 24,498  $ 19,958 
Per share amounts:                 

Basic  $ 0.04  $ 0.05  $ 0.09  $ 0.07 
Diluted  $ 0.04  $ 0.05  $ 0.09  $ 0.07 

Shares used in computing per share amounts:                 
Basic   269,400   270,564   269,417   269,027 
Diluted   272,101   274,393   273,959   276,113 

Closing prices:                 
High  $ 4.63  $ 6.97  $ 6.69  $ 8.92 
Low  $ 3.44  $ 4.56  $ 5.52  $ 5.01 

Fiscal Year Ended October 29, 2005                 
Net revenues  $ 161,578  $ 144,753  $ 122,273  $ 145,516 
Gross margin  $ 97,172  $ 82,834  $ 62,386  $ 80,567 
Income (loss) from operations  $ 30,162  $ 19,448  $ (14,311)  $ 7,680 
Net income (loss)  $ 27,943  $ 21,357  $ (7,235)  $ 1,056 
Per share amounts:                 

Basic  $ 0.10  $ 0.08  $ (0.03)  $ 0.00 
Diluted  $ 0.10  $ 0.08  $ (0.03)  $ 0.00 

Shares used in computing per share amounts:                 
Basic   266,218   268,043   268,765   269,679 
Diluted   271,422   269,823   268,765   270,311 

Closing prices:                 
High  $ 7.99  $ 6.42  $ 4.49  $ 4.49 
Low  $ 5.83  $ 4.35  $ 3.88  $ 3.51 
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Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 

Results of Operations
 

We report our fiscal year on a 52/53-week period ending on the last Saturday in October of each year.
Accordingly, the fiscal year ends for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005 were October 27, 28 and 29,
respectively. As is customary for companies that use the 52/53-week convention, every 5th year contains a
53-week fiscal year. As a result, our fiscal year 2004 was a 53-week fiscal year. Also as a result, our second
quarter of fiscal year 2004 included one extra week and was 14 weeks in length. Fiscal years 2007, 2006 and
2005, were 52-week fiscal years. The following table sets forth certain financial data for the periods indicated
as a percentage of total net revenues except for cost of revenues and gross margin which are indicated as a
percentage of the respective segment net revenues:
 
             

  Fiscal Years Ended  
  October 27,   October 28,   October 29,  
  2007   2006   2005  

 

Net revenues             
Product   87.0%   92.3%   93.5%
Service   13.0   7.7   6.5 

             

Total net revenues   100.0   100.0   100.0 
Cost of revenues             

Product   38.1   35.9   39.8 
Service   8.4   4.8   3.9 

             

Total cost of revenues   46.5   40.7   43.7 
             

Gross margin   53.5   59.3   56.3 
             

Operating expenses:             
Research and development   17.2   22.0   23.1 
Sales and marketing   17.1   18.6   17.6 
General and administrative   3.8   4.1   4.4 
Legal fees associated with indemnification obligations, SEC

investigation and other related costs, net   3.7   1.8   2.4 
Acquisition and integration costs   1.6   1.3   — 
Provision for SEC settlement   —   0.9   — 
Amortization of intangible assets   2.0   0.3   — 
Restructuring and facilities lease loss, net   —   0.5   (0.1)
In-process research and development   —   —   1.4 
             

Total operating expenses   45.4   49.5   48.8 
             

Income from operations   8.1   9.8   7.5 
Interest and other income, net   3.1   3.9   3.9 
Interest expense   (0.5)   (0.9)   (1.3)
Gain on repurchases of convertible subordinated debt   —   0.0   0.4 
Gain (loss) on sale of investments   1.1   0.4   (0.9)
             

Income before provision for income taxes   11.8   13.2   9.6 
Income tax provision   5.6   4.1   2.1 
             

Net income   6.2%   9.1%   7.5%
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Revenues.  Our revenues are derived primarily from sales of our family of SAN products and our service
and support offerings related to those products. Our fabric switches and directors, which range in size from 8
ports to 512 ports, connect our customers’ servers and storage devices creating a SAN.
 

Our total net revenues for the years ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006 were as follows (in
thousands):
 
                         

  Year Ended  
  October 27,   % of Net   October 28,   % of Net   Increase/   %  
  2007   Revenue   2006   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  

 

Product  $ 1,076,529   87.0%  $ 692,940   92.3%  $ 383,589   55.4%
Service   160,334   13.0%   57,652   7.7%   102,682   178.1%
                         

Total net revenues  $ 1,236,863   100.0%  $ 750,592   100.0%  $ 486,271   64.8%
 

The increase in net revenues for the year ended October 27, 2007 as compared with net revenues for the
year ended October 28, 2006 reflects growth in sales of both product and services offerings. The increase in
product revenues for the period reflected a 60 percent increase in the number of ports shipped, due to our
acquisition of McDATA in January 2007, partially offset by an 8 percent decline in average selling price per
port. The increase in service revenues is a result of the McDATA acquisition as well as the continued
expansion of our installed base.
 

Our total net revenues for the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005 were as follows (in
thousands):
 
                         

  Year Ended  

  October 28,   
% of
Net   October 29,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

  2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

Product  $ 692,940   92.3%  $ 536,834   93.5%  $ 156,106   29.1%
Service   57,652   7.7%   37,286   6.5%   20,366   54.7%
                         

Total Net Revenue  $ 750,592   100%  $ 574,120   100%  $ 176,472   30.8%
 

The increase in net revenues for the year ended October 28, 2006 as compared with net revenues for the
year ended October 29, 2005 reflects growth in sales of both products and services offerings. The increase in
product revenues for the period reflected a 47 percent increase in the number of ports shipped, partially offset
by a 12 percent decline in average selling price per port. The increase in service revenues is a result of the
expansion of our installed base and continued recognition of support revenue.
 

For both the year ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006, the declines in average selling prices are
the result of a continuing competitive pricing environment and change in product mix. We believe the
increase in the number of ports shipped reflects higher demand for our products due in part to expansion of
our installed base as a result of the McDATA acquisition as well as higher market demand as end-users
continue to consolidate storage and servers infrastructures using SANs, expand SANs to support more
applications and deploy SANs in new environments.
 

Going forward, we expect the number of ports shipped to fluctuate depending on the demand for our
existing and recently introduced products as well as the timing of product transitions by our OEM customers.
We also expect that average selling prices per port will likely decline at rates consistent with historical rates,
unless they are adversely affected by accelerated pricing pressures, new product introductions by us or our
competitors, or other factors that may be beyond our control. Historically, Brocade’s first and fourth fiscal
quarters are seasonally stronger quarters than its second and third fiscal quarters.
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Our total net revenues by geographical area for the years ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006
were as follows (in thousands):
 
                         

  Year Ended  

  October 27,   
% of
Net   October 28,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

  2007   Revenue   2006   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

Domestic  $ 753,398   60.9%  $ 478,138   63.7%  $ 275,260   57.6%
International   483,465   39.1%   272,454   36.3%   211,011   77.5%
                         

Total Net Revenue  $ 1,236,863   100%  $ 750,592   100%  $ 486,271   64.8%
 

From a geographical perspective, our total net revenues for the years ended October 28, 2006 and
October 29, 2005 were as follows (in thousands):
 
                         

  Year Ended  
  October 28,   % of Net   October 29,   % of Net   Increase/   %  
  2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  

 

Domestic  $ 478,138   63.7%  $ 363,761   63.4%  $ 114,377   31.4%
International   272,454   36.3%   210,359   36.6%   62,095   29.6%
                         

Total Net Revenue  $ 750,592   100.0%  $ 574,120   100.0%  $ 176,472   30.8%
 

Historically, domestic revenues have accounted for between 60 percent and 75 percent of total revenues.
International revenues primarily consist of sales to customers in Western Europe and the greater Asia Pacific
region. For the year ended October 27, 2007 as compared to the year ended October 28, 2006, international
revenues increased as a percentage of total revenue primarily as a result of faster growth in international
regions. Revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on where our products are shipped. However,
certain OEM customers take possession of our products domestically and then distribute these products to
their international customers. Because we account for all of those OEM revenues as domestic revenues, we
cannot be certain of the extent to which our domestic and international revenue mix is impacted by the
practices of our OEM customers, but we believe international revenue is a larger percent of our total revenue
than the attributed revenues may indicate.
 

A significant portion of our revenue is concentrated among a relatively small number of OEM customers.
For the years ended 2007, 2006 and 2005, three customers each represented ten percent or more of our total
revenues for a combined total of 68 percent, 73 percent and 71 percent, respectively, of our total revenues.
We expect that a significant portion of our future revenues will continue to come from sales of products to a
relatively small number of OEM customers. Therefore, the loss of, or a decrease in the level of sales to, or a
change in the ordering pattern of, any one of these customers could seriously harm our financial condition and
results of operations.
 

Cost of Goods Sold.  Cost of goods sold consists of product costs, which typically vary with volume and
manufacturing operations costs, which do not change directly with volume.
 

Cost of goods sold for the years ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006 were as follows (in
thousands):
 
                         

  Year Ended  

  October 27,   
% of
Net   October 28,   

% of
Net   Increase/   

%
Points  

  2007   Revenue   2006   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

Product  $ 470,977   38.1%  $ 269,430   35.9%  $ 201,547   2.2%
Service   104,474   8.4%   35,754   4.8%   68,720   3.6%
                         

Total cost of goods sold  $ 575,451   46.5%  $ 305,184   40.7%  $ 270,267   5.8%
 

Gross margin for the year ended October 27, 2007 was 53.5 percent, a decrease of 5.8 percentage points
from 59.3 percent for the year ended October 28, 2006. For the year ended October 27, 2007, product costs
relative to net revenues increased by 2.2 percent as compared to the year ended October 28, 2006. This is
primarily the result of the McDATA acquisition which resulted in an increase of $50.8 million in headcount
related expenses and $34.0 million of amortization of intangible assets included in product costs for the year
ended October 27, 2007 compared with no amortization of intangible assets included in product costs in the
year ended October 28, 2006. In addition, cost for outside services rose by $20.5 million, engineering costs
related to sustaining existing products increased by $20.3 million, and Facilities and IT expenses increased by
$19.8 million in fiscal year 2007 compared to fiscal year
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2006. Service operations costs increased by $29.6 million primarily due to increased headcount, as the service
and support organizations were expanded as a result of the McDATA acquisition.
 

In addition, cost of goods sold for the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005 were as
follows (in thousands):
 
                         

  Year Ended  

  October 28,   
% of
Net   October 29,   

% of
Net   Increase/   

%
Points  

  2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

Product  $ 269,430   35.9%  $ 228,488   39.8%  $ 40,942   (3.9)%
Service   35,754   4.8%   22,673   3.9%   13,081   0.9%
                         

Total Cost of Goods Sold  $ 305,184   40.7%  $ 251,161   43.7%  $ 54,023   (3.0)%
 

Gross margin for the year ended October 28, 2006 was 59.3 percent, an increase of 3 percentage points
from 56.3 percent for the year ended October 29, 2005. For the year ended October 28, 2006, product costs
relative to net revenues decreased as compared to the year ended October 29, 2005 due to the transition from
2 Gbit products to 4 Gbit products and relatively stable pricing, more efficient production with higher
volumes and a favorable mix of products shipped. Manufacturing operation costs and service operation costs
decreased by 0.4 percent relative to net revenues primarily due to the increase in revenue partially offset by an
increase in headcount and higher sustaining engineering charges, as products transitioned from the
development phase to the engineering phase. In addition, stock-based compensation expense for the year
ended October 28, 2006 increased by 1.2 percent relative to net revenues primarily as a result of our adoption
of SFAS 123R.
 

Gross margin is primarily affected by average selling price per port, number of ports shipped and cost of
goods sold. As described above, we expect that average selling prices per port for our products will continue
to decline at rates consistent with historical rates, unless they are further affected by accelerated pricing
pressures, new product introductions by us or our competitors, or other factors that may be beyond our
control. We believe that we have the ability to partially mitigate the effect of declines in average selling price
per port on gross margins through our product and manufacturing operations cost reductions. However, the
average selling price per port could decline at a faster pace than we anticipate. If this dynamic occurs, we may
not be able to reduce our costs fast enough to prevent a decline in our gross margins. In addition, we must
continue to increase the current volume of ports shipped to maintain our current gross margins. If we are
unable to offset future reductions of average selling price per port with reductions in product and
manufacturing operations costs, or if as a result of future reductions in average selling price per port our
revenues do not grow, our gross margins would be negatively affected.
 

We recently introduced several new products and expect to introduce additional new products in the near
future. As new or enhanced products are introduced, we must successfully manage the transition from older
products in order to minimize disruption in customers’ ordering patterns, avoid excessive levels of older
product inventories and provide sufficient supplies of new products to meet customer demands. Our gross
margins would likely be adversely affected if we fail to successfully manage the introductions of these new
products. However, we currently anticipate that fluctuations in cost of goods sold related expenses will be
consistent with fluctuations in revenue.
 

Research and development expenses.  Research and development (“R&D”) expenses consist primarily of
salaries and related expenses for personnel engaged in engineering and R&D activities; fees paid to
consultants and outside service providers; nonrecurring engineering charges; prototyping expenses related to
the design, development, testing and enhancement of our products; depreciation related to engineering and
test equipment; and IT and facilities expenses.
 

Research and development expenses for the years ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006 were as
follows (in thousands):
 
           

October 27,  % of Net  October 28,  % of Net  Increase/  %
2007  Revenue  2006  Revenue  (Decrease)  Change

 

$213,311  17.2%  $164,843  22.0%  $48,468  29.4%
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For the year ended October 27, 2007, R&D expenses increased by $48.5 million, or 29.4 percent, to
$213.3 million, compared with $164.8 million, for the year ended October 28, 2006. This increase is
primarily due to a $31.1 million increase in salaries and headcount related costs as a result of the McDATA
and Silverback acquisitions, as well as an increase of $12.5 million in additional outside service related
expenses related to product development. In addition, prototypes and non-recurring engineering expenses
increased by $6.8 million as more products were developed and certified in fiscal year 2007. Depreciation
expense increased by $5.2 million due to a larger asset pool as a result of the McDATA acquisition, offset by
a $20.3 million increase in engineering costs due to more products being transitioned from the development
phase into the sustaining phase in fiscal year 2007.
 

In addition, research and development expenses for the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29,
2005 were as follows (in thousands):
 
           

October 28,  % of Net  October 29,  % of Net  Increase/  %
2006  Revenue  2005  Revenue  (Decrease)  Change

 

$164,843  22.0%  $132,448  23.1%  $32,395  24.5%
 

For the year ended October 28, 2006, R&D expenses increased by $32.4 million, or 24.5 percent, to
$164.8 million, compared with $132.4 million for the year ended October 29, 2005. This increase is primarily
due to a $23.1 million increase in salaries and headcount-related expenses resulting from continuing
investment in our line of File Services products and from the acquisition of NuView, as well as $12.2 million
increase in stock-based compensation expense primarily attributable to our adoption of SFAS 123R.
 

We currently anticipate that R&D expenses, as a percent of revenue, for the year ended October 25, 2008,
will be relatively consistent with the year ended October 27, 2007, but will increase in absolute dollar terms.
 

Sales and marketing expenses.  Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, commissions
and related expenses for personnel engaged in marketing and sales, costs associated with promotional and
travel expenses, and IT and facilities expenses.
 

Sales and marketing expenses for the years ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006 were as
follows (in thousands):
 
           

October 27,  % of Net  October 28,  % of Net  Increase/  %
2007  Revenue  2006  Revenue  (Decrease)  Change

 

$211,168  17.1%  $139,434  18.6%  $71,734  51.4%
 

For the year ended October 27, 2007 as compared to the year ended October 28, 2006, sales and
marketing expenses increased by $71.7 million, or 51.4 percent, to $211.2 million, compared with
$139.4 million for the year ended October 28, 2006. This increase is primarily due to the McDATA
acquisition and included a $45.6 million increase in salaries and headcount related expenses, a $3.7 million
increase in outside service related expenses, a $5.7 million increase in additional travel expenses, a
$6.4 million increase in marketing expenses and a $7.9 million increase in expenses related to IT and
facilities.
 

In addition, sales and marketing expenses for the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005
were as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 28,   
% of
Net   October 29,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ 139,434   18.6%  $ 101,202   17.8%  $ 38,232   37.8%
 

For the year ended October 28, 2006, sales and marketing expenses increased by $38.2 million, or
38 percent, to $139.4 million, compared with $101.2 million for the year ended October 29, 2005. This
increase is primarily due to a $18.8 million increase in salaries and headcount-related expenses, including
higher commission expenses due to higher revenues, a $7.7 million increase in sales and marketing program
expenses primarily related to our line of File Services products and a $7.2 million increase in stock based
compensation expense primarily attributable to our adoption of SFAS 123R.
 

We currently anticipate that sales and marketing expenses, as a percent of revenue and in absolute dollars
for the year ended October 25, 2008, will increase as compared to year ended October 27, 2007.
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General and administrative expenses.  General and administrative (“G&A”) expenses consist primarily
of salaries and related expenses for corporate executives, finance, human resources and investor relations, as
well as recruiting expenses, professional fees, corporate legal expenses, other corporate expenses and IT and
facilities expenses.
 

General and administrative expenses for the years ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006 were as
follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 27,  % of Net  October 28,  % of Net  Increase/  %
2007  Revenue  2006  Revenue  (Decrease)  Change

 

$ 46,980   3.8%  $ 31,089   4.1%  $ 15,891   51.1%
 

G&A expenses for the year ended October 27, 2007 as compared to the year ended October 28, 2006
increased by $15.9 million, or 51 percent. The increase in G&A is primarily due to the McDATA acquisition
which resulted in a $6.7 million increase in salaries and headcount related expenses and a $3.7 million
increase in outside services, as well as a $2.8 million increase in depreciation expenses.
 

In addition, general and administrative expenses for the years ended October 27, 2006 and October 28,
2005 were as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 26,  % of Net  October 29,  % of Net  Increase/  %
2006  Revenue  2005  Revenue  (Decrease)  Change

 

$ 31,089   4.1%  $ 25,189   4.4%  $ 5,900   23.4%
 

G&A expenses for the year ended October 28, 2006 increased by $5.9 million, or 23 percent, to
$31.1 million compared with $25.2 million for the year ended October 29, 2005. The increase in G&A for
fiscal year 2006 is primarily due to a $3.6 million increase in stock-based compensation primarily attributable
to our adoption of SFAS 123R and $3.2 million increase in salaries and headcount-related expenses to support
ongoing initiatives.
 

We currently anticipate that G&A expenses, as a percent of revenue, for the year ending October 25,
2008 will be consistent with the year ended October 27, 2007.
 

Net legal fees associated with indemnification obligations, SEC investigation and other related costs,
defense and other related costs.  These expenses consist of professional legal and accounting service fees for
various matters, including applicable indemnification obligations, defense of the Company in legal
proceedings, the completed internal reviews and the SEC and Department of Justice (“DOJ”) joint
investigations regarding historical stock option granting practices. Pursuant to the Company’s charter
documents and indemnification agreements, the Company has certain indemnification obligations to its
directors, officers and certain former directors and officers. Pursuant to such obligations, the Company
incurred expenses related to amounts paid to certain former executive officers of the Company who are
subject to pending criminal and/or civil charges by the SEC in connection with Brocade’s historical stock
option grant practices.
 

Net legal fees associated with indemnification obligations, SEC investigation and other related costs,
defense and other related costs for the years ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006 were as follows
(in thousands):
 

                       

October 27,  % of Net  October 28,  % of Net  Increase/  %
2007  Revenue  2006  Revenue  (Decrease)  Change

 

$ 46,257   3.7%  $ 13,654   1.8%  $ 32,603   238.8%
 

The increase of $32.6 million in legal fees for the year ended October 27, 2007 as compared to
October 28, 2006 is primarily due to increase in legal expenses, net of insurance reimbursement.
 

In addition, net legal fees associated with indemnification obligations, SEC investigation, defense and
other related costs for the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005 were as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 28,   
% of
Net   October 29,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ 13,654   1.8%  $ 14,027   2.4%  $ (373)   (2.7)%
 

Fluctuations in legal fees for the year ended October 27, 2006 as compared to the year ended October 29,
2005 are due to the timing of costs incurred.

36

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, December 21, 2007



Table of Contents

Provision for SEC settlement.  Provision for SEC settlement for the years ended October 27, 2007 and
October 28, 2006 was as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 27,   
% of
Net   October 28,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2007   Revenue   2006   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ —   —%  $ 7,000   0.9%  $ (7,000)   (100.0)%
 

In addition, provision for SEC settlement for the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005 was
as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 28,   
% of
Net   October 29,  

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ 7,000   0.9%  $ —   —%  $ 7,000   100.0%
 

Following investigations by the SEC and DOJ regarding the Company’s historical stock option granting
practices and as a result of settlement discussions with the Staff of the SEC’s Division of Enforcement, for the
year ended October 28, 2006, Brocade recorded a $7.0 million provision for estimated settlement expense. On
August 27, 2007, final judgment approving the settlement was entered by the United States District Court for
the Northern District of California and the $7.0 million settlement amount was released to the SEC.
 

Amortization of intangible assets.  Amortization of intangible assets for the years ended October 27, 2007
and October 28, 2006 was as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 27,   
% of
Net   October 28,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2007   Revenue   2006   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ 24,719   2.0%  $ 2,294   0.3%  $ 22,425   977.6%
 

In addition, amortization of intangible assets for the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005
was as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 28,   
% of
Net   October 29,  

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   
Change

1  
 

$ 2,294   0.3%  $ —   —%  $ 2,294   100%
 

During the year ended October 27, 2007, we recorded amortization of intangible assets related to the
acquisitions of McDATA, Silverback and NuView. The increase in amortization of intangible assets for the
year ended October 27, 2007 as compared to the year ended October 28, 2006 is primarily due to the
McDATA acquisition which was completed at the beginning of our second fiscal quarter of 2007. We account
for intangible assets in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). Intangible assets are recorded based on estimates of fair value at the
time of the acquisition and identifiable intangible assets are amortized on a straight line basis over their
estimated useful lives (see Note 4, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements).
 

Acquisition and integration costs.  Acquisition and integration costs for the years ended October 27, 2007
and October 28, 2006 were as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 27,   
% of
Net   October 28,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2007   Revenue   2006   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ 19,354   1.6%  $ 9,646   1.3%  $ 9,708   100.7%
 

In addition, acquisition and integration costs for the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005
were as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 28,   
% of
Net   October 29,  

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ 9,646   1.3%  $ —   —%  $ 9,646   100.0%
 

On January 27, 2007, the Company completed its acquisition of McDATA valued at approximately
$658.9 million. Under the terms of the agreement, McDATA stockholders received 0.75 shares of Brocade
common stock for each share of McDATA class A common stock and each share of McDATA class B
common stock they held at the time of the acquisition.

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, December 21, 2007
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In connection with our acquisition of McDATA (see Note 3, “Acquisitions,” of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements), we recorded acquisition and integration costs during the year ended October 27, 2007,
which consisted primarily of costs incurred for consulting services, other professional fees and bonuses paid
to transitional employees. In connection with our acquisition of NuView we recorded acquisition related
expenses of $0.6 million during the year ended October 28, 2006.
 

Restructuring and facilities lease losses, net.  Restructuring and facilities lease losses, net, for the years
ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006 was as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 27,   
% of
Net   Octobe 28,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2007   Revenue   2006   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ —   —%  $ 3,775   0.5%  $ (3,775)   (100)%
 

In addition, restructuring and facilities lease losses, net, for the years ended October 28, 2006 and
October 29, 2005 was as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 28,   
% of
Net   October 29,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ 3,775   0.5%  $ (670)   (0.1)%  $ 4,445   (663)%
 

No charges were recorded during the year ended October 27, 2007. During the year ended October 28,
2006, the Company recorded a charge of $3.8 million related to estimated facilities lease losses, net of
expected sublease income. This charge represented an estimate based on current market data. The Company
revised certain estimates and assumptions, including those related to estimated sublease rates, estimated time
to sublease the facilities, expected future operating costs and expected future use of the facilities. For the year
ended October 29, 2005, we recorded a reduction of $0.7 million to restructuring costs related to recovery of
previously recorded restructuring costs.
 

In-process research and development.  We did not record any acquired in-process R&D for the years
ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006.
 

In-process research and development for the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005 was as
follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 28,   
% of
Net   October 29,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ —   —%  $ 7,784   1.4%  $ (7,784)   (100)%
 

On May 3, 2005, we completed our acquisition of Therion, a privately held company based in Redmond,
Washington that developed software management solutions for the automated provisioning of servers over a
storage network. As of the acquisition date, Therion was a development stage company with no recognized
revenue and a core technology that had not yet reached technological feasibility. Accordingly, the acquisition
of Therion was accounted for as an asset purchase. In connection with this acquisition, we recorded a
$7.8 million in-process research and development charge and allocated the remaining purchase price to net
assets of $2.9 million, deferred stock compensation of $1.5 million and net liabilities of $0.1 million, based
on fair values (see Note 3, “Acquisitions,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
 

Interest and other income, net.  Interest and other income, net, for the years ended October 27, 2007 and
October 28, 2006 was as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 27,   
% of
Net   October 28,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2007   Revenue   2006   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ 38,501   3.1%  $ 29,098   3.9%  $ 9,403   32.3%
 

In addition, interest and other income, net, for the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005
was as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 28,   
% of
Net   October 29,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ 29,098   3.9%  $ 22,656   3.9%  $ 6,442   28.4%
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For the year ended October 27, 2007 as compared to the year ended October 28, 2006, the increase in
interest and other income was primarily related to higher average rates of return due to investment mix and an
increase in interest rates, as well as increased average cash, cash equivalent, and short and long-term
investment balances as a result of the McDATA acquisition.
 

Net interest and other income increased to $29.1 million for the year ended October 28, 2006, compared
to $22.7 million for the year ended October 29, 2005. For the year ended October 28, 2006, the increase was
primarily a result of higher average rates of return due to investment mix and an increase in interest rates, as
well as increase in cash invested.
 

Interest expense.  Interest expense primarily represents the interest cost associated with our convertible
subordinated debt (see Note 8: “Convertible Subordinated Debt,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements).
 

Interest expense for the years ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006 was as follows (in
thousands):
 

                       

October 27,   
% of
Net   October 28,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2007   Revenue   2006   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ (6,414)   (0.5)%  $ (7,082)   (0.9)%  $ (668)   (9.4)%
 

The decrease in interest expense for the year ended October 27, 2007 as compared to the year ended
October 28, 2006 was primarily due to the absence of debt issuance cost in the fiscal year 2007 that was
included in the interest expense for fiscal year 2006 offset by the increase in interest expense as the result of
the debt assumed from the McDATA acquisition.
 

In addition, interest expense for the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005 was as follows
(in thousands):
 

                       

October 28,   
% of
Net   October 29,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ (7,082)   (0.9)%  $ (7,693)   (1.3)%  $ (611)   (8.0)%
 

The decrease in interest expense for the year ended October 28, 2006 as compared to the year ended
October 29, 2005 was primarily due to a reduction in the outstanding balance of our convertible subordinated
debt during the first quarter of fiscal year 2006. As of October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006, the carrying
value of the outstanding balance of our convertible subordinated debt was $167.5 and $0.0 million,
respectively.
 

Gain on repurchases of convertible subordinated debt. There were no repurchases for the years ended
October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006.
 

Gain on repurchases of convertible subordinated debt for the years ended October 28, 2006 and
October 29, 2005 was as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 28,   
% of
Net   

October
29,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ —   —%  $ 2,318   0.4%  $ (2,318)   (100)%
 

During the year ended October 29, 2005 we repurchased $73.4 million in face value of our convertible
subordinated debt on the open market. For the year ended October 29, 2005, we paid an average of $0.96 for
each dollar of face value for an aggregate purchase price of $70.5 million, which resulted in a pre-tax gain of
$2.3 million.
 

Gain (loss) on investments, net.  Gain (loss) on investments, net, for the years ended October 27, 2007
and October 28, 2006 was as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 27,   
% of
Net   October 28,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2007   Revenue   2006   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ 13,205   1.1%  $ 2,663   0.4%  $ 10,542   395.9%
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Gain (loss) on investments, net, for the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005 was as
follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 28,   
% of
Net   October 29,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ 2,663   0.4%  $ (5,062)   (0.9)%  $ 7,725   152.6%
 

For the year ended October 27, 2007, gain on sale of investments was $13.2 million due to the disposition
of marketable strategic investments at amounts above the carrying value. The carrying value of our equity
investments in non-publicly traded companies at October 27, 2007 was $5.0 million. For the year ended
October 28, 2006, gain on sale of investment was $2.7 million due to the disposition of non-marketable
private strategic investments at amounts above the carrying value. The carrying value of our equity
investments in non-publicly traded companies at October 28, 2006 was $0.8 million. For the year ended
October 29, 2005, net loss on investments was $5.1 million, consisting of $5.2 million losses on the
disposition of portfolio investments primarily associated with the defeasance of the indenture agreement
relating to our 2% Convertible Notes, offset by $0.1 million gains on the disposition of non-marketable
private strategic investments. As of October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005, we had net unrealized holding
gains (losses) of $(1.1) million and $(4.2) million, respectively, associated with our remaining investment
portfolio. The carrying value of our equity investments in non-publicly traded companies at October 28, 2006
and October 29, 2005 was $0.8 million and $3.8 million, respectively.
 

Provision for income taxes.  Provision for income taxes for the years ended October 27, 2007 and
October 28, 2006 was as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 27,   
% of
Net   October 28,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2007   Revenue   2006   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ 68,043   5.6%  $ 30,723   4.1%  $ 37,320   121.5%
 

In addition, Provision for income taxes for the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005 was
as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 28,   
% of
Net   October 29,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ 30,723   4.1%  $ 12,077   2.1%  $ 18,646   154.4%
 

For the year ended October 27, 2007, our income tax provision was based on both domestic and
international operations. We expect to continue to record an income tax provision for our international and
domestic operations in the future. Since we have a full valuation allowance against deferred tax assets which
result from U.S. operations, U.S. income tax expense or benefits are offset by releasing or increasing,
respectively, the valuation allowance. To the extent utilization of net operating losses, credit carryforwards, or
acquired deductible temporary differences are attributable to the operations of McDATA prior to the
acquisition, the resulting tax benefit is recorded to goodwill. To the extent that international revenues and
earnings differ from those historically achieved, a factor largely influenced by the buying behavior of our
OEM partners, or unfavorable changes in tax laws and regulations occur, our income tax provision could
change.
 

Estimates and judgments are required in the calculation of certain tax liabilities and in the determination
of the recoverability of certain of the deferred tax assets, which arise from variable stock option expenses, net
operating losses, tax carryforwards and temporary differences between the tax and financial statement
recognition of revenue and expense. SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109”), also
requires that the deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance, if based on the weight of available
evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the recorded deferred tax assets will not be
realized in future periods.
 

The realization of deferred tax assets is based on several factors, including the Company’s past earnings
and the scheduling of deferred tax liabilities and projected income from operating activities. In assessing the
realizability of deferred tax assets, we consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We do not believe it is more likely than not that the Company’s
deferred tax assets are realizable. As of October 27, 2007, we had a valuation allowance against the deferred
tax assets, which we intend to maintain until sufficient positive evidence exists to support reversal of the
valuation allowance. Future reversals or increases to our valuation allowance could have a significant impact
on our future operating results.
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In addition, the calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of
complex tax regulations in a multitude of jurisdictions. We recognize potential liabilities for anticipated tax
audit issues in the U.S. and other tax jurisdictions based on our estimate of whether, and the extent to which,
additional taxes will be due. If events occur and the payment of these amounts ultimately proves to be
unnecessary, the reversal of the liabilities would result in tax benefits being recognized in the period when we
determine the liabilities are no longer necessary. If our estimate of tax liabilities proves to be less than the
ultimate assessment, a further charge to expense would result.
 

In November 2005, we were notified by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) that our domestic federal
income tax return for the year ended October 25, 2003 was subject to audit. The IRS had issued two Notices
of Proposed Adjustment (“NOPAs”) related to the research and development credit which the Company has
reached a tentative agreement on October 29, 2007. In the second quarter of fiscal year 2007 we received
three NOPAs related to transfer pricing. The Company is currently contesting these three adjustments and we
believe we have adequate reserves to cover any potential assessments that may result from the examination. If
upon resolution, we sustain adjustments in excess of our provision, an incremental charge to earnings may
result in the current period. However, no additional payments will result as we have sufficient loss
carryforwards to offset the incremental taxable income resulting from the assessment.
 

Stock compensation expense.  Stock compensation expense for the years ended October 27, 2007 and
October 28, 2006 was as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 27,   
% of
Net   October 28,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2007   Revenue   2006   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ 36,942   3.9%  $ 31,407   4.2%  $ 5,535   17.6%
 

In addition, stock compensation expense (benefit) for the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29,
2005 was as follows (in thousands):
 

                       

October 28,   
% of
Net   October 29,   

% of
Net   Increase/   %  

2006   Revenue   2005   Revenue   (Decrease)   Change  
 

$ 31,407   4.2%  $ (616)   (0.1)%  $ 32,023   5,199%
 

Stock compensation expense was included in the following statements of income line items for the years
ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005 as follows (in thousands):
 
             

  
Year

Ended   
Year

Ended   
Year

Ended  
  October 27,   October 28,   October 29,  
  2007   2006   2005  

 

Cost of goods sold  $ 11,565  $ 8,564  $ (530)
Research and development   11,451   11,952   226 
Sales and marketing   9,278   7,412   (126)
General and administrative   4,648   3,479   (186)
             

Total stock based compensation  $ 36,942  $ 31,407  $ (616)
             

 

Included in the amounts presented above is stock compensation arising from stock option grants
remeasured at their intrinsic value and subject to change in measurement date. The stock compensation
expense associated with remeasuring awards at their intrinsic value each reporting period may vary
significantly as a result of future changes in the market value of our common stock until those options are
either exercised or expire unexercised. The change in stock-based compensation for these awards during the
year ended October 27, 2007 as compared to the year ended October 28, 2006 is due to the change in market
values of our common stock during the reported periods as well as exercise behaviors of the holders of these
options.
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  October 27,   October 28,     
  2007   2006   Increase  
  (In thousands)  

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources             
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 315,755  $ 274,368  $ 41,387 
Short-term investments, restricted and unrestricted   325,846   267,694   58,152 
Marketable equity securities   14,205   —   14,205 
Long-term investments   137,524   40,492   97,032 
             

Total  $ 793,330  $ 582,554  $ 210,776 
             

Percentage of total assets   41%   65%     
 

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted short-term investments, and short-term and long-term investments as of
October 27, 2007 increased $210.8 million over the balance as of October 28, 2006. For the year ended
October 27, 2007, we generated $170.4 million in cash from operating activities, which significantly
exceeded net income for the year ended October 27, 2007, as a result of non-cash items related to depreciation
and amortization as well as a relatively high level of collections slightly offset by payments for accrued
employee compensation and other accrued liabilities during the period. Days sales outstanding in receivables
for the year ended October 27, 2007 was 47 days, compared with 43 days for the year ended October 28,
2006.
 

Net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended October 27, 2007 totaled $93.6 million and
was primarily the result of $764.9 million in proceeds from maturities and sales of short-term investments,
$147.4 million cash acquired in connection with the merger with McDATA, proceeds from maturities and
sale of long term investments of $12.6 million, offset by purchases of short-term and long-term investments
for a total of $771.6 million and purchases of property and equipment of $56.5 million.
 

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended October 27, 2007 totaled $220.6 million. Net cash
used in financing activities was primarily the result of the redemption of the acquired Computer Network
Technology, Inc. (“CNT”) convertible debt for a total of $124.2 million, which we assumed in connection
with the McDATA acquisition, coupled with common stock repurchases of $191.3 million, offset by proceeds
from the issuance of common stock, net, of $100.6 million.
 

Net proceeds from the issuance of common stock in connection with employee participation in employee
stock programs have historically been a significant component of our liquidity. The extent to which our
employees participate in these programs generally increases or decreases based upon changes in the market
price of our common stock. As a result, our cash flow resulting from the issuance of common stock in
connection with employee participation in employee stock programs will vary.
 

Manufacturing and Purchase Commitments.  We have manufacturing agreements with Foxconn,
Sanmina and Solectron under which we provide twelve-month product forecasts and place purchase orders in
advance of the scheduled delivery of products to our customers. The required lead-time for placing orders
with Foxconn, Sanmina and Solectron depends on the specific product. As of October 27, 2007, our aggregate
commitment for inventory components used in the manufacture of Brocade products was $107.8 million, net
of purchase commitment reserves of $23.1 million, as reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, which we
expect to utilize during future normal ongoing operations. Although the purchase orders we place with
Foxconn, Sanmina and Solectron are cancelable, the terms of the agreements require us to purchase all
inventory components not returnable or usable by, or sold to, other customers of the aforementioned contract
manufacturers. Our purchase commitments reserve reflects our estimate of purchase commitments we do not
expect to consume in normal operations within the next twelve months, in accordance with our policy.
 

Convertible Subordinated Debt.  On December 21, 2001 and January 10, 2002, we sold an aggregate of
$550 million in principal amount of two percent convertible subordinated notes due January 2007 (the
“Notes” or “Convertible Subordinated Debt”). Holders of the Notes may, in whole or in part, have converted
the Notes into shares of our common stock at a conversion rate of 22.8571 shares per $1,000 principal amount
of notes at any time prior to maturity on January 1, 2007, subject to earlier redemption.
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On August 23, 2005, in accordance with the terms of the indenture agreement dated December 21, 2001
with respect to the Convertible Subordinated Debt, the Company elected to deposit securities with the trustee
of the Notes (the “Trustee”), which fully collateralized the outstanding notes and to discharge the indenture
agreement. Pursuant to this election, the Company provided an irrevocable letter of instruction to the Trustee
to issue a notice of redemption on June 26, 2006 and to redeem the Notes on August 22, 2006 (the
“Redemption Date”). Following August 23, 2005, the Trustee, using the securities deposited with them, paid
to the note holders (1) all the interest scheduled to become due per the original note prior to the
Redemption Date and (2) all the principal and remaining interest, plus a call premium of 0.4% of the face
value of the Notes, on the Redemption Date. As of October 29, 2005, the Company had an aggregate of
$277.2 million in interest-bearing U.S. securities with the Trustee. The securities remained on the Company’s
balance sheet as restricted short-term investments until the Redemption Date. The Company recorded a loss
on investments of $4.7 million in the three months ended October 29, 2005 with respect to the disposition of
certain short-term and long-term investments that was necessary to deposit the securities with the Trustee.
 

The notes were redeemed on August 22, 2006 as contemplated by the irrevocable letter of instruction to
the Trustee. Following the redemption, the remaining balance outstanding of the convertible subordinated
debt was zero.
 

On January 29, 2007, effective upon the consummation of the merger, the Company fully and
unconditionally guaranteed the 2.25% Notes and became a co-obligor on the 2.25% Notes with McDATA.
The 2.25% Notes were convertible into Class A common stock at a conversion rate of 93.3986 shares per
$1,000 principal amount of notes (aggregate of approximately 16.1 million shares) at any time prior to
February 15, 2010, subject to adjustments. As of October 27, 2007, the approximate aggregate carrying value
of the outstanding debt was $167.5 million.
 

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the Merger each outstanding share of the
McDATA’s Class A common stock, $0.01 part value per share, was converted into the right to receive
0.75 shares of Brocade’s common stock, $0.001 par value per share, together with cash in lieu of fractional
shares. As a result, an approximate aggregate of 12.1 million shares may be exchanged for shares of Brocade
common stock at any time prior to February 15, 2010, subject to adjustments.
 

Concurrent with the issuance of the 2.25% Notes, McDATA entered into share option transactions using
approximately $20.5 million of net proceeds. As part of these share option transactions, McDATA purchased
options that cover approximately 12.1 million shares of common stock, at a strike price of $14.28. McDATA
also sold options that cover approximately 12.7 million shares of common stock, at a strike price of $20.11.
The net cost of the share option transactions was recorded against additional paid-in-capital in accordance
with EITF No. 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled
in, a Company’s own Stock” (“EITF 00-19”).
 

In addition, effective upon the consummation of the merger with McDATA, the Company fully and
unconditionally guaranteed and became a co-obligor, in the $122.4 million outstanding 3.00% convertible
subordinated notes (the “3% Notes”) due February 15, 2007, previously issued by CNT and assumed on
June 1, 2005 by McDATA, upon McDATA’s acquisition of CNT. On February 15, 2007, the Company paid
the remaining balance due on the 3.00% Notes.
 

See Note 8, “Convertible Subordinated Debt,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
 

Other contractual obligations.  On November 18, 2003, we purchased a previously leased building
located near our San Jose headquarters and issued a $1.0 million guarantee as part of the purchase
agreements.
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The following table summarizes our contractual obligations (including interest expense) and
commitments as of October 27, 2007 (in thousands):
 
                     

     Less than         More than  
  Total   1 Year   1-3 Years   3-5 Years   5 Years  

 

Contractual Obligations:                     
Non-cancelable operating leases(1)   116,811(1)   25,838   45,764   15,839   29,370 
Capital leases   1,448   1,256   192   —   — 
Purchase commitments, gross(2)   107,764(2)   107,764   —   —   — 
                     

Total contractual obligations  $ 226,023  $ 134,858  $ 45,956  $ 15,839  $ 29,370 
                     

Other Commitments:                     
Standby letters of credit  $ 2,693  $ n/a  $ n/a  $ n/a  $ n/a 
                     

Guarantee  $ 1,015  $ n/a  $ n/a  $ n/a  $ n/a 
                     

 

 

(1) Amount excludes contractual sublease income of $7.9 million, which consists of $2.8 million to be
received in less than 1 year, $5.0 million to be received in 1 through 3 years and $0.1 million to be
received in 3 to 5 years.

 

(2) Amount reflects total gross purchase commitments under our manufacturing agreements with third party
contract manufacturers. Of this amount, we have accrued $21.2 million for estimated purchase
commitments that we do not expect to consume in normal operations within the next twelve months, in
accordance with our policy.

 

Share Repurchase Program.  On January 29, 2007, the Company announced the authorization of
$200 million for stock repurchases, which is in addition to the $52.7 million remaining under the previously
announced $100 million stock repurchase program approved by our board of directors on August 2004. In
addition, the Company announced on November 29, 2007 that an additional $500 million had been authorized
for repurchase of the Company’s common stock. The purchases may be made, from time to time, in the open
market or by privately negotiated transactions and will be funded from available working capital. The
Company has also entered into a written plan for the automatic repurchase of its securities in accordance with
Section 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as part of its share repurchase program. The number
of shares to be purchased and the timing of purchases will be based on the level of our cash balances, general
business and market conditions and other factors, including alternative investment opportunities. For the year
ended October 27, 2007, we have repurchased 19.8 million shares for an aggregate purchase price of
$170.3 million. As such, approximately $583.0 million remains available for future repurchases under this
program, which includes prior authorizations of $300 million and the additional $500 million authorized on
November 29, 2007.
 

Effective June 26, 2007, the Company implemented a 1-for-100 reverse stock split (the “Reverse Split”)
immediately followed by a 100-for-1 forward stock split of the Company’s Common Stock (together with the
Reverse Split, the “Reverse/Forward Split”) by filing amendments to its Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware. For stockholders that held less than
100 shares of common stock prior to the Reverse Split, shares of common stock that would have been
converted into less than one share in the Reverse Split were instead converted into the right to receive a cash
payment equal to $8.44 per share, an amount equal to the average of the closing prices per share of common
stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market for the period of ten consecutive trading days ending on (and
including) the effective date. For stockholders that held 100 or more shares of common stock in their account
prior to the Reverse Split, any fractional share in such account resulting from the Reverse Split were not
cashed out and the total number of shares held by such stockholder did not change as a result of the
Reverse/Forward Split. A total of approximately 2.5 million shares of the Company’s common stock were
cashed out into an aggregate of approximately $21.0 million as a result of the Reverse/Forward Split.
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Critical Accounting Policies
 

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our
Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. The preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements requires us to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and
related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We evaluate, on an on-going basis, our estimates and
judgments, including those related to sales allowances, bad debts, excess inventory and purchase
commitments, investments, warranty obligations, stock-based compensation, restructuring costs, lease losses,
income taxes, and contingencies and litigation. We base our estimates on historical experience and
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
 

The methods, estimates and judgments we use in applying our most critical accounting policies have a
significant impact on the results that we report in our Consolidated Financial Statements. The SEC considers
an entity’s most critical accounting policies to be those policies that are both most important to the portrayal
of a company’s financial condition and results of operations, and those that require management’s most
difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about matters that
are inherently uncertain at the time of estimation. We believe the following critical accounting policies,
among others, require significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our Consolidated
Financial Statements:
 

 • Revenue recognition and allowances for sales allowances, sales programs and doubtful accounts;
 

 • Stock-based compensation;
 

 • Warranty reserves;
 

 • Inventory valuation and purchase commitment liabilities;
 

 • Restructuring charges and lease loss liabilities;
 

 • Goodwill and intangible assets;
 

 • Litigation costs; and
 

 • Accounting for income taxes.
 

Revenue recognition and allowances for sales allowances, sales programs and doubtful
accounts.  Product revenue is generally recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is probable. However, for newly
introduced products, many of our large OEM customers require a product qualification period during which
our products are tested and approved by the OEM customer for sale to their customers. Revenue recognition
and related cost, are deferred for shipments to new OEM customers and for shipments of newly introduced
products to existing OEM customers until satisfactory evidence of completion of the product qualification has
been received from the OEM customer. In addition, revenue from sales to our master reseller customers is
recognized in the same period in which the product is sold by the master reseller (sell-through).
 

We reduce revenue for estimated sales allowances, sales programs, and other allowances at the time of
shipment. Sales allowances, sales programs, and other allowances are estimated based on historical
experience, current trends and our expectations regarding future experience. Reductions to revenue associated
with sales allowances, sales programs, and other allowances include consideration of historical sales levels,
the timing and magnitude of historical sales returns, claims under sales programs, and other allowances, and a
projection of this experience into the future. In addition, we maintain allowances for doubtful accounts, which
are also accounted for as a reduction in revenue, for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our
customers to make required payments. We analyze accounts receivable, historical collection patterns,
customer concentrations, customer creditworthiness, current economic trends, changes in customer payment
terms and practices, and customer communication when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for
doubtful accounts. If actual sales returns, sales programs, and other allowances exceed our estimate, or if the
financial condition of our customers was to
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deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances and charges
may be required.
 

Service revenue consists of training and maintenance arrangements, including post-contract customer
support (“PCS”) and other professional services. PCS services are offered under renewable, annual fee-based
contracts or as part of multiple element arrangements and typically include upgrades and enhancements to our
software operating system software and telephone support. Revenue related to PCS elements is deferred and
recognized ratably over the contractual period. PCS contracts are typically one to three years in length.
Professional services are offered under fee based contracts or as part of multiple element arrangements.
Professional service revenue is recognized as delivery of the underlying service occurs. Training revenue is
recognized upon completion of the training.
 

Our multiple-element product offerings include computer hardware and software products and support
services. We also sell certain software products and support services separately. Our software products,
including those that are embedded in our hardware products and are essential to the functionality of our
hardware products and are, therefore, accounted for in accordance with Statement of Position 97-2, Software
Revenue Recognition (“SOP 97-2”), as amended. We allocate revenue to each element in a multiple element
arrangement based upon vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of the fair value of the element or, if
VSOE is not available for the delivered elements, by application of the residual method. In the application of
the residual method, we allocate revenue to the undelivered elements based on VSOE for those elements and
allocate the residual revenue to the delivered elements. VSOE of the fair value for an element is based upon
the price charged when the element is sold separately. Revenue allocated to each element is then recognized
when the basic revenue recognition criteria are met for each element. Changes in the allocation of revenue to
each element in a multiple element arrangement may affect the timing of revenue recognition.
 

Stock-Based Compensation.  Effective October 30, 2005 we began recording compensation expense
associated with stock-based awards and other forms of equity compensation in accordance with SFAS 123R.
We adopted the modified prospective transition method provided for under SFAS 123R. Under this transition
method, compensation cost associated with stock-based awards recognized for fiscal year 2007 and fiscal year
2006 now includes (1) quarterly amortization related to the remaining unvested portion of stock-based awards
granted prior to October 30, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original
provisions of SFAS 123; and (2) quarterly amortization related to stock-based awards granted subsequent to
October 30, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS 123R. In addition, we record expense over the offering period and vesting term in connection with
(1) shares issued under our employee stock purchase plan and (2) stock options and restricted stock awards.
The compensation expense for stock-based awards includes an estimate for forfeitures and is recognized over
the expected term of the award under a graded vesting method.
 

Prior to October 30, 2005, we accounted for stock-based awards using the intrinsic value method of
accounting in accordance with APB 25, whereby the difference between the exercise price and the fair market
value on the date of grant is recognized as compensation expense. Under the intrinsic value method of
accounting, no compensation expense was recognized in our Consolidated Statements of Income when the
exercise price of our employee stock option grant equals the market price of the underlying common stock on
the date of grant, and the measurement date of the option grant is certain. The measurement date is certain
when the date of grant is fixed and determinable. Prior to October 30, 2005 when the measurement date was
not certain, we recorded stock-based compensation expense using variable accounting under APB 25.
Effective October 30 2005, for awards where the measurement date is not certain, we record stock-based
compensation expense under SFAS 123R. Under SFAS 123R, we remeasure the intrinsic value of the options
at the end of each reporting period until the options are exercised, cancelled or expire unexercised.
 

Warranty reserves.  We provide warranties on our products ranging from one to three years. Estimated
future warranty costs are accrued at the time of shipment and charged to cost of revenues based upon
historical experience, current trends and our expectations regarding future experience. If actual warranty costs
exceed our estimate, additional charges may be required.
 

Inventory valuation and purchase commitment liabilities.  We write down inventory and record purchase
commitment liabilities for estimated excess and obsolete inventory equal to the difference between the cost of
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inventory and the estimated fair value based upon forecast of future product demand, product transition cycles
and market conditions. Although we strive to ensure the accuracy of our forecasts of future product demand,
any significant unanticipated changes in demand or technological developments could have a significant
impact on the value of our inventory and commitments, and our reported results. If actual market conditions
are less favorable than those projected, additional inventory write-downs, purchase commitment liabilities and
charges against earnings might be required.
 

Restructuring charges and lease loss liabilities.  We monitor and regularly evaluate our organizational
structure and associated operating expenses. Depending on events and circumstances, we may decide to take
additional actions to reduce future operating costs as our business requirements evolve. In determining
restructuring charges, we analyze our future operating requirements, including the required headcount by
business functions and facility space requirements. Our restructuring costs, and any resulting accruals, involve
significant estimates made by management using the best information available at the time the estimates are
made, some of which may be provided by third parties. In recording severance accruals, we record a liability
when all of the following conditions have been met: employees’ rights to receive compensation for future
absences is attributable to employees’ services already rendered; the obligation relates to rights that vest or
accumulate; payment of the compensation is probable; and the amount can be reasonably estimated. In
recording facilities lease loss accruals, we make various assumptions, including the time period over which
the facilities are expected to be vacant, expected sublease terms, expected sublease rates, anticipated future
operating expenses and expected future use of the facilities. Our estimates involve a number of risks and
uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control, including future real estate market conditions and our
ability to successfully enter into subleases or lease termination agreements with terms as favorable as those
assumed when arriving at our estimates. We regularly evaluate a number of factors to determine the
appropriateness and reasonableness of our restructuring and lease loss accruals including the various
assumptions noted above. If actual results differ significantly from our estimates, we may be required to
adjust our restructuring and lease loss accruals in the future.
 

Goodwill and intangible assets.  We account for goodwill in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”). SFAS 142 requires that
goodwill be capitalized at cost and tested annually for impairment. We evaluate goodwill on an annual basis
during our second fiscal quarter, or whenever events and changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying
amount exceeds the assets implied fair value. Events which might indicate impairment include, but are not
limited to, strategic decisions made in response to economic and competitive conditions, the impact of
economic environment on our customer base, material negative changes in relationships with significant
customers and/or a significant decline in our stock price for a sustained period. No goodwill impairment was
recorded for the periods presented.
 

Intangible assets other than goodwill are amortized over their useful lives, unless these lives are
determined to be indefinite. Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization
is computed over the estimated useful life of the respective asset. Intangible assets are reviewed for
impairment in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS 144”). We perform an impairment test for long-lived
assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be
recoverable. Examples of such events or circumstances include significant underperformance relative to
historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of use of acquired assets or
the strategy for our business, significant negative industry or economic trends and/or a significant decline in
the Company’s stock price for a sustained period. Impairments are recognized based on the difference
between the fair value of the asset and its carrying value, and fair value is generally measured based on
discounted cash flow analyses. No intangible asset impairment was recorded for the periods presented.
 

Litigation costs.  We are subject to the possibility of legal actions arising in the ordinary course of
business. We regularly monitor the status of pending legal actions to evaluate both the magnitude and
likelihood of any potential loss. We accrue for these potential losses when it is probable that a liability has
been incurred and the amount of loss, or possible range of loss, can be reasonably estimated. If actual results
differ significantly from our estimates, we may be required to adjust our accruals in the future.
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Accounting for income taxes.  We account for income taxes in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes (“FAS 109”). Under this method, income tax expense is recognized for the
amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
for the expected tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their reported amounts, along with net operating loss carryforwards and credit carryforwards. A valuation
allowance is recognized to the extent that it is more likely than not that the tax benefits will not be realized.
Income tax contingencies are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies
(“SFAS 5”).
 

The determination of our tax provision is subject to judgments and estimates due to operations in multiple
tax jurisdictions inside and outside the United States. Sales to our international customers are principally
taxed at rates that are lower than the United States statutory rates. The ability to maintain our current effective
tax rate is contingent upon existing tax laws in both the United States and in the respective countries in which
our international subsidiaries are located. Future changes in domestic or international tax laws could affect the
continued realization of the tax benefits we are currently receiving and expect to receive from international
sales. In addition, an increase in the percentage of our total revenue from international customers or in the mix
of international revenue among particular tax jurisdictions could change our overall effective tax rate. Also,
our current effective tax rate assumes that United States income taxes are not provided for undistributed
earnings of certain non-United States subsidiaries. These earnings could become subject to United States
federal and state income taxes and foreign withholding taxes, as applicable, should they be either deemed or
actually remitted from our international subsidiaries to the United States.
 

The carrying value of our net deferred tax assets is subject to a full valuation allowance with the
exception of non-U.S. stock option expense. At some point in the future, the Company may have sufficient
United States taxable income to release the valuation allowance. We evaluate the expected realization of our
deferred tax assets and assess the need for valuation allowances quarterly.
 

Recent accounting pronouncements
 

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes — An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 prescribes detailed guidance for
the financial statement recognition, measurement and disclosure of uncertain tax positions recognized in an
enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Tax
positions must meet a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold at the effective date to be recognized upon
the adoption of FIN 48 and in subsequent periods. FIN 48 will be effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006, and will be adopted by us in the first quarter of fiscal year 2008. The provisions of
FIN 48 will be applied to all tax positions upon initial adoption of the Interpretation. The cumulative effect of
applying the provisions of this Interpretation will be reported as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained earnings for that fiscal year. We are currently evaluating the impact of FIN 48 on our consolidated
financial statements and have not yet determined the impact.
 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measures” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), expands disclosures about fair value measurements, and applies under other accounting
pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 does not require any new fair
value measurements. However, the FASB anticipates that for some entities, the application of SFAS 157 will
change current practice. SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 157 will have a material impact on our financial
position, results of operations, and cash flows.
 

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities — including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115” (“SFAS 159”). Under
SFAS 159, a company may choose, at specified election dates, to measure eligible items at fair value and
report unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected in earnings at each
subsequent reporting date. SFAS 159 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. We are currently assessing the impact
that SFAS 159 may have on our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.
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In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (revised
2007), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141®”). SFAS 141® changes accounting for acquisitions that close
beginning in 2009. More transactions and events will qualify as business combinations and will be accounted
for at fair value under the new standard. SFAS 141® promotes greater use of fair values in financial reporting.
Some of the changes will introduce more volatility into earnings. SFAS 141R is effective for fiscal years
beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We are currently assessing the impact that SFAS 141R may have
on our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.
 

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 160,
“Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements” (“SFAS 160”), an amendment of ARB
No. 51. SFAS 160 will change the accounting and reporting for minority interests which will be
recharacterized as noncontrolling interests and classified as a component of equity. SFAS 160 is effective for
fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008. SFAS 160 requires retroactive adoption of the
presentation and disclosure requirements for existing minority interests. We are currently assessing the impact
that SFAS 160 may have on our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.
 

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates, foreign currency fluctuations and
equity security prices.
 

Interest Rate Risk
 

Our exposure to market risk due to changes in the general level of United States interest rates relates
primarily to our cash equivalents and short-term and long-term investment portfolios. Our cash, cash
equivalents, and short-term and long-term investments are primarily maintained at five major financial
institutions in the United States. As of October 27, 2007, we held an immaterial amount of cash flow
derivative instruments. The primary objective of our investment activities is the preservation of principal
while maximizing investment income and minimizing risk.
 

The following table presents the hypothetical changes in fair values of our investments as of October 27,
2007 that are sensitive to changes in interest rates (in thousands):
 
                             

  Valuation of Securities   Fair Value   Valuation of Securities  
  Given an Interest Rate   As of   Given an Interest Rate  
  Decrease of X Basis Points   October 27,   Increase of X Basis Points  
Issuer  (150 BPS)   (100 BPS)   (50 BPS)   2007   50 BPS   100 BPS   150 BPS  
 

U.S.
government
agencies and
municipal
obligations  $ 176,787  $ 173,677  $ 170,835  $ 168,223  $ 165,676  $ 163,311  $ 161,120 

Corporate
bonds and
notes  $ 286,504  $ 285,999  $ 285,508  $ 284,889  $ 283,984  $ 282,956  $ 281,938 

                             

Total  $ 463,291  $ 459,676  $ 456,343  $ 453,112  $ 449,660  $ 446,267  $ 443,058 
                             

 

These instruments are not leveraged and are classified as available-for-sale. The modeling technique used
measures the change in fair values arising from selected potential changes in interest rates. Market changes
reflect immediate hypothetical parallel shifts in the yield curve of plus or minus 50 basis points (BPS), 100
BPS and 150 BPS, which are representative of the historical movements in the Federal Funds Rate.
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The following table (in thousands) presents our cash equivalents, short-term, restricted short-term and
long-term investments subject to interest rate risk and their related weighted average interest rates as of
October 27, 2007. Carrying value approximates fair value.
 
         

     Weighted  
     Average  
  Amount   Interest Rate  

 

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 315,755   4.27%
Short-term investments   325,846   6.32%
Marketable equity securities   14,205   6.32%
Long-term investments   137,524   5.17%
         

Total  $ 793,330   5.31%
         

 

Our convertible subordinated debt is subject to a fixed interest rate and the notes are based on a fixed
conversion ratio into common stock. As of October 27, 2007, the approximate aggregate fair value of the
outstanding debt was between $166.2 and $163.6. We estimated the fair value of the outstanding debt by using
the high and low prices per $100 of the Company’s 2.25% Notes as of the last day of trading for the fourth
fiscal quarter, which were $96.4 and $94.8, respectively.
 

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “BRCD.” On
October 26, 2007, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market was $9.05
per share.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.:
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Brocade Communications Systems,
Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006, and the related
consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each
of the years in the three-year period ended October 27, 2007. In connection with our audits of the
consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the financial statement schedule as listed in
Item 15(a)(2). These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.
 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. and subsidiaries as of October 27,
2007 and October 28, 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended October 27, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein.
 

As discussed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payments, applying the modified
prospective method at the beginning of the year ended October 28, 2006.
 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of October 27, 2007, based
on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated December 20, 2007 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

 

  /s/  KPMG LLP
 

Mountain View, California
December 20, 2007
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 27,   October 28,   October 29,  
  2007   2006   2005  
  (In thousands, except per share amounts)  

 

Net revenues             
Product  $ 1,076,529  $ 692,940  $ 536,834 
Service   160,334   57,652   37,286 

             

Total Net revenues   1,236,863   750,592   574,120 
Cost of revenues             

Product   470,977   269,430   228,488 
Service   104,474   35,754   22,673 

             

Total Cost of revenues   575,451   305,184   251,161 
             

Gross margin   661,412   445,408   322,959 
Operating expenses:             

Research and development   213,311   164,843   132,448 
Sales and marketing   211,168   139,434   101,202 
General and administrative   46,980   31,089   25,189 
Legal fees associated with indemnification obligations,

SEC investigation and other related costs, net   46,257   13,654   14,027 
Provision for SEC settlement   —   7,000   — 
Amortization of intangible assets   24,719   2,294   — 
Acquisition and integration costs   19,354   9,646   — 
Restructuring and facilities lease losses, net   —   3,775   (670)
In-process research and development   —   —   7,784 

             

Total operating expenses   561,789   371,735   279,980 
             

Income from operations   99,623   73,673   42,979 
Interest and other income, net   38,501   29,098   22,656 
Interest expense   (6,414)   (7,082)   (7,693)
Gain on repurchases of convertible subordinated debt   —   —   2,318 
Gain (loss) on investments, net   13,205   2,663   (5,062)
             

Income before provision for income taxes   144,915   98,352   55,198 
Income tax provision   68,043   30,723   12,077 
             

Net income  $ 76,872  $ 67,629  $ 43,121 
             

Net income per share — basic  $ 0.21  $ 0.25  $ 0.16 
             

Net income per share — diluted  $ 0.21  $ 0.25  $ 0.16 
             

Shares used in per share calculation — basic   362,070   269,602   268,176 
             

Shares used in per share calculation — diluted   377,558   274,142   270,260 
             

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 
         

  October 27,   October 28,  
  2007   2006  
  (In thousands,  
  except par value)  

 

ASSETS
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 315,755  $ 274,368 
Short-term investments   325,846   267,694 

         

Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments   641,601   542,062 
Marketable equity securities   14,205   — 
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $6,505 and $4,842 in 2007 and

2006, respectively   175,755   98,394 
Inventories   18,017   8,968 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   62,622   43,365 

         

Total current assets   912,200   692,789 
Long-term investments   137,524   40,492 
Property and equipment, net   204,052   104,299 
Goodwill   384,376   41,013 
Intangible assets, net   272,652   15,465 
Other assets   19,296   6,660 
         

Total assets  $ 1,930,100  $ 900,718 
         

 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:         
Accounts payable  $ 108,810  $ 56,741 
Accrued employee compensation   76,017   62,842 
Deferred revenue   94,533   52,051 
Current liabilities associated with lease losses   12,807   4,931 
Other accrued liabilities   117,534   87,991 

         

Total current liabilities   409,701   264,556 
Convertible subordinated debt   167,498   — 
Non-current liabilities associated with lease losses   25,742   11,105 
Non-current liabilities — deferred taxes   22,781   — 
Non-current deferred revenue   36,344   8,827 
Other non-current liabilities   1,376   — 
         

Total liabilities   663,442   284,488 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)         

Stockholders’ equity:         
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value 5,000 shares authorized, no shares

issued and outstanding   —   — 
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 800,000 shares authorized:         
Issued and outstanding: 387,406 and 272,141 shares at October 27, 2007

and October 28, 2006, respectively   387   272 
Additional paid-in capital   1,462,782   888,978 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (1,180)   (817)
Accumulated deficit   (195,331)   (272,203)
         

Total stockholders’ equity   1,266,658   616,230 
         

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 1,930,100  $ 900,718 
         

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 
                                 

              Accumulated          
        Additional   Deferred   Other      Total     
  Common Stock   Paid-In   Stock   Comprehensive  Accumulated  Stockholders’  Comprehensive 
  Shares   Amount  Capital   Compensation  Income   Deficit   Equity   Income  
  (In thousands)  

 

Balances at October 30, 2004   264,242   264   832,655   (5,174)   860   (382,953)   445,652     
                                 

Issuance of common stock   6,665   7   30,032   —   —   —   30,039   — 
Repurchase and retirement of

common stock   (62)   —   (326)   —   —   —   (326)   — 
Common stock repurchase program   (1,150)   (1)   (7,049)   —   —   —   (7,050)   — 
Tax benefits from employee stock

option transactions   —   —   2,571   —   —   —   2,571   — 
Change in deferred stock

compensation   —   —   (4,231)   4,231   —   —   —   — 
Deferred stock compensation

related to restricted stock grants
and Therion acquisition   —   —   1,911   (1,622)   —   —   289   — 

Amortization of deferred stock
compensation   —   —   —   (615)   —   —   (615)   — 

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
marketable equity securities and
investments, net of tax   —   —   —   —   (4,270)   —   (4,270)   (4,270)

Change in cumulative translation
adjustments   —   —   —   —   (564)   —   (564)   (564)

Net income   —   —   —   —   —   43,121   43,121   43,121 
                                 

Balances at October 29, 2005   269,695  $ 270  $ 855,563  $ (3,180)  $ (3,974)  $ (339,832)  $ 508,847  $ 38,287 
                                 

Issuance of common stock   9,644   10   34,266   —   —   —   34,276   — 
Repurchase and retirement of

common stock   (421)   —   (3,328)   —   —   —   (3,328)   — 
Common stock repurchase program   (6,777)   (8)   (40,200)   —   —   —   (40,208)   — 
Tax benefits from employee stock

option transactions   —   —   15,792   —   —   —   15,792   — 
Stock-based compensation   —   —   30,065   —   —   —   30,065   — 
Elimination of deferred stock

compensation upon adoption of
SFAS 123R   —   —   (3,180)   3,180   —   —   —   — 

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
marketable equity securities and
investments, net of tax   —   —   —   —   3,037   —   3,037   3,037 

Change in cumulative translation
adjustments   —   —   —   —   120   —   120   120 

Net income   —   —   —   —   —   67,629   67,629   67,629 
                                 

Balances at October 28, 2006   272,141  $ 272  $ 888,978  $ —  $ (817)  $ (272,203)  $ 616,230  $ 70,786 
                                 

Issuance of common stock   18,807   19   100,473   —   —   —   100,492   — 
Repurchase and retirement of

common stock   (36)   —   —   —   —   —   —   — 
Common stock repurchase program   (22,298)   (23)   (191,307)   —   —   —   (191,330)   — 
Issuance of common stock for

McDATA acquisition   118,792   119   627,774   —   —   —   627,893   — 
Tax benefits from employee stock

option transactions   —   —   (77)   —   —   —   (77)   — 
Stock-based compensation   —   —   36,941   —   —   —   36,941   — 
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on

marketable equity securities and
investments, net of tax   —   —   —   —   (243)   —   (243)   (243)

Change in cumulative translation
adjustments   —   —   —   —   (120)   —   (120)   (120)

Net income   —   —   —   —   —   76,872   76,872   76,872 
                                 

Balances at October 27, 2007   387,406  $ 387  $ 1,462,782  $ —  $ (1,180)  $ (195,331)  $ 1,266,658  $ 76,509 
                                 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 27,   October 28,   October 29,  
  2007   2006   2005  
  (In thousands)  

 

Cash flows from operating activities:             
Net income (loss)  $ 76,872  $ 67,629  $ 43,121 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:             
Excess tax benefit (provision) from employee stock plans   77   (15,792)   2,571 
Depreciation and amortization   101,416   34,731   46,203 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment   1,213   438   1,879 
Amortization of debt issuance costs   —   1,430   1,366 
Net (gains) losses on investments and marketable equity securities   (11,694)   (2,685)   5,178 
Gain on repurchases of convertible subordinated debt   —   —   (2,318)
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable and sales allowances   5,401   3,526   2,955 
Provision for SEC settlement   —   7,000   — 
Non-cash compensation expense   36,942   31,407   377 
In-process research and development   —   —   7,784 
Non-cash facilities lease loss expense and restructuring   —   3,775   (670)
Changes in assets and liabilities:             

Accounts receivable   27,414   (31,244)   21,312 
Inventories   3,481   2,062   (5,433)
Prepaid expenses and other assets   3,523   (19,839)   (245)
Accounts payable   10,075   32,963   (17,117)
Accrued employee compensation   (37,473)   25,080   4,432 
Deferred revenue   17,162   15,390   10,602 
Other accrued liabilities and long term debt   (55,967)   15,858   9,113 
Liabilities associated with lease losses   (8,039)   (4,869)   (5,245)

             

Net cash provided by operating activities   170,403   166,860   125,865 
             

Cash flows from investing activities:             
Purchases of short-term investments   (571,357)   (325,884)   (254,642)
Purchases of long-term investments   (200,239)   (40,267)   (202,764)
Purchases of marketable equity securities   (15,930)   —   — 
Proceeds from maturities and sale of short-term investments   764,939   363,873   618,063 
Proceeds from maturities and sale of long-term investments   12,614   —   178,428 
Proceeds from sale of marketable equity securities and equity investments   11,694   10,185   — 
Purchases of property and equipment   (56,538)   (30,430)   (27,267)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment   1,336   —   — 
Purchases of non-marketable minority equity investments   (5,000)   (4,575)   (3,498)
Proceeds (purchases) from the maturities of restricted short-term investments   —   281,414   (275,995)
Net cash acquired (paid) in connection with acquisitions   139,703   (52,829)   (7,185)
Increase in restricted cash   12,422   —   — 
Cash placed in escrow in connection with acquisition of NuView   —   (7,058)   — 
             

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   93,644   194,429   25,140 
             

Cash flows from financing activities:             
Payments on capital lease obligations   (735)   —   — 
Purchases of convertible subordinated debt   —   —   (70,485)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net   100,638   34,255   29,720 
Common stock repurchase program   (191,293)   (40,206)   (7,050)
Termination of interest swap   (4,989)   —   — 
Redemption of outstanding convertible debt   (124,185)   (278,883)   — 
Excess tax benefit from employee stock plans   (77)   15,792   — 
             

Net cash used in financing activities   (220,641)   (269,042)   (47,815)
             

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents   (2,019)   120   (564)
             

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   41,387   92,367   102,626 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   274,368   182,001   79,375 
             

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 315,755  $ 274,368  $ 182,001 
             

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:             
Cash paid for interest  $ 3,882  $ 8,916  $ 8,195 

             

Cash paid for income taxes  $ 17,800  $ 12,911  $ 3,193 
             

Supplemental schedule of non-cash transactions:             
Adjustment of deferred tax assets and liabilities  $ 22,781  $ —  $ — 
Issuance of common stock for McDATA acquisition  $ 627,893  $ —  $ — 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

1.  Organization and Operations of Brocade
 

Brocade is the leading supplier of storage area network equipment and a leading provider of data center
networking solutions that help enterprises connect and manage their information. The Company offers a
comprehensive line of data center networking products, software and services that enable businesses to make
their data centers more efficient, reliable and adaptable.
 

Brocade products and services are designed to help information technology (“IT”) organizations manage
their data assets in an efficient, cost-effective manner. The Brocade family of Storage Area Network (“SAN”)
infrastructure products and solutions includes directors, switches, routers, embedded switches for blade
servers, fabric-based software applications, as well as management applications and utilities to centralize data
management. The Brocade family of File Area Network (“FAN”) solutions includes software offerings for
more effectively managing file data and storage resources. Brocade also offers services that assist customers
with consulting and support in designing, implementing, deploying and managing data center enterprise
solutions. Together, Brocade’s products and services simplify IT infrastructure, increase resource utilization,
ensure availability of mission critical applications and serve as a platform for corporate data back up and
disaster recovery.
 

Brocade products and services are marketed, sold and supported worldwide to end-user customers
through distribution partners, including original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), distributors, systems
integrators, value-added resellers and by Brocade directly.
 

Brocade was reincorporated as a Delaware corporation on May 14, 1999, succeeding operations that
began in California on August 24, 1995. The Company’s headquarters are located in San Jose, California.
 

Brocade®, the Brocade B-wing logoTM , Fabric OS®, File Lifecycle Manager®, My View®, Secure
Fabric OS® and StorageX® are registered trademarks of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc., in the
United States and/or in other countries. All other brands, products, or service names identified are or may be
trademarks or service marks of, and are used to identify, products or services of their respective owners.
 

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 

Fiscal Year
 

The Company’s fiscal year is the 52 or 53 weeks ending on the last Saturday in October. As is customary
for companies that use the 52/53-week convention, every fifth year contains a 53-week year. Fiscal years
2007, 2006 and 2005 were 52-week fiscal years. Fiscal year 2004 was a 53-week fiscal year. The second
quarter of fiscal year 2004 consisted of 14 weeks, which is one week more than a typical quarter.
 

Principles of Consolidation
 

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Brocade Communication Systems, Inc.
and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
 

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original or remaining maturity of three
months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

 

Investments and Equity Securities
 

Investment securities with original or remaining maturities of more than three months but less than one
year are considered short-term investments. Investment securities with original or remaining maturities of one
year or more are considered long-term investments. Short-term and long-term investments consist of auction
rate securities, debt securities issued by United States government agencies, municipal government
obligations and corporate bonds and notes.
 

Short-term and long-term investments are maintained at five major financial institutions, are classified as
available-for-sale and are recorded on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value. Fair value
is determined using quoted market prices for those securities. Unrealized holding gains and losses are
included as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income on the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets, net of any related tax effect. Realized gains and losses are calculated based on
the specific identification method and are included in interest and other income, net, on the Consolidated
Statements of Income.
 

The Company recognizes an impairment charge when the declines in the fair values of its investments
below the cost basis are judged to be other-than-temporary. The Company considers various factors in
determining whether to recognize an impairment charge, including the length of time and extent to which the
fair value has been less than the Company’s cost basis, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the
investee and the Company’s intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow
for any anticipated recovery in market value.
 

Equity securities consist of equity holdings in public companies and are classified as available-for-sale
when there are no restrictions on the Company’s ability to immediately liquidate such securities. Marketable
equity securities are recorded on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value. Fair value is
determined using quoted market prices for those securities. Unrealized holding gains and losses are included
as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income on the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets, net of any related tax effect. Realized gains and losses are calculated based on the specific
identification method and are included in interest and other income, net on the Consolidated Statements of
Income.
 

From time to time the Company makes equity investments in non-publicly traded companies. These
investments are included in other assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets and are generally
accounted for under the cost method as the Company does not have the ability to exercise significant
influence over the respective company’s operating and financial policies nor does it have a liquidation
preference that is substantive. The Company monitors its investments for impairment on a quarterly basis and
makes appropriate reductions in carrying values when such impairments are determined to be
other-than-temporary. Impairment charges are included in interest and other income, net on the Consolidated
Statements of Income. Factors used in determining an impairment include, but are not limited to, the current
business environment including competition and uncertainty of financial condition; going concern
considerations such as the rate at which the investee company utilizes cash and the investee company’s ability
to obtain additional private financing to fulfill its stated business plan; the need for changes to the investee
company’s existing business model due to changing business environments and its ability to successfully
implement necessary changes; and comparable valuations. If an investment is determined to be impaired, a
determination is made as to whether such impairment is other-than-temporary. As of October 27, 2007 and
October 28, 2006, the carrying values of the Company’s equity investments in non-publicly traded companies
were $5.0 million and $0.8 million, respectively.
 

On February 13, 2007, one of the non-publicly traded entities that the Company has an equity investment
in, completed its initial public offering (“IPO”). Subject to the agreement, there was a lockup period not to
exceed 180 days following the effective date of the registration statement filed under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), during which the Company could not sell or otherwise transfer any
securities. As of October 27, 2007, the Company has sold all 735,293 shares of stock for a total of
$11.7 million. The carrying value
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

 

of the investment immediately before the disposal was zero. The initial investment was impaired in two
installments in October 2001 and January 2003.
 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 

The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, employee notes receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, approximate cost because of
their short maturities. The fair value of investments and marketable equity securities is determined using
quoted market prices for those securities or similar financial instruments. The fair value of convertible
subordinated debt is determined using the high and low price on the market for the convertible debt.
 

Inventories
 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, using the first-in, first-out method. Inventory costs
include material, labor and overhead. The Company records inventory write-downs based on excess and
obsolete inventories determined primarily by future demand forecast. A portion of our inventory is located
offsite at our customer’s hubs and contract manufacturers’ locations.
 

Property and Equipment
 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Estimated useful lives of
four years are used for computer equipment, software, furniture and fixtures, except for the Company’s
enterprise-wide, integrated business information system, which is being depreciated over five to seven years.
Estimated useful lives of up to four years are used for engineering and other equipment. Estimated useful
lives of thirty years is used for buildings. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line
method over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the remaining term of the lease.
 

Accrued Employee Compensation
 

Accrued employee compensation consists of accrued wages, commissions, bonuses, payroll taxes,
vacation, payroll deductions for the Company’s employee stock purchase plan and other employee benefit
payroll deductions.
 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
 

The Company accounts for goodwill in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). SFAS 142 requires that goodwill be
capitalized at cost and tested annually for impairment. The Company evaluates goodwill on an annual basis
during its second fiscal quarter, or whenever events and changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying
amount exceeds the asset’s implied fair value. Events which might indicate impairment include, but are not
limited to, strategic decisions made in response to economic and competitive conditions, the impact of
economic environment on the Company’s customer base, material negative changes in relationships with
significant customers and/or a significant decline in the Company’s stock price for a sustained period.
 

For purposes of SFAS 142, the goodwill test for impairment is conducted at the reporting unit level. To
determine the reporting unit’s fair value, the Company utilized the income valuation approach as well as the
market valuation approach in the current year valuation. The income approach provides an estimation of the
fair value of the Company based on the cash flows that the Company can be expected to generate over its
remaining life. The market approach provides an estimate of the fair value of the Company by comparing it to
publicly traded companies in similar lines of business. No goodwill impairment was recorded for the periods
presented.
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Intangible assets other than goodwill are amortized over their estimated useful lives, unless these lives are
determined to be indefinite. Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization
is recognized over the estimated useful life of the respective asset. Intangible assets are reviewed for
impairment in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”). The Company performs an impairment test for
long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets
may not be recoverable. Examples of such events or circumstances include significant underperformance
relative to historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of use of acquired
assets or the strategy for the Company’s business, significant negative industry or economic trends and/or a
significant decline in the Company’s stock price for a sustained period. Impairments are recognized based on
the difference between the fair value of the asset and its carrying value, and fair value is generally measured
based on discounted cash flow analyses. No intangible asset impairment was recorded for the periods
presented.
 

Concentrations
 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist
primarily of cash, cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments, and accounts receivable. Cash,
cash equivalents and short-term and long-term investments are primarily maintained at five major financial
institutions in the United States. Deposits held with banks may be redeemed upon demand and may exceed
the amount of insurance provided on such deposits. The Company principally invests in United States
government debt securities, United States government agency debt securities and corporate bonds and notes,
and limits the amount of credit exposure to any one entity.
 

A majority of the Company’s trade receivable balance is derived from sales to OEM partners in the
computer storage and server industry. As of October 27, 2007, three customers each accounted for 21 percent,
17 percent and 13 percent of total accounts receivable. As of October 28, 2006, two customers each accounted
for 44 percent and 21 percent of total accounts receivable. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations
of its customers and generally does not require collateral on accounts receivable balances. The Company has
established reserves for credit losses, sales allowances, and other allowances. While the Company has not
experienced material credit losses in any of the periods presented, there can be no assurance that the Company
will not experience material credit losses in the future.
 

For the fiscal years ended October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005, three customers
each represented ten percent or more of the Company’s total revenues for combined totals of 68 percent ,
73 percent and 71 percent of total revenues, respectively. The level of sales to any one of these customers
may vary, and the loss of, or a decrease in the level of sales to, any one of these customers could seriously
harm the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.
 

The Company currently relies on single and limited supply sources for several key components used in
the manufacture of its products. Additionally, the Company relies on one contract manufacturer for a
significant portion of the production of its products. The inability of any single and limited source suppliers or
the inability of a contract manufacturer to fulfill supply and production requirements, respectively, could have
a material adverse effect on the Company’s future operating results.
 

The Company’s business is concentrated in the SAN industry, which from time to time has been
impacted by unfavorable economic conditions and reduced information technology (“IT”) spending rates.
Accordingly, the Company’s future success depends upon the buying patterns of customers in the SAN
industry, their response to current and future IT investment trends and the continued demand by such
customers for the Company’s products. The Company’s future success, in part, will depend upon its ability to
enhance its existing products and to develop and introduce, on a timely basis, new cost-effective products and
features that keep pace with technological developments and emerging industry standards.
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Revenue Recognition
 

Product revenue.  Product revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is probable. However, for newly
introduced products, many of the Company’s large OEM customers require a product qualification period
during which the Company’s products are tested and approved by the OEM customer for sale to its customers.
Revenue recognition, and related cost, is deferred for shipments to new OEM customers and for shipments of
newly introduced products to existing OEM customers until satisfactory evidence of completion of the
product qualification has been received from the OEM customer. Revenue from sales to the Company’s
master reseller customers is recognized in the same period in which the product is actually sold by the master
reseller (sell-through).
 

The Company reduces revenue for estimated sales allowances, sales programs, and other allowances at
the time of shipment. Sales allowances, sales programs, and other allowances are estimated based upon
historical experience, current trends and the Company’s expectations regarding future experience. In addition,
the Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts, which are also accounted for as a reduction in
revenue. The allowance for doubtful accounts is estimated based upon analysis of accounts receivable,
historical collection patterns, customer concentrations, customer creditworthiness, current economic trends
and changes in customer payment terms and practices.
 

Service revenue.  Service revenue consists of training and maintenance arrangements, including
post-contract customer support (“PCS”) and other professional services. PCS services are offered under
renewable, annual fee-based contracts or as part of multiple element arrangements and typically include
upgrades and enhancements to our software operating system software and telephone support. Revenue
related to PCS elements is deferred and recognized ratably over the contractual period. PCS contracts are
typically one to three years in length. Professional services are offered under fee based contracts or as part of
multiple element arrangements. Professional service revenue is recognized when services are completed.
Training revenue is recognized upon completion of the training.
 

Multiple-element arrangements.  The Company’s multiple-element product offerings include computer
hardware and software products and support services. The Company also sells certain software products and
support services separately. The Company’s software products are essential to the functionality of its
hardware products and are, therefore, accounted for in accordance with Statement of Position 97-2, “Software
Revenue Recognition” (“SOP 97-2”), as amended. The Company allocates revenue to each element in a
multiple element arrangement based upon vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of the fair value of
the element or, if VSOE is not available for the delivered element, by application of the residual method. In
the application of the residual method, the Company allocates revenue to the undelivered elements based on
VSOE for those elements and allocates the residual revenue to the delivered elements. VSOE of the fair value
for an element is based upon the price charged when the element is sold separately. Revenue allocated to each
element is then recognized when the basic revenue recognition criteria are met for each element.
 

Warranty Expense
 

The Company provides warranties on its products ranging from one to three years. Estimated future
warranty costs are accrued based upon historical experience at the time of shipment and charged to cost of
revenues.
 

Foreign Currency
 

The financial statements of the Company’s international subsidiaries have been translated into
U.S. dollars. Assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at period-end exchange rates. Income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates during the period. The resulting translation adjustments
are included in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets in the stockholders’ equity section as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss.
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The Company is exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates because some
sales transactions, and the assets and liabilities of its foreign subsidiaries, are denominated in foreign
currencies. The Company uses forward exchange contracts to address the risk of certain currency fluctuations.
See Note 10, Derivative Accounting Policies. For amounts not associated with forward contracts, gains and
losses from transactions denominated in foreign currencies are included in the Company’s net income (loss)
as part of interest and other income in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. The Company
recognized foreign currency transaction gains and (losses) of $2.2 million, $(0.1) million and $0.3 million for
the years ended October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005, respectively.
 

Software Development Costs
 

Eligible software development costs are capitalized upon the establishment of technological feasibility in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed.” Technological feasibility is defined as
completion of designing, coding and testing activities. Total eligible software development costs have not
been material to date.
 

Costs related to internally developed software and software purchased for internal use are capitalized in
accordance with Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for Costs of Computer Software Developed or
Obtained for Internal Use.” During the year ended October 28, 2000, the Company purchased an
enterprise-wide, integrated business information system. Subsequently, the business information system was
upgraded during fiscal years 2006 and 2007. As of October 27, 2007, a net book value of $10.3 million
related to the purchase and subsequent implementation and upgrade of this system was included in property
and equipment. These costs are being depreciated over the initial estimated useful life of five to seven years.
 

Advertising Costs
 

The Company expenses all advertising costs as incurred. Advertising costs were immaterial for the years
ended October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005.
 

Income Taxes
 

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes” (“FAS 109”). Under this method, income tax expense is recognized for the amount of taxes
payable or refundable for the current year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected
tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported
amounts, along with net operating loss carryforwards and credit carryforwards. A valuation allowance is
recognized to the extent that it is more likely than not that the tax benefits will not be realized. Income tax
contingencies are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies” (“SFAS 5”).
 

Computation of Net Income per Share
 

Basic net income per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding during the period, less shares subject to repurchase. Diluted net income (loss) per share is
computed using the weighted-average number of common shares and dilutive potential common shares
outstanding during the period. Dilutive potential common shares result from the assumed exercise of
outstanding stock options, by application of the treasury stock method, that have a dilutive effect on earnings
per share, and from the assumed conversion of outstanding convertible debt if it has a dilutive effect on
earnings per share.
 

Stock-Based Compensation
 

Effective October 30, 2005, the Company began recording compensation expense associated with
stock-based awards and other forms of equity compensation in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards
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No. 123-R, “Share-Based Payment”, (“SFAS 123R”) as interpreted by SEC Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 107. The Company adopted the modified prospective transition method provided for under
SFAS 123R, and consequently has no retroactively adjusted results from prior periods. Under this transition
method, compensation cost associated with stock-based awards recognized beginning in the first quarter of
fiscal year 2006 includes (1) amortization related to the remaining unvested portion of stock-based awards
granted prior to October 30, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation”, (“SFAS 123”); and (2) amortization related to stock-based awards, stock options and
restricted stock, granted subsequent to October 30, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. In addition, the Company records expense over the offering
period and vesting term in connection with shares issued under its employee stock purchase plan. The
compensation expense for stock-based awards includes an estimate for forfeitures and is recognized over the
expected term of the award under an accelerated vesting method.
 

Prior to October 30, 2005, the Company accounted for stock-based awards using the intrinsic value
method of accounting in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”), whereby the difference between the exercise price and the fair
market value on the date of grant is recognized as compensation expense. Under the intrinsic value method of
accounting, no compensation expense was recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income
when the exercise price of the Company’s employee stock option grant equals the market price of the
underlying common stock on the date of grant, and the measurement date of the option grant is certain. The
measurement date is certain when the date of grant is fixed and determinable. Prior to October 30, 2005, when
the measurement date was not certain, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense using
variable accounting under APB 25. From May 1999 through July 2003, the Company granted 98.8 million
options that were subject to variable accounting under APB 25 because the measurement date of the options
granted was not certain.
 

On November 10, 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Staff Position
No. FAS 123R-3, “Transition Election Related to Accounting for tax Effects of Share-Based Payment
Awards” (“FAS 123R-3”). The Company has elected to adopt the alternative transition method provided in
the FASB Staff Position for calculating the tax effects of equity-based compensation pursuant to SFAS 123R.
The alternative transition method includes simplified methods to establish the beginning balance of the
Additional Paid-In Capital Pool (“APIC Pool”) related to the tax effects of employee equity-based
compensation, and to determine the subsequent impact on the APIC Pool and Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows of the tax effects of employee equity-based compensation awards that were outstanding upon the
implementation of SFAS 123R.
 

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements
 

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes. Estimates are used for,
but not limited to, the useful lives of fixed assets, allowances for doubtful accounts and sales returns,
inventory and warranty reserves, facilities lease losses and other charges, fixed asset and investment
impairment charges, accrued liabilities and other reserves, taxes, and contingencies. Actual results could
differ materially from these estimates.
 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes — An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 prescribes detailed guidance for
the financial statement recognition, measurement and disclosure of uncertain tax positions recognized in an
enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Tax
positions must meet a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold at the effective date to be recognized upon
the adoption of FIN 48 and in subsequent periods. FIN 48 will be effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006, and will be adopted
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by us in the first quarter of fiscal year 2008. The provisions of FIN 48 will be applied to all tax positions upon
initial adoption of the Interpretation. The cumulative effect of applying the provisions of this Interpretation
will be reported as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings for that fiscal year. We are
currently evaluating the impact of FIN 48 on our consolidated financial statements and have not yet
determined the impact.
 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measures” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), expands disclosures about fair value measurements, and applies under other accounting
pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 does not require any new fair
value measurements. However, the FASB anticipates that for some entities, the application of SFAS 157 will
change current practice. SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 157 will have a material impact on our financial
position, results of operations, and cash flows.
 

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities — including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115” (“SFAS 159”). Under
SFAS 159, a company may choose, at specified election dates, to measure eligible items at fair value and
report unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected in earnings at each
subsequent reporting date. SFAS 159 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. We are currently assessing the impact
that SFAS 159 may have on our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.
 

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (revised
2007), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141®”). SFAS 141® changes accounting for acquisitions that close
beginning in 2009. More transactions and events will qualify as business combinations and will be accounted
for at fair value under the new standard. SFAS 141® promotes greater use of fair values in financial reporting.
Some of the changes will introduce more volatility into earnings. SFAS 141R is effective for fiscal years
beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We are currently assessing the impact that SFAS 141 ® may have
on our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.
 

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 160,
“Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements” (“SFAS 160”), an amendment of ARB
No. 51. SFAS 160 will change the accounting and reporting for minority interests which will be
recharacterized as noncontrolling interests and classified as a component of equity. SFAS 160 is effective for
fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008. SFAS 160 requires retroactive adoption of the
presentation and disclosure requirements for existing minority interests. We are currently assessing the impact
that SFAS 160 may have on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
 

Reclassifications
 

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year balances in order to conform to the current year
presentation. For fiscal year 2005, engineering costs related to the ongoing maintenance of existing products
was reclassified from research and development to cost of revenues in order to conform to the presentation of
fiscal year 2007 and fiscal year 2006.
 

3.  Acquisitions
 

McDATA Corporation
 

On January 29, 2007, the Company completed its acquisition of McDATA Corporation by the merger of
Worldcup Merger Corporation (“Merger Sub”), a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, with and into McDATA, in accordance with the Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as
of August 7, 2006, as amended, by and among the Company, Merger Sub and McDATA, which is hereafter
referred to
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as the Merger Agreement. As a result of the Merger, McDATA is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. McDATA provides storage networking and data infrastructure solutions.
 

Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, each outstanding share of Class A and Class B common
stock of McDATA was converted into the right to receive 0.75 shares of the Company’s common stock.
Additionally, each outstanding option to purchase McDATA Class A or Class B common stock was assumed
by the Company and now represents an option to acquire shares of common stock of the Company, subject to
the applicable conversion ratio, on the terms and conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement. Based on
Brocade’s closing stock price on January 26, 2007, the transaction was valued at approximately
$658.9 million.
 

The results of operations of McDATA are included in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of
Income from the date of the acquisition. The Company considers the acquisition of McDATA to be material
to its results of operations and therefore is presenting pro forma financial information for the fiscal years
ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006.
 

The following unaudited pro forma information presents a summary of the results of operations of the
Company assuming the acquisition of McDATA occurred at the beginning of each of the periods presented.
The pro forma financial information (in thousands) , except per share information, is presented for
informational purposes only and is not indicative of the results of operations that would have been achieved if
the merger had taken place at the beginning of each of the periods presented, nor is it indicative of future
operating results:
 
         

  Year Ended  
  October 27,   October 28,  
  2007(1)   2006(2)  

 

Total revenue  $ 1,392,952  $ 1,406,884 
Pretax income (loss)   105,732   (22,734)
Net income (loss)   37,220   (53,189)
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.10  $ (0.14)
 

 

(1) The pro forma financial results for the year ended October 27, 2007 include Brocade’s historical results
for the twelve months ended October 27, 2007 and McDATA’s historical results for the three months
ended October 31, 2006, including amortization related to fair value adjustments based on the fair
values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed and deferred compensation recognized as of the
McDATA acquisition date of January 29, 2007.

 

(3) The pro forma financial results for the year ended October 28, 2006 include Brocade’s historical twelve
months ended October 28, 2006 and McDATA’s historical three months ended January 31, 2006 and
nine months ended October 31, 2006, including amortization related to fair value adjustments based on
the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed and deferred compensation recognized as of the
McDATA acquisition date of January 29, 2007.

 

The total purchase price was $658.9 million. The purchase price included direct acquisition costs of
$23.4 million.
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In connection with this acquisition, the Company allocated the total purchase consideration to the net
assets and liabilities acquired, including identifiable intangible assets, based on their respective fair values at
the acquisition date, resulting in initial goodwill of approximately $370.3 million which is not expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes. The following table summarizes the initial allocation of the purchase
price based on the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed (in thousands):
 
     

Assets acquired:     
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 147,407 
Short term investments   78,315 
Accounts receivable, net   108,426 
Inventory, net   12,559 
Fixed assets, net   90,015 
Identifiable intangible assets     

Tradename   10,341 
Core/Developed technology   147,191 
Customer relationships   157,501 

Deferred tax assets   127,651 
Goodwill   370,296 
Other assets   112,887 
     

Total assets acquired   1,362,589 
Liabilities assumed:     

Deferred tax liabilities   127,651 
Debt assumed   282,050 
Other liabilities   293,971 
Total liabilities assumed   703,672 

     

Net assets acquired  $ 658,917 
     

 

During the year ended October 27, 2007, the Company determined it was appropriate to record certain
adjustments to the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired from McDATA. See Note 4, Goodwill and
Intangible Assets, for details.
 

Silverback Systems, Inc.
 

On January 5, 2007, the Company completed its acquisition of Silverback Systems, Inc. (“Silverback”), a
privately held provider of network acceleration technology headquartered in Campbell, California. This
acquisition further enables the Company to provide communications solutions for SAN networks.
 

The results of operations of Silverback are included in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of
Income from the date of the acquisition. The Company does not consider the acquisition of Silverback to be
material to its results of operations and therefore is not presenting pro forma financial information of
operations for the years ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006.
 

The total purchase price was $7.8 million, consisting of $4.5 million cash consideration and $3.3 million
related to cash settlement of debt assumed. Of the $4.5 million cash consideration, $1.2 million will be held in
escrow for a period of 18 months from the transaction date and will be released subject to certain
contingencies. In addition, the Company paid direct acquisition costs of $0.4 million.
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In connection with this acquisition, the Company allocated the total purchase consideration to the net
assets and liabilities acquired, including identifiable intangible assets, based on their respective fair values at
the acquisition date, resulting in goodwill of approximately $8.3 million which is not expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes. The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to
the estimated fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired (in thousands):
 
     

Assets acquired     
Cash  $ 98 
Accounts receivable   172 
Identifiable intangible assets     

Tradename   100 
Core/Developed technology   590 
Customer relationships   400 
Non-compete agreements   370 
Backlog   80 

Goodwill   8,345 
Other assets   1,644 
     

Total assets acquired   11,799 
Liabilities assumed     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   3,995 
     

Total liabilities assumed   3,995 
     

Net assets acquired  $ 7,804 
     

 

NuView, Inc.
 

On March 6, 2006, the Company completed its acquisition of NuView, Inc. (“NuView”), a privately held
software developer based in Houston, Texas. The acquisition expands the Company’s product offerings to
include software solutions that extend the benefits of shared storage architectures to file data environments.
 

The results of operations of NuView are included in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Income from the date of the acquisition. The Company does not consider the acquisition of NuView to be
material to its results of operations and therefore is not presenting pro forma financial information.
 

The total purchase price was $60.5 million, consisting of $59.9 million cash consideration for all
outstanding capital stock and vested options and direct acquisition costs of $0.6 million. Of the $59.9 million
cash consideration, $32.0 million was being held in escrow for a period of 15 months from the transaction
date. In August 2006, $25.0 million and in June 2007, $7.0 million, were released from the NuView
acquisition-related escrow fund as the conditions of its release were deemed to have been satisfied.
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In connection with this acquisition, the Company allocated the total purchase consideration to the net
assets and liabilities acquired, including identifiable intangible assets, based on their respective fair values at
the acquisition date, resulting in goodwill of approximately $41.0 million which is not expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes. The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to
the estimated fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired (in thousands):
 
     

Assets acquired     
Cash  $ 130 
Accounts receivable   1,947 
Identifiable intangible assets Tradename   932 

Core/Developed technology   7,896 
Customer relationships   8,931 

Goodwill   41,013 
Other assets   114 

     

Total assets acquired   60,963 
Liabilities assumed     

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   230 
Deferred revenue   220 

     

Total liabilities acquired   450 
     

Net assets acquired  $ 60,513 
     

 

Additionally, for the year ended October 27, 2007, the Company recorded total acquisition-related
retention and bonus compensation expense of $7.2 million. Of that amount, $3.2 million was related to the
acquisition of McDATA in January 2007, $2.8 million was related to the acquisition of NuView, Inc. in
March 2006 and $1.2 million was related to the acquisition of Silverback in January 2007. For the year ended
October 28, 2006, the Company recorded acquisition related bonus compensation expense of $6.4 million. No
other acquisition-related compensation expense has been recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the periods presented.
 

Therion Software Corporation
 

On May 3, 2005, the Company completed its acquisition of Therion Software Corporation (“Therion”), a
privately held developer of software management solutions for the automated provisioning of servers over a
storage network based in Redmond, Washington. As of the acquisition date the Company owned
approximately 13% of Therion’s equity interest through investments totaling $1.0 million. Therion was a
development stage company with no recognized revenue and a core technology that had not yet reached
technological feasibility. Accordingly, the acquisition of Therion was accounted for as an asset purchase.
 

The results of operations of Therion are included in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Income from the date of the acquisition. The Company does not consider the acquisition of Therion to be
material to its results of operations and therefore is not presenting pro forma financial information.
 

The total purchase price was $12.1 million, consisting of $9.3 million cash consideration for Therion’s
preferred and common stock holders, assumed stock options valued at $1.7 million, the Company’s initial
investment of $1.0 million and direct acquisition cost of $0.1 million. Of the $9.3 million cash consideration,
the Company paid $7.3 million upon closing the transaction and recorded the remaining liability of
$2.0 million to be paid over the next eighteen months. The fair value of the assumed stock options was
determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. In connection with this acquisition, the Company
recorded a $7.8 million in-process research and development charge and allocated the remaining purchase
price to net assets of $2.9 million, deferred stock compensation of $1.5 million and net liabilities of
$0.1 million, based on estimated fair values.
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4.  Goodwill and Intangible Assets
 

The Company’s carrying value of goodwill as of October 27, 2007 consisted of the following (in
thousands):
 
     

Balance at October 28, 2006  $ 41,013 
Silverback acquisition   8,408 
McDATA acquisition(1)   334,955 
     

Balance at October 27, 2007  $ 384,376 
     

 

 

(1) There is an allocation period, following the consummation of a business combination, during which a
Company may be able to make adjustments to the fair values of assets and liabilities acquired. During
the year ended October 27, 2007, the Company recorded the following adjustments to the fair value of
assets and liabilities acquired from McDATA:

 
     

Balance at April 28, 2007  $ 370,296 
Adjustments related to inventory purchase commitments   2,594 
Adjustment related to tax liabilities, net   (45,084)
Fair value adjustment related to debt assumed   6,038 
Other adjustments   1,111 

     

Balance at October 27, 2007  $ 334,955 
     

 

The Company amortizes intangible assets over a useful life ranging from 6 months to 7 years.
 

Intangible assets as of October 27, 2007 consisted of the following (in thousands):
 
             

  Gross      Net  
  Carrying   Accumulated   Carrying  
  Value   Amortization   Value  

 

Tradename  $ 11,373  $ 3,089  $ 8,284 
Core/Developed technology   154,454   34,929   119,525 
Customer relationships   167,011   22,317   144,694 
Non-compete agreements   371   222   149 
Backlog   80   80   — 
             

Total intangible assets  $ 333,289  $ 60,637  $ 272,652 
             

 

Intangible assets as of October 28, 2006 consisted of the following (in thousands):
 
             

  Gross      Net  
  Carrying   Accumulated   Carrying  
  Value   Amortization   Value  

 

Tradename  $ 932  $ 120  $ 812 
Core/Developed technology   7,896   1,020   6,876 
Customer relationships   8,931   1,154   7,777 
             

Total intangible assets  $ 17,759  $ 2,294  $ 15,465 
             

 

The Company had no unamortized intangible assets as of October 29, 2005.
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For the year ended October 28, 2006, total amortization expense related to intangible assets was
$2.3 million. For the year ended October 27, 2007, total amortization expense related to intangible assets of
$34.0 million is included in cost of revenues and $24.7 million is included in operating expenses in the
Consolidated Statement of Income. The following table presents the estimated future amortization of
intangible assets (in thousands):
 
     

  Future  
  Estimated  
Fiscal Years  Amortization  
 

2008   67,775 
2009   64,600 
2010   51,748 
2011   41,748 
2012   28,393 
2013   16,070 
2014   2,318 
     

Total  $ 272,652 
     

 

5.  Liabilities Associated with Facilities Lease Losses
 

During the three months ended October 27, 2001, the Company recorded a charge of $39.8 million
related to estimated facilities lease losses, net of expected sublease income, and a charge of $5.7 million in
connection with the estimated impairment of certain related leasehold improvements. These charges
represented the low-end of an estimated range of $39.8 million to $63.0 million and have been adjusted upon
the occurrence of certain triggering events.
 

During the three months ended July 27, 2002, the Company completed a transaction to sublease a portion
of these vacant facilities. Accordingly, based on then current market data, the Company revised certain
estimates and assumptions, including those related to estimated sublease rates, estimated time to sublease the
facilities, expected future operating costs and expected future use of the facilities. The Company reevaluates
its estimates and assumptions on a quarterly basis and makes adjustments to the reserve balance if necessary.
 

In November 2003, the Company purchased a previously leased building. In addition, the Company
consolidated the engineering organization and development, test and interoperability laboratories into the
purchased facilities and vacated other existing leased facilities. As a result, the Company recorded
adjustments to the facilities lease loss reserve recorded in fiscal year 2001 described above and recorded
additional reserves in connection with the facilities consolidation.
 

During the three months ended April 29, 2006, the Company recorded a charge of $3.8 million related to
estimated facilities lease losses, net of expected sublease income. This charge represented an estimate based
on current market data. As a result, the Company revised certain estimates and assumptions, including those
related to estimated sublease rates, estimated time to sublease the facilities, expected future operating costs
and expected future use of the facilities.
 

During the three months ended January 27, 2007, the Company recorded a charge of $0.6 million related
to estimated lease losses, net of expected sublease income as a result of the acquisition of Silverback Systems,
Inc. During the three months ended April 28, 2007, the Company recorded a purchase accounting adjustment
of $26.3 million related to estimated losses, net of expected sublease income, as a result of the acquisition of
McDATA Corporation. During the three months ended October 27, 2007, the Company recorded an
additional purchase accounting adjustment of $3.6 million to estimated facility lease losses, net of expected
sublease income. The Company reevaluates its estimates and assumptions on a quarterly basis and makes
adjustments to the reserve balance if necessary.
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The following table summarizes the activity related to the facilities lease loss reserve, net of expected
sublease income (in thousands):
 
     

  Lease Loss  
  Reserve  

 

Reserve balances at October 30, 2004   22,476 
Cash payments on facilities leases   (5,202)
Non-cash charges and other adjustments, net   (134)
     

Reserve balances at October 29, 2005   17,140 
     

Additional reserve booked as a result of second quarter 2006 current market data   3,775 
Cash payments on facilities leases   (4,765)
Non-cash charges and other adjustments, net   (114)
     

Reserve balances at October 28, 2006  $ 16,036 
     

Additional reserve booked as a result of acquisitions in first and second quarters in 2007 and
adjustment in fourth quarter 2007   30,642 

Cash payments on facilities leases   (8,207)
Non-cash charges and other adjustments, net   78 
     

Reserve balances at October 27, 2007  $ 38,549 
     

 

Cash payments for leases related to the above noted facilities lease losses will be paid over the respective
lease terms through fiscal year 2017.
 

6.  Balance Sheet Details
 

The following tables provide details of selected balance sheet items (in thousands):
 
         

  October 27,   October 28,  
  2007   2006  

 

Inventories:         
Raw materials  $ 11,860  $ 82 
Finished goods   6,157   8,886 

         

Total  $ 18,017  $ 8,968 
         

Property and equipment, net:         
Computer equipment and software  $ 102,643  $ 73,421 
Engineering and other equipment   182,640   144,530 
Furniture and fixtures   11,152   4,360 
Leasehold improvements   56,052   43,519 
Land and building   79,523   30,000 

         

Subtotal   432,010   295,830 
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (227,958)   (191,531)

         

Total  $ 204,052  $ 104,299 
         

71

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, December 21, 2007



Table of Contents

 

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

 

Leasehold improvements as of October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006, are shown net of estimated asset
impairments related to facilities lease losses. See Note 5, “Liabilities associated with Facilities Lease Losses,”
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
 
         

  October 27,   October 28,  
  2007   2006  

 

Other accrued liabilities:         
Income taxes payable  $ 46,739  $ 39,076 
Accrued warranty   5,923   2,230 
Inventory purchase commitments   23,176   6,104 
Accrued sales programs   11,245   12,051 
Other   30,451   28,530 

         

Total  $ 117,534  $ 87,991 
         

 

7.  Investments and Equity Securities
 

The following tables summarize the Company’s investments and equity securities (in thousands):
 
                 

     Gross   Gross     
  Amortized   Unrealized  Unrealized   Fair  
  Cost   Gains   Losses   Value  

 

October 27, 2007                 
U.S. government and its agencies and municipal

obligations  $ 168,064  $ 175  $ (17)  $ 168,222 
Corporate bonds and notes   284,711   702   (524)   284,889 
Marketable equity securities   26,189   —   (1,725)   24,464 
                 

Total  $ 478,964  $ 877  $ (2,266)  $ 477,575 
                 

Reported as:                 
Short-term investments              $ 340,051 
Long-term investments               137,524 

                 

Total              $ 477,575 
                 

October 28, 2006                 
U.S. government and its agencies and municipal

obligations  $ 124,105  $ 5  $ (556)  $ 123,554 
Corporate bonds and notes   185,183   32   (583)   184,632 
                 

Total  $ 309,288  $ 37  $ (1,139)  $ 308,186 
                 

Reported as:                 
Short-term investments              $ 267,694 
Long-term investments               40,492 

                 

Total              $ 308,186 
                 

 

For the year ended October 27, 2007, a gain of $13.2 million was realized on the sale of marketable
equity securities. For the year ended October 28, 2006, no gains were realized on the sale of investments or
marketable equity securities. For the year ended October 29, 2005, gross realized losses on sales of
marketable equity securities were $5.2 million primarily associated with the defeasance of the indenture
agreement related to the Company’s
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2% Convertible Notes. At October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006, net unrealized holding losses of
$1.4 million and $1.1 million, respectively, were included in accumulated other comprehensive income in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
 

The following table provides the breakdown of the investments with unrealized losses at October 27,
2007 and October 28, 2006 (in thousands):
 
                         

  Less Than 12 Months   12 Months or Longer   Total  
     Gross      Gross      Gross  
     Unrealized      Unrealized     Unrealized  
  Fair Value   Losses   Fair Value   Losses   Fair Value   Losses  

 

October 27, 2007                         
U.S. government and its

agencies and municipal
obligations  $ 19,884  $ (17)  $ —  $ —  $ 19,884  $ (17)

Corporate bonds and notes   95,249   (380)   27,390   (144)   122,639   (524)
Marketable Equity

Securities   14,205   (1,725)   —   —   14,205   (1,725)
                         

Total  $ 129,338  $ (2,122)  $ 27,390  $ (144)  $ 156,728  $ (2,266)
                         

 
                         

  Less Than 12 Months   12 Months or Longer   Total  
     Gross      Gross      Gross  
     Unrealized     Unrealized     Unrealized  
  Fair Value   Losses   Fair Value   Losses   Fair Value   Losses  

 

October 28, 2006                         
U.S. government and its

agencies and municipal
obligations  $ 69,016  $ (427)  $ 14,635  $ (130)  $ 83,651  $ (557)

Corporate bonds and notes   112,769   (446)   18,208   (136)   130,977   (582)
                         

Total  $ 181,785  $ (873)  $ 32,843  $ (266)  $ 214,628  $ (1,139)
                         

 

The gross unrealized losses related to fixed income securities were due to changes in interest rates. The
Company’s management has determined that the gross unrealized losses on its investment securities at
October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006 are temporary in nature. The Company reviews its investments to
identify and evaluate investments that have indications of possible impairment. Factors considered in
determining whether a loss is temporary include the length of time and extent to which fair value has been
less than the cost basis, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the investee and the Company’s
intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in
market value. Substantially all of the Company’s fixed income securities are rated investment grade or better.
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The following table summarizes the maturities of the Company’s investments in debt securities issued by
United States government agencies, municipal government obligations and corporate bonds and notes as of
October 27, 2007 (in thousands):
 
         

  Amortized     
  Cost   Fair Value  

 

Less than one year  $ 315,819  $ 315,588 
Due in 1 — 2 years   103,287   103,619 
Due in 2 — 3 years   33,669   33,905 
         

Total  $ 452,775  $ 453,112 
         

 

8.  Convertible Subordinated Debt
 

On December 21, 2001 and January 10, 2002, the Company sold, in private placements pursuant to
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, an aggregate of $550 million in principal amount, two
percent convertible subordinated notes due January 2007 (the “2% Notes”). The initial purchasers purchased
the 2% Notes from the Company at a discount of 2.25 percent of the aggregate principal amount.
 

During fiscal years 2004 and 2005, the Company repurchased on the open market $73.4 million and
$90.7 million in face value of its 2% Notes, respectively. For the year ended October 30, 2004, the Company
paid an average of $0.93 for each dollar of face value for an aggregate purchase price of $84.4 million, which
resulted in a pre-tax gain of $5.6 million. For the year ended October 29, 2005, the Company paid an average
of $0.96 for each dollar of face value for an aggregate purchase price of $70.5 million, which resulted in a
pre-tax gain of $2.3 million. As of October 29, 2005, the remaining balance outstanding of the 2% Notes was
$278.9 million.
 

On August 23, 2005, in accordance with the terms of the indenture agreement dated December 21, 2001
with respect to the 2% Notes, the Company elected to deposit securities with the trustee of the Notes (the
“Trustee”), which fully collateralized the outstanding notes, and to discharge the indenture agreement.
Pursuant to this election, the Company provided an irrevocable letter of instruction to the Trustee to issue a
notice of redemption on June 26, 2006 and to redeem the Notes on August 22, 2006 (the “Redemption Date”).
Over the course of fiscal year 2006, the Trustee, using the securities deposited with them, paid to the
noteholders (1) all the interest scheduled to become due per the original note prior to the Redemption Date
and (2) all the principal and remaining interest, plus a call premium of 0.4% of the face value of the
2% Notes, on the Redemption Date. As of October 29, 2005, the Company had an aggregate of
$277.2 million in interest-bearing U.S. securities with the Trustee. The securities remained on the Company’s
balance sheet as restricted short-term investments until the Redemption Date. The Company recorded a loss
on investments of $4.7 million in the three months ended October 29, 2005 with respect to the disposition of
certain short-term and long-term investments that was necessary to deposit the securities with the Trustee.
 

The 2% Notes were not listed on any securities exchange or included in any automated quotation system,
however, the notes were eligible for trading on the PortalSM  Market. On October 29, 2005, the average bid
and ask price on the Portal Market of the notes was 97.9, resulting in an aggregate fair value of approximately
$273.2 million.
 

The 2% Notes were redeemed on August 22, 2006 as contemplated by the irrevocable letter of instruction
to the Trustee. As of October 28, 2006, there was no remaining balance outstanding of the convertible
subordinated debt.
 

On January 29, 2007, effective upon the consummation of the merger, the Company fully and
unconditionally guaranteed and became a co-obligor on the 2.25% Notes with McDATA (“the
2.25% Notes”). The 2.25% Notes were convertible into Class A common stock at a conversion rate of
93.3986 shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes (aggregate of approximately 16.1 million shares) at any
time prior to February 15, 2010, subject to
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adjustments. As of October 27, 2007, the approximate aggregate fair value of the outstanding debt was
between $166.2 million and $163.6 million. We estimated the fair value of the outstanding debt by using the
high and low prices per $100 of the Company’s 2.25% Notes as of the last day of trading for the fourth fiscal
2007 quarter, which were $96.4 and $94.8, respectively.
 

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the merger each outstanding share of the
McDATA’s Class A common stock, $0.01 part value per share, was converted into the right to receive
0.75 shares of Brocade’s common stock, $0.001 par value per share, together with cash in lieu of fractional
shares. As a result of the conversion, an approximate aggregate of 12.1 million shares are subject to
conversion at any time prior to February 15, 2010, subject to adjustments.
 

As of October 27, 2007, convertible subordinated debt includes $172.5 million outstanding 2.25%
convertible subordinated notes due February 15, 2010 previously issued by McDATA. In accordance with
purchase accounting rules, the Notes were adjusted to their aggregate fair value of $165.9 million based on
the quoted market closing price as of the acquisition date.
 

Concurrent with the issuance of the 2.25% Notes, McDATA entered into share option transactions using
approximately $20.5 million of net proceeds. As part of these share option transactions, McDATA purchased
options that cover approximately 12.1 million shares of common stock, at a strike price of $14.28. McDATA
also sold options that cover approximately 12.7 million shares of common stock, at a strike price of $20.11.
The net cost of the share option transactions was recorded against additional paid-in-capital in accordance
with EITF No. 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled
in, a Company’s own Stock” (“EITF 00-19”).
 

Prior to the merger, McDATA entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of
$155.3 million that had the economic effect of modifying that dollar portion of the fixed interest obligations
associated with the 2.25% Notes so that the interest payable effectively became variable based on the six —
month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) minus 152 basis points. The reset dates of the swap were
February 15 and August 15 of each year until maturity on February 15, 2010. On July 24, 2007, the Company
settled the interest rate swap and accrued interest related to the debt and paid $7.4 million.
 

In addition, effective upon the consummation of the merger with McDATA, the Company fully and
unconditionally guaranteed and became a co-obligor, in the $122.4 million outstanding 3.00% convertible
subordinated notes (the “3% Notes”) due February 15, 2007, previously issued by Computer Network
Technology, Inc. (“CNT”) and assumed on June 1, 2005 by McDATA, upon McDATA’s acquisition of CNT.
On February 15, 2007, the Company paid the remaining balance due on the 3.00% Notes and also paid
$1.4 million to settle the related swap agreement.
 

9.  Commitments and Contingencies
 

Operating and Capital Leases
 

The Company leases its facilities and certain equipment under various operating and capital lease
agreements expiring through January 2017. In connection with its facilities lease agreements, the Company
has signed unconditional, irrevocable letters of credit totaling $2.7 million as security for the leases. Future
minimum lease payments under all non-cancelable operating leases as of October 27, 2007 were
$116.8 million, net of contractual sublease income of $7.9 million, which consist of $2.8 million to be
received in less than 1 year, $5.0 million to be received in 1 through 3 years and $0.1 million to be received in
3 to 5 years. In addition to base rent, many of the facilities lease agreements require that the Company pay a
proportional share of the respective facilities’ operating expenses.
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Future lease payments under all non-cancelable operating leases, excluding the contractual sublease
income stated above, at October 27, 2007 were as follows (in thousands):
 
     

  Operating  
Fiscal Year Ended October  Leases  
 

2008  $ 25,838 
2009   24,503 
2010   21,261 
2011   8,194 
Thereafter   37,015 
     

Total minimum lease payments  $ 116,811 
     

 

As of October 27, 2007, the Company had recorded $38.5 million in facilities lease loss reserves related
to future lease commitments, net of expected sublease income (see Note 5, “Liabilities Associated with
Facilities Lease Losses” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
 

Product Warranties
 

The Company provides warranties on its products ranging from one to three years. Estimated future
warranty costs are accrued at the time of shipment and charged to cost of revenues based upon historical
experience. The Company’s accrued liability for estimated future warranty costs is included in other accrued
liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company accrued warranty expenses of
approximately $8.4 million for the year ended October 27, 2007, of which $5.8 million was due to the
McDATA acquisition. The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company’s accrued liability
for estimated future warranty costs during the years ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006 (in
thousands):
 
     

  Accrued  
  Warranty  

 

Balance at October 29, 2005  $ 1,746 
Liabilities accrued   1,865 
Claims paid   (559)
Changes in liability for pre-existing warranties   (822)
     

Balance at October 28, 2006  $ 2,230 
     

Liabilities accrued   8,360 
Claims paid   (3,724)
Changes in liability for pre-existing warranties   (943)
     

Balance at October 27, 2007  $ 5,923 
     

 

In addition, the Company has standard indemnification clauses contained within its various customer
contracts. As such, the Company indemnifies the parties to whom it sells its products with respect to the
Company’s product infringing upon any patents, trademarks, copyrights, or trade secrets, as well as against
bodily injury or damage to real or tangible personal property caused by a defective Company product. As of
October 27, 2007, there have been no known events or circumstances that have resulted in a customer
contract related indemnification liability to the Company.
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Manufacturing and Purchase Commitments
 

The Company has manufacturing agreements with Hon Hai Precision Industry Co. (“Foxconn”), SCI —
Sanmina (“Sanmina”) and Solectron Corporation (“Solectron”) (recently acquired by Flextronics International
Ltd.) under which the Company provides twelve-month product forecasts and places purchase orders in
advance of the scheduled delivery of products to the Company’s customers. The required lead-time for
placing orders with Foxconn, Sanmina and Solectron depends on the specific product. As of October 27,
2007, the Company’s aggregate commitment to Foxconn, Sanmina and Solectron for inventory components
used in the manufacture of Brocade products was $107.8 million, net of purchase commitment reserves of
$23.1 million, which the Company expects to utilize during future normal ongoing operations. The
Company’s purchase orders placed with Foxconn, Sanmina and Solectron are cancelable, however if
cancelled, the agreements require the Company to purchase all inventory components not returnable, usable
by, or sold to, other customers of the aforementioned contract manufacturers. The Company’s purchase
commitments reserve reflects the Company’s estimate of purchase commitments it does not expect to
consume in normal operations.
 

Legal Proceedings
 

From time to time, claims are made against Brocade in the ordinary course of its business, which could
result in litigation. Claims and associated litigation are subject to inherent uncertainties and unfavorable
outcomes could occur, such as monetary damages, fines, penalties or injunctions prohibiting Brocade from
selling one or more products or engaging in other activities. The occurrence of an unfavorable outcome in any
specific period could have a material adverse affect on the Company’s results of operations for that period or
future periods.
 

On July 20, 2001, the first of a number of putative class actions for violations of the federal securities
laws was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against Brocade,
certain of its officers and directors, and certain of the underwriters for Brocade’s initial public offering of
securities. A consolidated amended class action captioned In Re Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, No. 01 Civ. 6613 was filed on April 19, 2002. The initial
complaint generally alleges that various underwriters engaged in improper and undisclosed activities related
to the allocation of shares in Brocade’s initial public offering and seeks unspecified damages for claims under
the Exchange Act on behalf of a purported class of purchasers of common stock from May 24, 1999 to
December 6, 2000. The lawsuit against Brocade is coordinated for pretrial proceedings with a number of other
pending litigations challenging underwriter practices in over 300 cases as In Re Initial Public Offering
Securities Litigation, 21 MC 92(SAS).
 

Also part of these coordinated proceedings are actions against McDATA Corporation, certain of its
officers and directors and the underwriters for McDATA’s initial public offering of securities, No. 01 Civ.
6627, and Inrange Technologies Corporation (which was first acquired by CNT and subsequently acquired by
McDATA as part of the CNT acquisition), certain of its officers and directors and the underwriters for
Inrange’s initial public offering of securities, No. 01 Civ. 10800. The complaints in these actions asserted
claims under the Securities Act and Exchange Act. In October 2002, the individual defendants in the Brocade,
McDATA and Inrange actions were dismissed without prejudice from the action, pursuant to a tolling
agreement.
 

On February 19, 2003, the Court issued an Opinion and Order dismissing all of the plaintiffs’ claims
against Brocade and some but not all of the claims against McDATA and Inrange. In June 2004, a stipulation
of settlement and release of claims against the issuer defendants, including Brocade, McDATA and Inrange,
was submitted to the Court for approval. On August 31, 2005, the Court granted preliminary approval of the
settlement. In December 2006, the appellate Court overturned the certification of classes in the six test cases
that were selected by the underwriter defendants and plaintiffs in the coordinated proceeding. Neither
Brocade, McDATA, nor Inrange is a test case. On June 25, 2007, the Court entered an order terminating the
proposed settlement based upon a stipulation among the parties to the settlement. Plaintiffs have filed
amended master allegations and amended complaints in the six test cases, which the defendants in those cases
have moved to dismiss. It is uncertain whether there will be any
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revised or future settlement. If the litigation proceeds, the Company believes that it has meritorious defenses
to plaintiffs’ claims and intends to defend the action vigorously.
 

Beginning on or about May 19, 2005, several securities class action complaints were filed against
Brocade and certain of its then current and former officers. These actions were filed in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of California on behalf of purchasers of Brocade’s stock from
February 21, 2001 to May 15, 2005. These lawsuits followed and relate to Brocade’s restatement of certain
financial results due to stock-based compensation accounting issues. On January 12, 2006, the Court
appointed a lead plaintiff and lead counsel. On April 14, 2006, the lead plaintiff filed a consolidated
complaint on behalf of purchasers of Brocade’s stock from May 18, 2000 to May 15, 2005. On November 3,
2006, the Court denied Brocade’s motion to dismiss the consolidated complaint and granted certain individual
defendants’ motions to dismiss the consolidated complaint with leave to amend. On January 2, 2007, the lead
plaintiffs filed an amended consolidated complaint on behalf of purchasers of Brocade’s stock from May 18,
2000 to May 15, 2005. The amended consolidated complaint names the Company and certain of its former
officers and directors and alleges, among other things, violations of sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange
Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. The amended consolidated complaint alleges, among other
things, that Brocade and the individual defendants made false or misleading public statements regarding
Brocade’s business and operations and seeks unspecified monetary damages and other relief against the
defendants. On January 29, 2007, Brocade filed its answer to the amended consolidated complaint. On
August 7, 2007, a federal jury convicted Brocade’s former Chief Executive Officer, Gregory Reyes, on ten
criminal counts related to the Company’s historical stock option practices. On August 27, 2007, the Court
denied certain individual defendants’ motion to dismiss the amended consolidated complaint. On October 12,
2007 the Court granted lead plaintiffs’ motion for class certification and certified a class in this action
consisting of all persons and entities who purchased or otherwise acquired the securities of Brocade between
May 18, 2000 to May 15, 2005, inclusive, and who were damaged thereby. The Court also partially granted
plaintiffs’ motion for partial summary judgment against Mr. Reyes, who is a defendant in this action,
prohibiting him from re-litigating in this class action the jury’s finding from Mr. Reyes’ criminal case that he
knowingly and willfully made material misrepresentations in Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
2001, 2002 and 2003. On December 5, 2007, a federal jury convicted Brocade’s former human resources
director, Stephanie Jensen, on two criminal counts related to the Company’s historical stock option practices.
(Ms. Jensen is not a defendant in the class action.) No trial date has been set for the class action. Brocade
believes it is probable that the ultimate resolution of this class action lawsuit will result in a payment to the
class in an amount that is material to the Company; however, such amount is not yet reasonably estimable.
 

Beginning on or about May 24, 2005, several derivative actions were also filed against certain of
Brocade’s current and former officers and directors. These actions were filed in the United States District
Court for the Northern District of California and in the California Superior Court in Santa Clara County. The
complaints allege, among other things, that certain of Brocade’s officers and directors breached their fiduciary
duties to Brocade by engaging in alleged wrongful conduct including conduct complained of in the securities
litigation described above. Brocade is named solely as a nominal defendant against whom the plaintiffs seek
no monetary recovery (other than the award of attorneys’ fees). The derivative actions pending in the District
Court for the Northern District of California were consolidated and the Court created a Lead Counsel
structure. The derivative plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint in the District Court for the Northern
District of California on October 7, 2005, and Brocade filed a motion to dismiss that action on October 27,
2005. On January 6, 2006, Brocade’s motion was granted and the consolidated complaint in the District Court
for the Northern District of California was dismissed with leave to amend. The parties to this action
subsequently reached a preliminary settlement, and on February 14, 2007, the Court entered an Order granting
preliminary approval of the settlement. On April 27, 2007 the Court refused to grant final approval of the
settlement at that time and set a further hearing on the settlement.
 

The derivative actions pending in the Superior Court in Santa Clara County were also consolidated. The
derivative plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint on September 19, 2005. Brocade filed a motion to stay that
action in deference to the substantially identical consolidated derivative action pending in the District Court
for the
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Northern District of California, and on November 15, 2005, the Court stayed the action. In October 2006, the
Court partially lifted the stay and granted plaintiffs leave to file an amended complaint. On November 13,
2006, plaintiffs filed an amended complaint, and Brocade filed a demurrer to the action on March 9, 2007
and, on September 4, 2007, a motion to dismiss due to plaintiffs’ lack of standing.
 

On October 23, 2007, a class action complaint was filed against Brocade and certain of its former officers
and current and former directors. This action was filed in the California Superior Court in Santa Clara County
on behalf of individuals who owned Brocade stock between February 21, 2001 and May 16, 2005. The
complaint generally alleges that Brocade and the individual defendants breached the duty of disclosure by
failing to disclose alleged wrongful conduct including conduct complained of in the securities litigation
described above and seeks unspecified monetary damages and other relief against the defendants. On
November 26, 2007, this action was removed from state court to the United States District Court for the
Northern District of California. On November 28, 2007, Brocade filed a motion seeking to have this action
deemed “related” to the consolidated federal securities class action described above. On December 3, 2007,
Brocade filed a motion to dismiss the action in its entirety on the ground that it is preempted by the Securities
Litigation Uniform Standards Act of 1998.
 

No liabilities have been accrued in Brocade’s Consolidated Financial Statements associated with these
matters as the amounts are not both probable and reasonably estimable, other than the $7.0 million estimated
settlement payment to the SEC in connection with Brocade’s historical stock option granting processes.
Brocade’s settlement with the SEC received final Court approval on August 27, 2007 and the $7.0 million
settlement amount was released to the SEC.
 

Legal fees associated with indemnification obligations, defense, and other related costs
 

Pursuant to the Company’s charter documents and indemnification agreements, the Company has certain
indemnification obligations to its officers, directors, and certain former officers and directors. Pursuant to
such obligations, the Company has incurred substantial expenses related to legal fees and expenses advanced
to certain former officers of the Company who are subject to pending criminal and/or civil charges by the
SEC and other governmental agencies in connection with Brocade’s historical stock option grant practices.
The Company has also incurred substantial expenses related to legal fees and expenses advanced to certain
current and former officers and directors who are defendants in the civil actions described above. The
Company has incurred similar expenses on behalf of current and former employees, officers, and directors
who are witnesses in the civil and criminal matters described above. The Company expenses such amounts as
incurred.
 

10.  Derivative Accounting Policies
 

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates and the
exchange rates associated with foreign currencies. The derivatives entered into by the Company qualify for,
and are designated as, fair value hedges and foreign-currency cash flow hedges as per the definitions in
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities, as amended and interpreted, incorporating FASB Statements No. 137, 138 and 149 (“SFAS 133”).
 

The derivatives are recognized on the consolidated balance sheets at their respective fair values.
Unrealized gain positions are recorded as other current assets. Unrealized loss positions are recorded as other
liabilities or other non-current liabilities. Changes in fair values of outstanding cash flow hedges that are
highly effective as per the definition in SFAS 133 are recorded in other comprehensive income, until earnings
are affected by the variability of cash flows of the underlying hedged transaction. In most cases amounts
recorded in other comprehensive income will be released to earnings at maturity of the related derivative. The
recognition of effective hedge results offsets the gains or losses on the underlying exposure. Cash flows from
derivative transactions are classified according to the nature of the risk being hedged.
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The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as
well as the risk-management objective and strategy for undertaking hedge transactions. This documentation
includes linking all derivatives either to specific assets and liabilities on the balance sheet or specific firm
commitments or forecasted transactions. The Company also formally assesses both at the hedge’s inception
and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions have been highly
effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of hedged items and whether those derivatives may be
expected to remain highly effective in future periods. When it is determined that a derivative is not, or has
ceased to be, highly effective as a hedge, the Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively, as
discussed below.
 

The Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when (1) the derivative is no longer highly
effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of a hedged item (including hedged items such as firm
commitments or forecasted transactions); (2) the derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised; (3) it
is no longer probable that the forecasted transaction will occur; or (4) management determines that
designating the derivative as a hedging instrument is no longer appropriate.
 

When the Company discontinues hedge accounting but it continues to be probable that the forecasted
transaction will occur in the originally expected period, the gain or loss on the derivative remains in
accumulated other comprehensive income and is reclassified into earnings when the forecasted transaction
affects earnings. However, if it is no longer probable that a forecasted transaction will occur by the end of the
originally specified time period or within an additional two-month period of time thereafter, the gains and
losses that were accumulated in other comprehensive income will be recognized immediately in earnings. In
all situations in which hedge accounting is discontinued and the derivative remains outstanding, the Company
will carry the derivative at its fair value on the consolidated balance sheets until maturity, recognizing future
changes in the fair value in current-period earnings. Any hedge ineffectiveness is recorded in current-period
earnings in other expense (income), net. Effectiveness is assessed based on the comparison of current forward
rates to the rates established on the Company’s hedges.
 

The Company assumed two interest rate swaps as part of the McDATA acquisition to address interest
rate market risk exposure of the two debt agreements assumed. On February 15, 2007, the Company paid
approximately $1.4 million to settle its interest rate swap agreement associated with the debt purchased from
CNT in conjunction with the payment of the underlying debt. On July 24, 2007, the Company paid
approximately $7.4 million to settle its interest rate swap agreement associated with the debt purchased from
McDATA (see Note 8, “Convertible Subordinated Debt” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
 

Foreign Currency Cash Flow Hedge
 

As of October 27, 2007, a gain of $1.0 million, net, which represented effective hedges of net
investments, was reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income within unrealized
translation adjustment. Hedge ineffectiveness, which is reported in the Consolidated Statements of Income
was not significant.
 

11.  Stockholders’ Equity
 

Tender Offer
 

On June 12, 2006, the Company completed a tender offer that allowed employees to amend or cancel
certain options to remedy potential adverse personal tax consequences. As a result, the Company amended
certain options granted after August 14, 2003 that were or may have been granted at a discount to increase the
option grant price to the fair market value on the date of grant and to give the employee a cash payment for
the difference in option grant price between the amended option and the original discounted price. In addition,
for certain options granted prior to August 14, 2003 that were or may have been granted at a discount, the
Company canceled the options in exchange for a cash payment based on the Black-Scholes estimate of fair
value of the option. The Company accounted for these modifications and settlements in accordance with
SFAS 123R and as a result recorded incremental
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compensation expense of $2.1 million during the three months ended July 29, 2006 and recognized a liability
of $3.3 million for the cash payments. The liability was paid in January 2007.
 

Stockholder Rights Plan
 

On February 5, 2002, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a stockholder rights plan. Under the
plan, the Company declared and paid a dividend of one right for each share of common stock held by
stockholders of record as of the close of business on February 19, 2002. Each right initially entitles
stockholders to purchase a fractional share of the Company’s preferred stock at $280 per share. However, the
rights are not immediately exercisable and will become exercisable only upon the occurrence of certain
events. If a person or group acquires or announces a tender or exchange offer that would result in the
acquisition of 15 percent or more of the Company’s common stock while the stockholder rights plan remains
in place, then, unless the rights are redeemed by the Company for $0.001 per right, the rights will become
exercisable by all rights holders except the acquiring person or group for shares of the Company or the third
party acquirer having a value of twice the right’s then-current exercise price. The stockholder rights plan may
have the effect of deterring or delaying a change in control of Brocade. Effective as of January 23, 2007, this
plan was terminated.
 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
 

In March 1999, the Board of Directors approved the adoption of the Company’s 1999 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (the “Purchase Plan”) and the Company’s shareholders approved the Purchase Plan in April
1999. The Purchase Plan permits eligible employees to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock
through payroll deductions at 85 percent of the fair market value at certain plan-defined dates. The maximum
number of shares of the Company’s common stock available for sale under the Purchase Plan is 37.2 million
shares, plus an annual increase to be added on the first day of the Company’s fiscal year, equal to the lesser of
20.0 million shares, or 2.5 percent of the outstanding shares of common stock at such date. Accordingly, on
October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006, 6.8 million and 6.8 million additional shares, respectively, were
made available for issuance under the Purchase Plan. During the years ended October 27, 2007, October 28,
2006 and October 29, 2005, the Company issued 2.5 million shares, 2.9 million shares and 2.8 million shares,
respectively, under the Purchase Plan. At October 27, 2007, 29.7 million shares were available for future
issuance under the Purchase Plan.
 

1999 Director Option Plan
 

In March 1999, the Board of Directors approved the 1999 Director Option Plan (the “Director Plan”) and
the Company’s shareholders approved the Director Plan in April 1999. The Director Plan provides for the
grant of common stock to Directors of the Company. At October 27, 2007, the Company had reserved
1.5 million shares of authorized but unissued shares of common stock for future issuance under the Director
Plan. Of this amount, 0.9 million shares were outstanding and 0.6 million shares were available for future
grants.
 

1999 Stock Plan
 

In March 1999, the Board of Directors approved the Company’s 1999 Stock Plan (the “1999 Plan”) and
the Company’s shareholders approved the 1999 Plan in April 1999. The 1999 Plan provides for the grant of
incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options and restricted stock to employees and consultants (other
than with respect to incentive stock options). Per the terms of the 1999 Plan, the maximum number of shares
of the Company’s common stock available for sale under the 1999 Plan is 132.0 million shares, plus an
annual increase to be added on the first day of the Company’s fiscal year, equal to the lesser of 40.0 million
shares, or 5.0 percent of the outstanding shares of common stock at such date. Accordingly, on October 28,
2007 and October 29, 2006, 43.4 million and 13.5 million additional shares, respectively, were made
available for grant under the 1999 Plan. At October 27, 2007, the Company had reserved 73.4 million shares
of authorized but unissued shares of common stock for future
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issuance under the 1999 Plan. Of this amount, 30.0 million shares were outstanding and 43.4 million shares
were available for future grants.
 

1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan
 

In September 1999, the Board of Directors approved the Company’s 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option
Plan (the “NSO Plan”). The NSO Plan provides for the grant of nonstatutory stock options to employees and
consultants. A total of 51.4 million shares of common stock have been reserved for issuance under the NSO
Plan. At October 27, 2007, the Company had reserved approximately 41.3 million shares of authorized but
unissued shares of common stock for future issuance under the NSO Plan. Of this amount, 7.1 million shares
were outstanding and 34.2 million shares were available for future grants.
 

McDATA Equity Plans
 

On January 29, 2007, effective upon the consummation of the merger, Brocade assumed the McDATA
equity plans. As of October 27, 2007, options to purchase approximately 7.9 million shares of converted
common stock, restricted stock and other equity awards remain outstanding under former McDATA plans.
 

Long Term Incentive Plan
 

On July 30, 2007 the Board of Directors approved the Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”).
The Incentive Plan provides for the grants of Restricted Stock Units to certain Company executives and key
employees. For each Restricted Stock Unit that vests, the Grantee will be entitled to receive one share of
common stock. The maximum number of Restricted Stock Units that could potentially be granted is
2.5 million as of October 27, 2007. The number of Restricted Stock Units that vest will depend on market, the
Company performance and service conditions. The ultimate amount vested is subject to the Board of
Directors discretion. The Restricted Stock Units are expected to vest simultaneously with the end of the
performance period. The performance period is August 1, 2007 to October 31, 2009.
 

We calculate the fair value of the restricted stock units under the Incentive Plan as the expected present
value of the pre-forfeiture payments to employees at the end of the performance period. We use the Monte
Carlo simulation based method to estimate fair value of the instrument. We adjust calculated fair value for
estimated forfeitures to derive total compensation expense. We recognize the compensation expense ratably
over the performance period. The grant date for the Incentive Plan will be established when the Board of
Directors approves the number of shares granted which is expected within one month subsequent to the
completion of the performance period. We re-measure compensation expense at the end of each reporting
period in accordance with FAS 123R “Share-Based Payment” as the service inception date precedes the grant
date for these awards.
 

Stock Options
 

The Company, under the various equity plans (the “Plans”) described above, grants stock options for
shares of the Company’s common stock to its employees and directors. The Company also grants restricted
stock and restricted stock units under the Plans. In accordance with the Plans, incentive stock options may not
be granted at less than 100 percent of the estimated fair market value of the common stock, and incentive
stock options granted to a person owning more than 10 percent of the combined voting power of all classes of
stock of the Company must be issued at 110 percent of the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant.
Nonstatutory stock options may be granted at any price. Under the Plans, options or restricted stock typically
have a maximum term of seven or ten years. The majority of options granted under the Plans vest over a
period of four years. Certain options granted under the Plans vest over shorter or longer periods. At
October 27, 2007, an aggregate of 124.2 million shares were authorized for future issuance under the Plans,
which includes stock options, shares issued pursuant to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan and restricted
stock units and other awards. A total of 78.3 million shares of
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common stock were available for grant under the Plans as of October 27, 2007. Awards that expire, or are
cancelled without delivery of shares, generally become available for issuance under the Plans.
 

The following table summarizes stock option plan activity under all of the Plans (in thousands except per
share amounts):
 
                         

  Fiscal Year Ended   Fiscal Year Ended   Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 27, 2007   October 28, 2006   October 29, 2005  
     Weighted      Weighted      Weighted  
     Average      Average      Average  
     Exercise      Exercise      Exercise  
  Shares   Price   Shares   Price   Shares   Price  

 

Outstanding at beginning of
year   39,954  $ 6.35   45,179  $ 6.59   49,524  $ 7.12 

Assumed in McDATA
acquisition   15,632  $ 11.77   —   —   —   — 

Granted   8,992  $ 8.92   7,657  $ 5.63   11,488  $ 5.15 
Exercised   (15,146)  $ 5.57   (4,498)  $ 5.25   (3,836)  $ 4.98 
Cancelled   (6,235)  $ 12.30   (8,384)  $ 7.78   (11,997)  $ 8.02 
                         

Outstanding at end of year   43,197  $ 8.20   39,954  $ 6.35   45,179  $ 6.59 
                         

Exercisable and vested at end of
year   27,236  $ 8.91   24,160  $ 6.96   25,963  $ 7.52 

                         

 

The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding at October 27, 2007 was an aggregate of
$100 million. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisable and vested at October 27, 2007 was
$68 million.
 

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at
October 27, 2007 (in thousands except number of years and per share amounts):
 
                     

  Options Outstanding   Options Exercisable  
     Weighted         Weighted  
     Average   Weighted      Average  
     Remaining  Average      Exercise  
Range of Exercise Prices  Number   Years   Exercise Price   Number   Price  
 

$  0.01 - $  4.43   4,534   4.75  $ 3.74   2,251  $ 3.41 
$  4.47 - $  5.59   4,786   5.09  $ 5.14   3,327  $ 5.11 
$  5.60 - $  5.84   4,758   3.92  $ 5.71   3,695  $ 5.70 
$  5.85 - $  6.19   4,943   5.10  $ 6.09   2,618  $ 6.09 
$  6.20 - $  6.42   2,725   4.65  $ 6.39   2,036  $ 6.39 
$  6.48 - $  6.54   5,914   5.71  $ 6.54   5,889  $ 6.54 
$  6.56 - $  9.01   7,023   6.12  $ 8.35   1,088  $ 7.48 
$  9.02 - $ 11.66   4,507   4.50  $ 9.80   2,344  $ 10.02 
$ 11.84 - $103.09   4,003   2.57  $ 24.76   3,984  $ 24.50 
$124.48 - $124.48   4   2.84  $ 124.48   4  $ 124.48 
                     

$  0.01 - $124.48   43,197   4.86  $ 8.20   27,236  $ 8.91 
                     

Ending vested and expected to vest   41,160      $ 8.28         
                     

 

From May 1999 through July 2003, the Company granted 98.8 million options subject to variable
accounting as the measurement date of the options grant was not certain. As of October 27, 2007, 1.5 million
options with a weighted average exercise price of $17.27 and a weighted average remaining life of 3.4 years
remain outstanding and continue to be accounted for under variable accounting.
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The dilutive impact of potential common shares associated with stock options, by application of the
treasury stock method, for the years ended October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005 were
6.8 million, 4.5 million and 2.1 million, respectively.
 

Equity Compensation Plan Information
 

The following table summarizes information, as of October 27, 2007, with respect to shares of the
Company’s common stock that may be issued under the Company’s existing equity compensation plans (in
thousands except per share amounts):
 
             

  A   B   C  
        Number of Securities  
        Remaining Available  
        for Future Issuance  

  
Number of
Securities      Under Equity  

  to be Issued   Weighted Average   Compensation Plans  
  Upon Exercise of   Exercise Price of   (Excluding Securities  

Plan Category  
Outstanding

Options   Outstanding Options   
Reflected in Column

A)  
 

Equity compensation plans approved
by shareholders(1)   36,096(3)  $ 8.22   44,043(4)

Equity compensation plans not
approved by shareholders(2)   7,101(5)  $ 8.31   34,156 

             

Total   43,197  $ 8.24   78,199 
             

 

 

(1) Consists of the Purchase Plan, the Director Plan, the 1999 Plan, the Rhapsody Plan, the Therion Plan
and the McDATA Plans. The Rhapsody Plan, Therion Plan and McDATA were assumed in connection
with acquisitions.

 

(2) Consists solely of the NSO Plan.
 

(3) Excludes purchase rights accruing under the Purchase Plan. As of October 27, 2007, the Purchase Plan
had a shareholder-approved reserve of 43.9 million shares, of which 29.7 million shares were available
for future issuance.

 

(4) Consists of shares available for future issuance under the Purchase Plan, the Director Plan and the 1999
Plan.

 

(5) Substantially all shares were granted prior to the fiscal year ended October 25, 2003.
 

Employee 401(k) Plan
 

The Company sponsors the Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. 401(k) Plan (the Plan), which
qualifies under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code and is designed to provide retirement benefits for
its eligible employees through tax deferred salary deductions.
 

Through December 31, 2001, employees could contribute from 1 percent to 20 percent of their eligible
compensation to the Plan. Effective January 1, 2002, the employee contribution limit was increased to
60 percent of eligible compensation. Employee contributions are limited to a maximum annual amount as set
periodically by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company matches employee contributions dollar for dollar
up to a maximum of $1,500 per year per person. Effective October 30, 2005, the Company matches employee
contributions dollar for dollar up to a maximum of $2,000 per year per person. All matching contributions
vest immediately. The Company’s matching contributions to the Plan totaled $5.6 million, $1.6 million and
$1.4 million, for the years ended October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005, respectively.
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Reverse/forward stock split
 

Effective June 26, 2007, the Company implemented a 1-for-100 reverse stock split (the “Reverse Split”)
immediately followed by a 100-for-1 forward stock split of the Company’s common stock (together with the
Reverse Split, the “Reverse/Forward Split”) by filing amendments to its Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware. For stockholders that held less than
100 shares of common stock prior to the Reverse Split, shares of common stock that would have been
converted into less than one share in the Reverse Split were instead converted into the right to receive a cash
payment equal to $8.44 per share, an amount equal to the average of the closing prices per share of common
stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market for the period of ten consecutive trading days ending on (and
including) the effective date. For stockholders that held 100 or more shares of common stock in their account
prior to the Reverse Split, any fractional shares in such account resulting from the Reverse Split were not
cashed out and the total number of shares held by such stockholder did not change as a result of the
Reverse/Forward Split. A total of approximately 2.5 million shares of the Company’s common stock were
cashed out into an aggregate of approximately $20.8 million as a result of the Reverse/Forward Split.
 

12.  Employee Benefit and Stock-Based Compensation Plans
 

Stock Options
 

When the measurement date is certain, the fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes valuation model and the assumptions noted in the following table. The expected term
of stock options is based on the midpoint of the historical exercise behavior and uniform exercise behavior.
The expected volatility is based on an equal weighted average of implied volatilities from traded options of
the Company’s stock and historical volatility of the Company’s stock. The risk free interest rate is based on
the implied yield on a U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issue with a remaining term equal to the expected term of
the option. The dividend yield reflects that Brocade has not paid any cash dividends since inception and does
not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 27,   October 28,   October 29,  
  2007   2006   2005  

 

Stock Options             
Expected dividend yield   0.0%   0.0%   0.0%
Risk-free interest rate   4.1 - 5.2%   4.5 - 5.2%   3.7 - 4.1%
Expected volatility   42.4 - 52.8%   47.4 - 52.8%   42.8 - 47.6%
Expected term (in years)   3.8   3.3   2.8 
 

The Company recorded $19.0 million and $15.4 million of compensation expense related to stock options
for the fiscal year ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006, in accordance with SFAS 123R. For the
fiscal year ended October 29, 2005, a total of $(0.6) million was recorded for compensation expense.
 

The weighted-average grant date fair value of employee stock options granted during the years ended
October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005 were $8.92, $2.17 and $1.85, respectively. The
total intrinsic value of stock options exercised for the years ended October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and
October 29, 2005 was $53.1 million, $6.5 million and $7.3 million, respectively.
 

As of October 27, 2007, there was $22.2 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to
stock options. The expense is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.4 years.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan
 

Under Brocade’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan, eligible employees can participate and purchase shares
semi-annually through payroll deductions at the lower of 85% of the fair market value of the stock at the
commencement or end of the offering period. The Employee Stock Purchase Plan permits eligible employees
to purchase common stock through payroll deductions for up to 15% of qualified compensation. The
Company accounts for the Employee Stock Purchase Plan as a compensatory plan and recorded compensation
expense of $6.0 million and $4.4 million for the year ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006,
respectively, in accordance with SFAS 123R.
 

The fair value of the option component of the Employee Stock Purchase Plan shares was estimated at the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 27,   October 28,   October 29,  
  2007   2006   2005  

 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan             
Expected dividend yield   0.0%   0.0%   0.0%
Risk-free interest rate   4.2 - 5.2%   4.4 - 5.2%   2.5 - 3.4%
Expected volatility   42.0 - 44.3%   42.6 - 44.3%   45.8 - 50.3%
Expected term (in years)   0.5   0.5   0.5 
 

As of October 27, 2007, there was $0.5 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to employee
stock purchases. These costs were expected to be recognized over a period of 0.08 years.
 

Information Calculated as if Fair Value Method Had Applied to All Awards for year prior to Fiscal 2006
 

The table below sets out the pro forma amounts of net income and net income per share (in thousands,
except per share data) that would have resulted for the year ended October 29, 2005, if Brocade accounted for
its employee stock plans under the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123:
 
     

  Year  
  Ended  
  October 29,  
  2005  

 

Net income (loss) — as reported  $ 43,121 
Add(Deduct): Stock-based compensation expense (benefit) included in reported net income,

net of tax   (616)
Deduct: Stock-based compensation expense determined under the fair value based method, net

of tax   (19,337)
Pro forma net income (loss)  $ 23,168 
Basic net income (loss) per share:     

As reported  $ 0.16 
Pro forma  $ 0.09 

Diluted net income (loss) per share:     
As reported  $ 0.16 
Pro forma  $ 0.09 

Restricted Stock Awards     
 

For the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005, Brocade issued 1.9 million and 0.02 million
restricted stock awards, respectively, to certain eligible employees at a purchase price of $0.001 and $0.01 per
share, respectively. For the year ended October 27, 2007, no restricted stock awards were issued. These
restricted shares
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are not transferable until fully vested and are subject to repurchase for all unvested shares upon termination.
The fair value of each award is based on the Company’s closing stock price on the date of grant. In addition,
as part of its acquisition of McDATA, the Company became the administrator of retention compensation
plans for certain employees. The plans provide the employees restricted stock that vests generally over a two
year service period under certain conditions, subject to full acceleration of vesting upon termination without
cause and execution of a release in favor of the Company. Compensation expense computed under the fair
value method for stock awards issued is being amortized under a graded vesting method over the awards’
vesting period and was $4.1 million, $3.9 million and $0.9 million, respectively, for the years ended
October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006.
 

The weighted-average fair value of the restricted stock awards granted during the years ended
October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006 was $0.00 and $4.43, respectively. The total fair value of stock
awards vested for the years ended October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005 was zero.
 

At October 27, 2007, unrecognized costs related to restricted stock awards totaled approximately
$0.3 million. These costs are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 0.2 years. A
summary of the nonvested restricted stock awards for the years ended October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006
and October 29, 2005 is presented as follows:
 
         

     Weighted  
     Average  
     Grant-Date  
  Shares   Fair Value  
  (In thousand)     

 

Nonvested, October 29, 2005   13  $ 7.05 
Granted   1,923  $ 4.43 
Vested   (12)  $ 7.05 
Forfeited   (76)  $ 4.43 

         

Nonvested, October 28, 2006   1,848  $ 4.44 
         

Assumed under the McDATA merger   1,058  $ 3.08 
Granted   —  $ 0.01 
Vested   (639)  $ 0.09 
Forfeited   (137)  $ 1.64 

         

Nonvested, October 27, 2007   2,130  $ 3.75 
         

Expected to vest, October 27, 2007   1,918  $ 3.75 
         

 

Restricted Stock Units
 

During the year ended October 27, 2007, Brocade issued 2.8 million restricted stock units. No restricted
stock units were issued for the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005. Typically, vesting of
restricted stock units occurs over two to three years and is subject to the employee’s continuing service to
Brocade. The compensation expense of $3.9 million related to these awards was determined using the fair
market value of Brocade’s common stock on the date of the grant and is recognized under a graded vesting
method over the vesting period.
 

On July 30, 2007, the Committee approved a long-term, performance-based equity incentive plan under
the Company’s 1999 Stock Plan for the Company’s executive officers and other selected Company
employees. The long-term incentive plan provides for the issuance of performance- based restricted stock
units, which represent a contingent right to receive one share of the Company’s common stock. The restricted
stock units are subject to the Company’s performance compared to the Nasdaq-100 index over an initial
27-month performance period. The plan participants must also remain a service provider to the Company
during the performance period.
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Under the principal terms of the plan, executive officers and other plan participants would be entitled to
receive restricted stock units representing up to an aggregate of 2.0% of the amount the Company’s market
capitalization growth rate exceeds the growth rate of the Nasdaq-100 Index (the “Total Plan Pool”) for the
performance period from August 1, 2007 to October 31, 2009, subject to certain adjustments.
 

A summary of the changes in restricted stock units outstanding under Brocade’s equity-based
compensation plans during the year ended October 27, 2007 is presented as follows:
 
         

     Weighted  
     Average  
     Grant-Date  
  Shares   Fair Value  
  (In thousand)     

 

Nonvested, October 28, 2006   —   — 
Granted   2,798  $ 8.29 
Vested   —   — 
Forfeited   (79)  $ 8.05 

         

Nonvested, October 27, 2007   2,719  $ 8.29 
         

Nonvested expected to vest at October 27, 2007   2,276  $ 8.29 
         

 

The aggregate intrinsic value of restricted stock units outstanding at October 27, 2007 was an aggregate
of $24.6 million.
 

As of October 27, 2007, Brocade had $27.4 million of total unrecognized compensation expense, net of
estimated forfeitures, related to restricted stock unit grants, which is expected to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 1.8 years. Unrecognized compensation expense includes $12.9 million related to
the Incentive Plan described above.
 

13.  Income Taxes
 

Income before provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 27,   October 28,   October 29,  
  2007   2006   2005  

 

United States  $ 59,243  $ 45,088  $ 20,398 
International   85,673   53,264   34,800 
             

Total  $ 144,916  $ 98,352  $ 55,198 
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The provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 27,   October 28,   October 29,  
  2007   2006   2005  

 

Federal:             
Current  $ 126  $ 18,475  $ 2,942 
Deferred   —   —   — 

             

   126   18,475   2,942 
             

State:             
Current   1,561   4,893   2,826 
Deferred   —   —   — 

             

   1,561   4,893   2,826 
             

Foreign:             
Current   15,834   7,397   6,309 
Deferred   (125)   (42)   — 

             

   15,709   7,355   6,309 
             

Charge in lieu of taxes resulting from initial recognition of
acquired tax benefits that are allocated to reduce goodwill
related to the acquired entity   50,647   —   — 

             

Total  $ 68,043  $ 30,723  $ 12,077 
             

 

The difference between the United States federal statutory rate and the Company’s income tax provision
for financial reporting purposes consisted of the following:
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 27,   October 28,   October 29,  
  2007   2006   2005  

 

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes at statutory rate   35.0%   35.0%   35.0%
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit   1.1   3.5   4.1 
Foreign income taxed at other than U.S. rates   (10.2)   (8.9)   (10.7)
In-process research and development   —   —   4.9 
Research and development credit   —   (0.4)   (0.3)
Other permanent items   4.5   4.9   2.9 
Tax on repatriated foreign earnings under Act, net of credits   —   —   7.2 
Change in valuation allowance   16.5   (2.9)   (21.2)
             

Provision for income taxes   46.9%   31.2%   21.9%
             

 

The Company has the intent to indefinitely reinvest any undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that
were not repatriated under The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the Act) and therefore has not provided
deferred taxes on approximately $174.9 million of undistributed earnings as of October 27, 2007. If these
earnings were distributed to the United States in the form of dividends or otherwise, or if the shares of the
relevant foreign subsidiaries were sold or otherwise transferred, the Company could be subject to additional
U.S. income taxes, net of foreign tax credits, and foreign withholding taxes. Determination of the amount of
unrecognized deferred income tax liability related to these earnings is not practicable.
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The Act was enacted on October 22, 2004. One provision of the Act effectively reduces the tax rate on
qualifying repatriation of earnings held by foreign-based subsidiaries to 5.25 percent. Normally, such
repatriations would be taxed at a rate of up to 35 percent. In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, the
Company made the decision that it would repatriate approximately $78.2 million under the Act. After the
repatriation, the Company did not provide deferred taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries as
the Company intends to utilize these earnings through expansion of its business operations outside the United
States for an indefinite period of time.
 

The components of net deferred tax assets are as follows (in thousands):
 
         

  October 27,   October 28,  
  2007   2006  

 

Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 133,428  $ 1,597 
Variable stock option compensation charge   6,423   6,438 
Tax credit carryforwards   79,991   57,520 
Reserves and accruals   183,131   74,245 
Non-U.S. stock option expense   167   42 
Capitalized research expenditures   39,112   19,090 
Net unrealized losses on investments   334   — 
Other   —   212 
         

Total deferred tax assets   442,586   159,144 
Less: Valuation allowance   (331,605)   (159,102)
         

Net deferred tax assets   110,981   42 
Acquired intangibles   (110,814)   — 
         

Total deferred tax liabilities   (110,814)   — 
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)  $ 167  $ 42 

         

 

During the fiscal year ended October 27, 2007, the Company had an increase in valuation allowance of
$173.0 million. The increase in valuation was largely due to the increase in deferred tax assets resulting from
the acquisition of McDATA. The valuation allowance also includes approximately $269.0 million in deferred
tax assets acquired in the McDATA acquisition for which the related benefit will be credited directly to
goodwill when and if realized. The current year tax provision includes $50.6 million in additional expense
related to tax benefits that were credited directly to goodwill. In accordance with footnote 82 of SFAS 123R,
the Company reports its deferred tax assets and valuation allowance net of tax deductions related to excess
stock option compensation expense.
 

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than
not that some portion or all of deferred tax assets will not be realized. The realization of deferred tax assets is
based on several factors, including the Company’s past earnings and the scheduling of deferred tax liabilities
and projected income from operating activities. Management does not believe it is more likely than not that
the Company’s deferred tax assets are realizable. The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable,
however, could be increased in the future if the Company exhibits sufficient positive evidence in future
periods that demonstrate the continuation of its trend in projected earnings is achievable. The tax benefit of
these credits and loss carryforwards attributable to non- variable stock options will be accounted for as a
credit to shareholders’ equity rather than a reduction of income tax expense.
 

As of October 27, 2007, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of $708.0 million and
state net operating loss carryforwards of $142.0 million. Additionally, the Company has $60.0 million of
federal tax credits and $63.7 million of state tax credits. The federal net operating loss and other tax credit
carryforwards expire on various dates between 2016 through 2026; the state net operating loss carryforwards
expire on various dates between 2008 through 2026. Under the current tax law, net operating loss and credit
carryforwards available to
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offset future income in any given year may be limited by statute or upon the occurrence of certain events,
including significant changes in ownership interests.
 

As a result of the McDATA acquisition, McDATA underwent a change in ownership within the meaning
of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC Sec. 382) on January 29, 2007. In general, IRC
Section 382 places annual limitations on the use of certain tax attributes such as net operating losses and tax
credit carryovers in existence at the ownership change date. As of October 27, 2007, approximately
$329 million and $97.2 million of U.S. federal and state net operating losses, respectively, and $33 million of
tax credit carryovers acquired from McDATA are generally subject to an annual limitation of approximately
$35.1 million. Certain amounts may be accelerated into the first five years following the acquisition pursuant
to IRC Section 382 and published notices.
 

In November 2005, we were notified by the Internal Revenue Service that our domestic federal income
tax return for the year ended October 25, 2003 was subject to audit. The IRS Audit is ongoing and we believe
our reserves are adequate to cover any potential assessments that may result from the examination.
 

In April 2006, we were notified by the Franchise Tax Board (“FTB”) that our California income tax
returns for the years ended October 25, 2003 and October 30, 2004 were subject to audit. The FTB Audit is
ongoing and we believe our reserves are adequate to cover any potential assessments that may result from the
examination.
 

14.  Segment Information
 

FASB Statement No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”
(“SFAS 131”), establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments. Operating segments
are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), or decision-making group, in deciding
how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The chief operating decision maker is the Chief
Executive Officer (“CEO”).
 

Prior to the merger with McDATA during the second quarter of the current fiscal year, the Company had
one reporting segment relating to the design, development, manufacture and sale of data access and storage
networking solutions that provide highly-available, scalable and centrally-managed storage area networks .
The Company’s CODM has allocated resources and assessed the performance of the Company based on
consolidated revenue and overall profitability. Because of the completion of the integration of McDATA’s
service business, the Company is operating in two distinct reporting segments, one for products and the other
for services. The products segment consists of hardware and software products. The services segment consists
of break/fix maintenance, extended warranty, installation, consulting, network management, related software
maintenance and support revenue, and telecommunications services. As of October 27, 2007, the Company
was in the process of developing a methodology to allocate goodwill to the product and service segments.
 

Financial decisions and the allocation of resources are based on the information from the Company’s
management reporting system. At this point in time, the Company does not track all of its assets by operating
segments. Consequently, it is not practical to show assets by operating segments.

91

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, December 21, 2007



Table of Contents

 

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

 

Summarized financial information by operating segment for the years ended October 27, 2007,
October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005, based on the internal management system is as follows (in
thousands):
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 27,   October 28,   October 29,  
  2007   2006   2005  

 

Revenues             
Product  $ 1,076,529  $ 692,940  $ 536,834 
Service   160,334   57,652   37,286 

             

Total revenues   1,236,863   750,592   574,120 
             

Cost of revenues             
Product   470,977   269,430   228,488 
Service   104,474   35,754   22,673 

             

Total cost of revenues   575,451   305,184   251,161 
Gross margin             

Product   605,552   423,510   308,346 
Service   55,860   21,898   14,613 

             

Total gross margin  $ 661,412  $ 445,408  $ 322,959 
             

 

Geographic information for the years ended October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005 is
presented below (in thousands).
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 27,   October 28,   October 29,  
  2007   2006   2005  

 

Net Revenues:             
North America (principally the United States)  $ 753,398  $ 478,138  $ 373,710 
Europe, the Middle East and Africa   363,211   201,996   139,741 
Asia Pacific   120,254   70,458   60,669 
             

Total  $ 1,236,863  $ 750,592  $ 574,120 
             

 

The majority of the Company’s assets as of October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005
were attributable to its United States operations.
 

15.  Interest and Other Income, net
 

Interest and other income, net consisted of the following (in thousands):
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 27,   October 28,   October 29,  
  2007   2006   2005  

 

Interest income  $ 36,989  $ 29,233  $ 22,270 
Other income (expense), net   1,512   (135)   386 
             

Total  $ 38,501  $ 29,098  $ 22,656 
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16.  Gain (Loss) on Investments, net
 

Net gain on investment of $13.2 million for the year ended October 27, 2007, primarily consisted of the
disposition of marketable strategic investments at amounts above the carrying value. Net gain on investment
of $2.7 million for the year ended October 28, 2006, consisted of the disposition of portfolio investments
primarily associated with non-marketable private strategic investments. Net loss on investments of
$5.1 million for the year ended October 29, 2005 consisted of $5.2 million in losses on the disposition of
portfolio investments primarily associated with the defeasance of the indenture agreement relating to the
Company’s 2% Convertible Notes, offset by $0.1 million gains on the disposition of non-marketable private
strategic investments. The carrying value of the Company’s equity investments in non-publicly traded
companies at October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005 was $5.0 million, $0.8 million and
$3.8 million, respectively.
 

17.  Net Income per Share
 

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net income per common share (in
thousands, except per share amounts):
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 27,   October 28,   October 29,  
  2007   2006   2005  

 

Basic net income per share             
Net income  $ 76,872  $ 67,629  $ 43,121 
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding   365,206   271,498   268,256 
Less: Weighted-average shares of common stock subject to

repurchase   (3,136)   (1,896)   (80)
             

Weighted-average shares used in computing basic net income
per share   362,070   269,602   268,176 

Basic net income per share  $ 0.21  $ 0.25  $ 0.16 
             

Diluted net income per share             
Net income  $ 76,872  $ 67,629  $ 43,121 
Interest on convertible subordinated debt, net of income tax

effect   908   —   — 
             

Net income, as adjusted   77,780   67,629   43,121 
Weighted-average shares used in computing basic net income

per share   362,070   269,602   268,176 
Dilutive potential common shares   15,488   4,540   2,084 
             

Weighted-average shares used in computing diluted net income
per share   377,558   274,142   270,260 

             

Diluted net income per share  $ 0.21  $ 0.25  $ 0.16 
             

 

For the years ended October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005, potential common shares
in the form of stock options to purchase 11.2 million, 26.6 million and 30.6 million weighted-average shares
of common stock, respectively, were antidilutive and, therefore, not included in the computation of diluted
earnings per share. In addition, for the years ended October 27, 2007, potential common shares resulting from
the potential conversion of the Company’s convertible subordinated debt of 12.1 million weighted average
common shares were dilutive, and, therefore, included in the computation of diluted earnings per share but for
the years ended October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005, potential common shares resulting from the potential
conversion of the Company’s convertible subordinated debt of 5.2 million and 6.8 million weighted average
common shares were antidilutive,
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respectively, and, therefore, not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share. No dilutive effect
has been included for the share options sold in relation to the convertible subordinated debt for the year ended
October 27, 2007, because of their anti-dilutive impact.
 

18.  Related Party and Other Transactions
 

During the normal course of business the Company purchases certain equipment from vendors who are
also its customers and with whom the Company has contractual arrangements. The equipment purchase by the
Company is primarily used for testing purposes in its development labs or otherwise consumed internally.
The Company believes that all such transactions are on an arms-length basis and subject to terms no more
favorable than those with unrelated parties.
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Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
 

None.
 

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures
 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on
Form 10-K (the “Evaluation Date”).
 

The purpose of this evaluation is to determine if, as of the Evaluation Date, our disclosure controls and
procedures were operating effectively such that the information, required to be disclosed in our Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) reports (i) was recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and (ii) was accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.
 

Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of
the Evaluation Date, our disclosure controls and procedures were operating effectively.
 

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.
 

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, do not expect that
our disclosure controls and procedures or internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and
all fraud. A control system no matter how well designed and implemented, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system
must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative
to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues within a company are detected. The inherent limitations include the
realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple
error or mistakes. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of
two or more people or by management override of the controls. Because of the inherent limitations in a
cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected.
 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the changes to the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended October 27, 2007
as required by paragraph (d) of Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and have concluded that there were no such changes that materially affected or are reasonably
likely to materially affect the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
 

Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

The management of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal control system was designed to
provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s management and board of directors regarding the preparation
and fair presentation of published financial statements. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as a process designed by,
or under the supervision of, the Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers and effected
by the Company’s Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting
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and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:
 

 • pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;

 

 • provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the Company; and

 

 • provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use
or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial
statements.

 

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, do not expect that
our disclosure controls and procedures or internal control over financial reporting will prevent all error and all
fraud. A control system no matter how well designed and implemented, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system
must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative
to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues within a Company are detected. The inherent limitations include the
realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple
error or mistakes. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of
two or more people or by management override of the controls. Because of the inherent limitations in a
cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected.
 

Our management assessed the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of
October 27, 2007. In making this assessment, it used the criteria based on the framework set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in “Internal Control — Integrated
Framework.” Based on our assessment we believe that, as of October 27, 2007, our internal control over
financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.:
 

We have audited Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal
control over financial reporting as of October 27, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in
the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing in Item 9A.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based
on our audit.
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing
the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.
 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.
 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of October 27, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Brocade Communication Systems, Inc. as of
October 27, 2007 and October 28, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’
equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
October 27, 2007, and our report dated December 20, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements.

 

/s/  KPMG LLP
 

Mountain View, California
December 20, 2007
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Item 9B.  Other Information
 

None.

 

PART III
 

Certain information required by Part III is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive
Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the solicitation
of proxies for the Company’s 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”).
 

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
 

The information required by this Item with respect to the Company’s directors is incorporated by
reference to the information in the section entitled “Election of Directors” in the Proxy Statement. The
information required by this Item with respect to the Company’s executive officers is incorporated by
reference from the Proxy Statement under the heading “Executive Officers.” The information required by this
Item with respect to disclosure of any known late filing or failure by an insider to file a report required by
Section 16 of the Exchange Act is incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement. The information regarding our corporate
governance is incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Corporate Governance” in the Proxy
Statement.
 

The Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Ethics for Principal Executive and Senior Financial
Officers (the “Code of Ethics”), which applies to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer and any other principal financial officer, Controller and any other principal accounting officer, and
any other person performing similar functions. The Code of Ethics is available on our website at
www.brocade.com, on the Investor page. We will also provide a copy of the Code of Ethics upon request
made by email to investor-relations@brocade.com or in writing to Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.,
Attention: Investor Relations, 1745 Technology Drive, San Jose, California 95110. The Company will
disclose any amendment to the Code of Ethics or waiver of a provision of the Code of Ethics that applies to
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and any other principal financial officer,
Controller and any other principal accounting officer, and any other person performing similar functions and
relate to certain elements of the Code of Ethics, including the name of the officer to whom the waiver was
granted, on our website at www.brocade.com, on the Investor page.
 

Item 11.  Executive Compensation
 

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from the information in the section
entitled “Executive Compensation and Other Matters” in the Proxy Statement.
 

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

 

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from the information in the section
entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Board of Directors
Meetings and Committees” in the Proxy Statement.
 

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence
 

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from the information in the section
entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in the Proxy Statement.
 

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services
 

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from the information in the section
entitled “Ratification of Appointment of Independent Auditors” in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
 

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
 

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K
 

(1) Financial Statements:
 

Reference is made to the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements of Brocade Communications
Systems, Inc. under Item 8 in Part II of this Form 10-K.

 

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:
 

The following financial statement schedule of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. for the years
ended October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005, is filed as part of this Annual Report
and should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of Brocade
Communications Systems, Inc.
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(3) Exhibits:

 

Exhibit Index
 

     

Exhibit   
Number  Description of Document

 

 2.1

 

Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and among Brocade, McDATA Corporation and
certain other parties dated August 7, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 from
Brocade’s Form 8-K filed on August 8, 2006)

 3.1
 

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 28, 2007)

 3.2
 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant amended as of April 19, 2007 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 from Brocade’s Form 8-K filed on April 25, 2007)

 3.3

 

Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferences and Privileges of Series A Participating
Preferred Stock of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 from Brocade’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on February 11, 2002)

 3.4
 

Certificate of Elimination of Series A Participating Preferred Stock of Brocade (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 from Brocade’s Form 8-K filed on February 16, 2007)

 4.1
 

Form of Registrant’s Common Stock certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
from Brocade’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-74711), as amended)

 4.2

 

First Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 29, 2007 by and among McDATA
Corporation, Brocade, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as successor in interest
to Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, National Association (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 from Brocade’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)

 4.3

 

Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 29, 2007 by and among McDATA
Corporation, McDATA Services Corporation, a Minnesota corporation f/k/a Computer
Network Technology Corporation, Brocade, and U.S. Bank National Association
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 from Brocade’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
April 28, 2007)

 4.4

 

Indenture dated February 7, 2003 by and among McDATA Corporation and Wells Fargo
Bank Minnesota National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 from
Brocade’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)

 4.5

 

Indenture dated February 20, 2002 by and among Computer Network Technology
Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2
from Brocade’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)

 10.1

 

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between Brocade and each of its directors
and executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-74711), as amended)
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 10.2

 

Master Lease Agreement between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated December 17, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999, as amended)

 10.3

 

First Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated February 16, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.4

 

Second Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated August 11, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.5

 

Master Lease Agreement between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated July 26, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.6#

 

Purchase Agreement between EMC Corporation and Brocade dated January 25, 2000 (EMC
Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 from Brocade’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.7#

 

Extension Agreement between EMC Corporation and Brocade dated December 18, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.8

 

Extension Agreement between EMC Corporation and Brocade dated November 13, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the fiscal quarter ended January 25, 2003)

 10.9#

 

Goods Agreement between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated
April 15, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 from Brocade’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.10

 

Amendment #1 to the Goods Agreement between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 from Brocade’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.11#

 

Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.12#

 

Amendment #3 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 from Brocade’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.13#

 

Amendment #4 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 from Brocade’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.14#

 

Statement of Work #2 between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.15

 

Lease Agreement between MV Golden State San Jose, LLC and Brocade dated December 1,
2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 27, 2001)

 10.16#

 

Amendment No. 5 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)

 10.17#

 

Amendment No. 6 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)

 10.18#

 

Amendment No. 7 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.19#

 

Amendment No. 8 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 from Brocade’s
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 25, 2003)
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 10.20#

 

Amendment No. 1 to Statement of Work No. 2 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)

 10.21

 

Amendment No. 2 to Statement of Work No. 2 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)

 10.22#

 

OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated
January 28, 2000 (2000 OEM Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.38 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
July 27, 2002)

 10.23#

 

Amendment to 2000 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard
Company dated April 20, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.24

 

Letter Amendment to 2000 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
Hewlett-Packard Company dated January 25, 2002 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.40 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
July 27, 2002)

 10.25#

 

OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated April 20,
2001 (2001 OEM Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 from
Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.26#

 

Amendment No. 1 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard
Company dated July 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.27#

 

Amendment No. 2 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard
Company dated November 6, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 from
Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.28#

 

Amendment No. 3 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard
Company dated February 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.29#

 

Amendment No. 4 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard
Company dated June 5, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.30#

 

OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated
December 16, 2002. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 from Brocade’s Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended January 25, 2003)

 10.31#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hon Hai Precision Industry
Co., Ltd. dated April 5, 2003 (HHPI Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement) (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.49 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.32

 

Amendment Number One to HHPI Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between
Brocade and Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. dated April 5, 2003 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.50 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.33#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade Communications Switzerland
SarL and Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. dated May 1, 2003 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.51 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
April 26, 2003)

 10.34#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Solectron Corporation dated
February 21, 2003 (Solectron Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.52 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.35

 

Amendment No. 1 to Solectron Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade
and Solectron Corporation dated March 21, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53
from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.36#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade Communications Switzerland
SarL and Solectron Corporation dated March 21, 2003 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.54 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
April 26, 2003)
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 10.37#

 

Amendment No. 2 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC dated
February 18, 2003. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 from Brocade’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.38#

 

Amendment No. 3 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC dated July 30,
2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 from Brocade’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 25, 2003)

 10.39#

 

Amendment #10 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 from Brocade’s Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.40#

 

Amendment #11 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 from Brocade’s Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.41#

 

Amendment #14 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59 from Brocade’s Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.42#

 

Statement of Work #3 between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade
dated December 15, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 from Brocade’s Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.43#

 

Amendment No. 4 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC dated
October 29, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.61 from Brocade’s Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.44

 

Third Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications
Systems, Inc. dated November 30, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 from
Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.45

 

Fourth Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications
Systems, Inc. dated November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.63 from
Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.46

 

Fifth Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications
Systems, Inc. dated November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.64 from
Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.47

 

Sixth Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications
Systems, Inc. dated November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.65 from
Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.48

 

Real Estate Sale and Lease Termination Agreement between EOP-Skyport I, LLC and
Brocade effective November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.66 from
Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.49

 

Grant Deed from EOP-Skyport I, L.L.C to Brocade Communications Systems Skyport LLC
dated November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.67 from Brocade’s Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.50

 

Fourth Amendment to the Skyport Plaza Declaration of Common Easements, Covenants,
Conditions and Restrictions dated October 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.68 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24,
2004)

 10.51

 

Guaranty of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. to EOP Skyport I, L.L.C dated
November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.69 from Brocade’s Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.52

 

Right of First Offer Agreement between EOP-Skyport I, L.L.C to Brocade Communications
Systems Skyport LLC dated November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.70
from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.53#

 

Amendment #15 dated March 26, 2004 to Statement of Work #1 between International
Business Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.71
from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended May 1, 2004)

 10.54#

 

Amendment No. 6 dated April 27, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
EMC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.72 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended May 1, 2004)
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 10.55#

 

Amendment No. 5 dated May 4, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
EMC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.73 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 31, 2004)

 10.56#

 

Amendment #1 dated May 12, 2004 to Statement of Work #3 between International Business
Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.76 from
Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 31, 2004)

 10.57#

 

Amendment #18 dated October 5, 2004 to Statement of Work #1 between International
Business Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.77
from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.58#

 

Amendment No. 7 dated July 28, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
EMC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.78 from Brocade’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.59#

 

Amendment No. 8 dated November 1, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade
and EMC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.79 from Brocade’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.60#

 

Amendment #1 dated November 2, 2004 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.80 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 30, 2004)

 10.61#

 

Amendment #2 dated October 27, 2004 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.81 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 30, 2004)

 10.62*
 

Employment Letter for Michael Klayko (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.85 from
Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.63*
 

Employment Letter for Don Jaworski (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.86 from
Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.64#

 

Amendment #19 dated January 28, 2005 to Statement of Work #1 between International
Business Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.88
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 29, 2005)

 10.65#

 

Amendment #3 dated November 22, 2004 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade
and Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.89 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
January 29, 2005)

 10.66#

 

Amendment #10 dated March 20, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
EMC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2005)

 10.67#

 

Amendment #11 dated March 25, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
EMC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2005)

 10.68*

 

Senior Leadership Plan as amended and restated as of November 16, 2007 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s current report on Form 8-K as filed on
November 21, 2007)

 10.69#

 

Amendment #21 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade dated June 28, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.70#

 

Amendment #13 dated July 12, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
EMC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 from Brocade’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.71*

 

Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Plan as amended and restated on November 17, 2006 and
related forms of agreements (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 from Brocade’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 28, 2007)

 10.72*

 

Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan and related forms of agreements
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.73*

 

Amended and Restated 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan and related forms of
agreements (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 from Brocade’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 30, 2005)
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 10.74*

 

Employment Letter for Ian Whiting dated May 1, 2005 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.92 from Brocade’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 29, 2005)

 10.75#

 

Amendment #22 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade dated August 12, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.93
from Brocade’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005)

 10.76#

 

Amendment #6 to Statement of Work No. 3 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade dated September 13, 2005 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.94 from Brocade’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 29, 2005)

 10.77#

 

Statement of Work No. 4 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade dated August 12, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.95 from Brocade’s
annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005)

 10.78#

 

Amendment #14 dated October 24, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
EMC dated January 25, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.96 from Brocade’s
annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005)

 10.79

 

Tolling Agreement dated as of January 1, 2006 between Gregory L. Reyes and Brocade,
David House, William Krause, Nicholas Moore, William O’Brien, Christopher Paisley,
Larry Sonsini, Seth Neiman, Neal Dempsey and Sanjay Vaswani (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
January 28, 2006)

 10.80**  Notice of partial termination of Tolling Agreement, dated September 11, 2006
 10.81#

 

Amendment #23 dated December 15, 2005 to Statement of Work No. 1 between
International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated August 12, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended January 28, 2006)

 10.82

 

Amendment #24 dated December 15, 2005 to Statement of Work No. 1 between
International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated August 12, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended January 28, 2006)

 10.83†

 

Amendment #4 dated January 20, 2006 to the OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade
and Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 29,
2006)

 10.84†

 

Amendment No. 12 to the OEM Purchase Agreement dated January 25, 2000 (effective as
of January 31, 2006) by and among Brocade, Brocade Communications Switzerland SarL,
and EMC Corporation (incorporated by references to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly
report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 29, 2006)

 10.85†

 

Amendment #25 effective April 14, 2006 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International
Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated August 12, 2005 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended April 29, 2006)

 10.86†

 

Amendment #4 dated March 30, 2006 to the Goods Agreement between International
Business Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 29, 2006)

 10.87†

 

Amendment #1 to Statement of Work No. 4 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade effective May 31, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 29, 2006)

 10.88†

 

Amendment #7 to Statement of Work No. 3 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade dated July 19, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 29, 2006)

 10.89#

 

Amendment #26 dated September 19, 2006 to Statement of Work No. 1 between
International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated August 12, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.103 from Brocade’s annual report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended October 28, 2006)

 10.90#

 

Amendment #27 dated October 3, 2006 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International
Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated August 12, 2005 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.104 from Brocade’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended October 28, 2006)
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 10.91#

 

Amendment #6 effective as of August 4, 2006 to OEM Purchase Agreement between
Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.105 from Brocade’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended October 28, 2006)

 10.92#

 

Amendment #7 dated August 4, 2006 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.106 from Brocade’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 28, 2006)

 10.93†

 

Amendment #28 dated January 2, 2007 to Statement of Work No. 1 between
International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated August 12, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended January 27, 2007)

 10.94

 

Guaranty by Brocade dated January 29, 2007 related to the Indenture dated February 7,
2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)

 10.95

 

Guaranty by Brocade dated January 29, 2007 related to the Indenture dated February 20,
2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)

 10.96†

 

Statement of Work #5 dated April 2, 2007 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 from Brocade’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)

 10.97†

 

Amendment #29 dated March 19, 2007 to Statement of Work #1 between International
Business Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)

 10.98†

 

Amendment #19 dated April 26, 2007 to Purchase Agreement between EMC and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 from Brocade’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)

 10.99*

 

Amended and Restated Change of Control Retention Agreement between Brocade and
Michael Klayko effective May 11, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from
Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 28, 2007)

 10.100*

 

Form of Amended and Restated Change of Control Retention Agreement effective
May 11, 2007 between Brocade and each of Richard Deranleau, T.J. Grewal, Don
Jaworski, Luc Moyen, Tyler Wall and Ian Whiting (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 28,
2007)

 10.101†

 

Statement of Work #6 dated May 6, 2007 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 from Brocade’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 28, 2007)

 10.102†/**
 

Amendment #5, dated April 20, 2007 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Hewlett
Packard Company and Brocade

 10.103†/**
 

Amendment #8, dated September 6, 2007 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Hewlett
Packard Company and Brocade

 10.104†/**
 

Statement of Work #7, dated October 1, 2007 to Goods Agreement between International
Business Machines and Brocade

 12.1**  Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
 21.1**  Subsidiaries of Registrant
 23.1**  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 24.1**  Power of attorney (see signature page)
 31.1**  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by the Chief Executive Officer
 31.2**  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by the Chief Financial Officer
 32.1**

 

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

 

 

* Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit
pursuant to Item 15(b) of Form 10-K.

 

** Filed herewith.
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# Confidential treatment granted as to certain portions, which portions were omitted and filed separately
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

 

† Confidential treatment requested as to certain portions, which portions were omitted and filed separately
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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SCHEDULE II
 

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
 

Years Ended October 27, 2007, October 28, 2006 and October 29, 2005
 
                 

  Balance at   Additions      
Balance

at  

  
Beginning

of   Charged to      End of  
Description  Period   Revenues   Deductions*   Period  

  (In thousands)  
 

Allowance for doubtful accounts:                 
2007  $ 694  $ 2,656  $ (920)  $ 2,430 
2006  $ 467  $ 427  $ (200)  $ 694 
2005  $ 409  $ 200  $ (142)  $ 467 

Sales allowances:                 
2007  $ 4,148  $ 2,745  $ (2,818)  $ 4,075 
2006  $ 4,475  $ 3,099  $ (3,426)  $ 4,148 
2005  $ 3,452  $ 2,755  $ (1,732)  $ 4,475 

 

 

* Deductions related to the allowance for doubtful accounts and sales allowances represent amounts written
off against the allowance less recoveries.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

 

Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.

 

By: 
/s/  Michael Klayko
Michael Klayko
Chief Executive Officer

 

December 17, 2007

 

POWER OF ATTORNEY
 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints Michael Klayko, and Richard Deranleau, and each of them, his true and lawful
attorneys-in-fact, each with full power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any
amendments to this report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that
each of said attorneys-in-fact or their substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:
 
       

Signature  Title  Date

 

     
/s/  Michael Klayko

Michael Klayko  

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

and Director)  

December 17, 2007

     
/s/  Richard Deranleau

Richard Deranleau
 

Chief Financial Officer
and Vice President, Finance

(Principal Financial
and Accounting Officer)  

December 20, 2007

     
/s/  David L. House

David L. House  

Chairman of the Board of Directors

 

December 17, 2007

     
/s/  L. William Krause

L. William Krause  

Director

 

December 14, 2007

     
/s/  Glenn Jones

Glenn Jones  

Director

 

December 17, 2007

     
/s/  Michael J. Rose

Michael J. Rose  

Director

 

December 16, 2007

     
/s/  Sanjay Vaswani  Director  December 18, 2007

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, December 21, 2007
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Signature  Title  Date

 

     
/s/  Robert Walker

Robert Walker  

Director

 

December 18, 2007

     
/s/  Renato DiPentima

Renato DiPentima  

Director

 

December 17, 2007

     
/s/  John Gerdelman

John Gerdelman  

Director

 

December 16, 2007
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Exhibit Index
 

     

Exhibit   
Number  Description of Document

 

 2.1

 

Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and among Brocade, McDATA Corporation and
certain other parties dated August 7, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 from
Brocade’s Form 8-K filed on August 8, 2006)

 3.1
 

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 28, 2007)

 3.2
 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant amended as of April 19, 2007 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 from Brocade’s Form 8-K filed on April 25, 2007)

 3.3

 

Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferences and Privileges of Series A Participating
Preferred Stock of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 from Brocade’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on February 11, 2002)

 3.4
 

Certificate of Elimination of Series A Participating Preferred Stock of Brocade (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 from Brocade’s Form 8-K filed on February 16, 2007)

 4.1
 

Form of Registrant’s Common Stock certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
from Brocade’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-74711), as amended)

 4.2

 

First Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 29, 2007 by and among McDATA
Corporation, Brocade, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as successor in interest
to Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, National Association (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 from Brocade’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)

 4.3

 

Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 29, 2007 by and among McDATA
Corporation, McDATA Services Corporation, a Minnesota corporation f/k/a Computer
Network Technology Corporation, Brocade, and U.S. Bank National Association
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 from Brocade’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
April 28, 2007)

 4.4

 

Indenture dated February 7, 2003 by and among McDATA Corporation and Wells Fargo
Bank Minnesota National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 from
Brocade’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)

 4.5

 

Indenture dated February 20, 2002 by and among Computer Network Technology
Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2
from Brocade’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)

 10.1

 

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between Brocade and each of its directors
and executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-74711), as amended)

 10.2

 

Master Lease Agreement between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated December 17, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999, as amended)

 10.3

 

First Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated February 16, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.4

 

Second Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated August 11, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.5

 

Master Lease Agreement between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated July 26, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.6#

 

Purchase Agreement between EMC Corporation and Brocade dated January 25, 2000 (EMC
Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 from Brocade’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.7#

 

Extension Agreement between EMC Corporation and Brocade dated December 18, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.8

 

Extension Agreement between EMC Corporation and Brocade dated November 13, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the fiscal quarter ended January 25, 2003)
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 10.9#

 

Goods Agreement between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated
April 15, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 from Brocade’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.10

 

Amendment #1 to the Goods Agreement between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 from Brocade’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.11#

 

Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.12#

 

Amendment #3 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 from Brocade’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.13#

 

Amendment #4 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 from Brocade’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.14#

 

Statement of Work #2 between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.15

 

Lease Agreement between MV Golden State San Jose, LLC and Brocade dated December 1,
2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 27, 2001)

 10.16#

 

Amendment No. 5 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)

 10.17#

 

Amendment No. 6 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)

 10.18#

 

Amendment No. 7 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.19#

 

Amendment No. 8 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 from Brocade’s
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 25, 2003)

 10.20#

 

Amendment No. 1 to Statement of Work No. 2 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)

 10.21

 

Amendment No. 2 to Statement of Work No. 2 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)

 10.22#

 

OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated
January 28, 2000 (2000 OEM Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.38 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
July 27, 2002)

 10.23#

 

Amendment to 2000 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard
Company dated April 20, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.24

 

Letter Amendment to 2000 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
Hewlett-Packard Company dated January 25, 2002 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.40 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
July 27, 2002)

 10.25#

 

OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated April 20,
2001 (2001 OEM Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 from
Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.26#

 

Amendment No. 1 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard
Company dated July 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)
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 10.27#

 

Amendment No. 2 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard
Company dated November 6, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 from
Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.28#

 

Amendment No. 3 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard
Company dated February 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.29#

 

Amendment No. 4 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard
Company dated June 5, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.30#

 

OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated
December 16, 2002. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 from Brocade’s Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended January 25, 2003)

 10.31#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hon Hai Precision Industry
Co., Ltd. dated April 5, 2003 (HHPI Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement) (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.49 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.32

 

Amendment Number One to HHPI Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between
Brocade and Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. dated April 5, 2003 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.50 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.33#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade Communications Switzerland
SarL and Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. dated May 1, 2003 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.51 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
April 26, 2003)

 10.34#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Solectron Corporation dated
February 21, 2003 (Solectron Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.52 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.35

 

Amendment No. 1 to Solectron Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade
and Solectron Corporation dated March 21, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53
from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.36#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade Communications Switzerland
SarL and Solectron Corporation dated March 21, 2003 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.54 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
April 26, 2003)

 10.37#

 

Amendment No. 2 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC dated
February 18, 2003. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 from Brocade’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.38#

 

Amendment No. 3 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC dated July 30,
2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 from Brocade’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 25, 2003)

 10.39#

 

Amendment #10 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 from Brocade’s Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.40#

 

Amendment #11 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 from Brocade’s Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.41#

 

Amendment #14 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59 from Brocade’s Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.42#

 

Statement of Work #3 between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade
dated December 15, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 from Brocade’s Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.43#

 

Amendment No. 4 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC dated
October 29, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.61 from Brocade’s Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)
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 10.44

 

Third Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications
Systems, Inc. dated November 30, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 from
Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.45

 

Fourth Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications
Systems, Inc. dated November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.63 from
Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.46

 

Fifth Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications
Systems, Inc. dated November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.64 from
Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.47

 

Sixth Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications
Systems, Inc. dated November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.65 from
Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.48

 

Real Estate Sale and Lease Termination Agreement between EOP-Skyport I, LLC and
Brocade effective November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.66 from
Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.49

 

Grant Deed from EOP-Skyport I, L.L.C to Brocade Communications Systems Skyport LLC
dated November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.67 from Brocade’s Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.50

 

Fourth Amendment to the Skyport Plaza Declaration of Common Easements, Covenants,
Conditions and Restrictions dated October 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.68 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24,
2004)

 10.51

 

Guaranty of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. to EOP Skyport I, L.L.C dated
November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.69 from Brocade’s Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.52

 

Right of First Offer Agreement between EOP-Skyport I, L.L.C to Brocade Communications
Systems Skyport LLC dated November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.70
from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.53#

 

Amendment #15 dated March 26, 2004 to Statement of Work #1 between International
Business Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.71
from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended May 1, 2004)

 10.54#

 

Amendment No. 6 dated April 27, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
EMC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.72 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended May 1, 2004)

 10.55#

 

Amendment No. 5 dated May 4, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
EMC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.73 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 31, 2004)

 10.56#

 

Amendment #1 dated May 12, 2004 to Statement of Work #3 between International Business
Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.76 from
Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 31, 2004)

 10.57#

 

Amendment #18 dated October 5, 2004 to Statement of Work #1 between International
Business Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.77
from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.58#

 

Amendment No. 7 dated July 28, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
EMC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.78 from Brocade’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.59#

 

Amendment No. 8 dated November 1, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade
and EMC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.79 from Brocade’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.60#

 

Amendment #1 dated November 2, 2004 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.80 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 30, 2004)

 10.61#

 

Amendment #2 dated October 27, 2004 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.81 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 30, 2004)
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 10.62*
 

Employment Letter for Michael Klayko (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.85 from
Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.63*
 

Employment Letter for Don Jaworski (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.86 from
Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.64#

 

Amendment #19 dated January 28, 2005 to Statement of Work #1 between International
Business Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.88
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 29, 2005)

 10.65#

 

Amendment #3 dated November 22, 2004 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade
and Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.89 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
January 29, 2005)

 10.66#

 

Amendment #10 dated March 20, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
EMC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2005)

 10.67#

 

Amendment #11 dated March 25, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
EMC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2005)

 10.68*

 

Senior Leadership Plan as amended and restated as of November 16, 2007 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s current report on Form 8-K as filed on
November 21, 2007)

 10.69#

 

Amendment #21 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade dated June 28, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.70#

 

Amendment #13 dated July 12, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
EMC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 from Brocade’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.71*

 

Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Plan as amended and restated on November 17, 2006 and
related forms of agreements (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 from Brocade’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 28, 2007)

 10.72*

 

Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan and related forms of agreements
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.73*

 

Amended and Restated 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan and related forms of
agreements (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 from Brocade’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.74*

 

Employment Letter for Ian Whiting dated May 1, 2005 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.92 from Brocade’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 29, 2005)

 10.75#

 

Amendment #22 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade dated August 12, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.93
from Brocade’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005)

 10.76#

 

Amendment #6 to Statement of Work No. 3 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade dated September 13, 2005 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.94 from Brocade’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 29, 2005)

 10.77#

 

Statement of Work No. 4 between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade
dated August 12, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.95 from Brocade’s annual
report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005)

 10.78#

 

Amendment #14 dated October 24, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
EMC dated January 25, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.96 from Brocade’s
annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005)

 10.79

 

Tolling Agreement dated as of January 1, 2006 between Gregory L. Reyes and Brocade,
David House, William Krause, Nicholas Moore, William O’Brien, Christopher Paisley, Larry
Sonsini, Seth Neiman, Neal Dempsey and Sanjay Vaswani (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 28,
2006)
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 10.80**  Notice of partial termination of Tolling Agreement, dated September 11, 2006
 10.81#

 

Amendment #23 dated December 15, 2005 to Statement of Work No. 1 between
International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated August 12, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended January 28, 2006)

 10.82

 

Amendment #24 dated December 15, 2005 to Statement of Work No. 1 between
International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated August 12, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended January 28, 2006)

 10.83†

 

Amendment #4 dated January 20, 2006 to the OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade
and Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 29,
2006)

 10.84†

 

Amendment No. 12 to the OEM Purchase Agreement dated January 25, 2000 (effective as
of January 31, 2006) by and among Brocade, Brocade Communications Switzerland SarL,
and EMC Corporation (incorporated by references to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly
report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 29, 2006)

 10.85†

 

Amendment #25 effective April 14, 2006 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International
Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated August 12, 2005 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended April 29, 2006)

 10.86†

 

Amendment #4 dated March 30, 2006 to the Goods Agreement between International
Business Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 29, 2006)

 10.87†

 

Amendment #1 to Statement of Work No. 4 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade effective May 31, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 29, 2006)

 10.88†

 

Amendment #7 to Statement of Work No. 3 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade dated July 19, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 29, 2006)

 10.89#

 

Amendment #26 dated September 19, 2006 to Statement of Work No. 1 between
International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated August 12, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.103 from Brocade’s annual report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended October 28, 2006)

 10.90#

 

Amendment #27 dated October 3, 2006 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International
Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated August 12, 2005 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.104 from Brocade’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended October 28, 2006)

 10.91#

 

Amendment #6 effective as of August 4, 2006 to OEM Purchase Agreement between
Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.105 from Brocade’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended October 28, 2006)

 10.92#

 

Amendment #7 dated August 4, 2006 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.106 from Brocade’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 28, 2006)

 10.93†

 

Amendment #28 dated January 2, 2007 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International
Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated August 12, 2005 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended January 27, 2007)

 10.94

 

Guaranty by Brocade dated January 29, 2007 related to the Indenture dated February 7, 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)

 10.95

 

Guaranty by Brocade dated January 29, 2007 related to the Indenture dated February 20,
2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)

 10.96†

 

Statement of Work #5 dated April 2, 2007 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 from Brocade’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)
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 10.97†

 

Amendment #29 dated March 19, 2007 to Statement of Work #1 between International
Business Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)

 10.98†

 

Amendment #19 dated April 26, 2007 to Purchase Agreement between EMC and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 from Brocade’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 28, 2007)

 10.99*

 

Amended and Restated Change of Control Retention Agreement between Brocade and
Michael Klayko effective May 11, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from
Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 28, 2007)

 10.100*

 

Form of Amended and Restated Change of Control Retention Agreement effective
May 11, 2007 between Brocade and each of Richard Deranleau, T.J. Grewal, Don
Jaworski, Luc Moyen, Tyler Wall and Ian Whiting (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 28,
2007)

 10.101†

 

Statement of Work #6 dated May 6, 2007 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 from Brocade’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 28, 2007)

 10.102†/**
 

Amendment #5, dated April 20, 2007 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Hewlett
Packard Company and Brocade

 10.103†/**
 

Amendment #8, dated September 6, 2007 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Hewlett
Packard Company and Brocade

 10.104†/**
 

Statement of Work #7, dated October 1, 2007 to Goods Agreement between International
Business Machines and Brocade

 12.1**  Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
 21.1**  Subsidiaries of Registrant
 23.1**  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 24.1**  Power of attorney (see signature page)
 31.1**  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by the Chief Executive Officer
 31.2**  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by the Chief Financial Officer
 32.1**

 

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

 

 

* Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit
pursuant to Item 15(b) of Form 10-K.

 

** Filed herewith.
 

# Confidential treatment granted as to certain portions, which portions were omitted and filed separately
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

 

† Confidential treatment requested as to certain portions, which portions were omitted and filed separately
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Exhibit 10.80

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati
PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION

650 Page Mill Road
Palo Alto, CA 94304-1050

PHONE 650.493.9300

FAX 650.493.6811
www.wsgr. com

September 11, 2006

Via Certified Mail

Luther Orton
Snyder Miller & Orton LLP
111 Sutter Street, Suite 1950
San Francisco, CA 94104

 Re:  Tolling Agreement Entered Into As of January 1, 2006 between Gregory L. Reyes on the one hand and Brocade
Communications Systems, Inc., (“Brocade”), David House, William Krause, Nicholas Moore, William O’Brien,
Christopher Paisley, Larry Sonsini, Seth Neiman, Neal Dempsey and Sanjay Vaswani, on the other (the “Tolling
Agreement”)

Dear Luther:

     Pursuant to the Tolling Agreement, notice is hereby given that David House, William Krause, Nicholas Moore, William O’Brien,
Christopher Paisley, Larry Sonsini, Seth Neiman, Neal Dempsey and Sanjay Vaswani (collectively the “Directors”), hereby terminate
that agreement solely as to themselves. Brocade, on the other hand, is not terminating the Tolling Agreement. Accordingly, while all
periods of limitation (statutory or otherwise) will begin to run again forty-five (45) days from the date of service of this notice upon
you as to any claims or causes of action which Reyes may have against the Directors or which any of them may have against Reyes,
the statute of limitations remains tolled on any claim which Reyes may have against Brocade or which Brocade may have against
Reyes.
     
 Very truly yours,

WILSON SONSINI GOODRICH & ROSATI
Professional Corporation
 

 

 /s/ Nina Locker   
 Nina (Nicki) Locker   
   
 

cc: Richard Marmaro (via Electronic Mail)

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, December 21, 2007
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Exhibit 10.102

[**]

OEM PURCHASE AGREEMENT

FIFTH AMENDMENT

This FIFTH Amendment (“Amendment”) is effective as of April 20, 2007 (the “Effective Date”) and amends the OEM Purchase
Agreement dated December 16, 2002 (“Agreement”) by and between Hewlett-Packard Company a Delaware Corporation having a
place of Business located at 3000 Hanover Street, Palo Alto, Ca 94304, and Brocade Communications Systems, Inc., a Delaware
corporation having its principal place of business located at 1745 Technology Drive, San Jose, California 95110 (“Brocade”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, HP and Brocade have entered into the Agreement pursuant to which HP agreed to purchase and Brocade agreed to sell
OEM Products in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth therein; and

WHEREAS, Section 5 NONCOMPLYING PRODUCTS of the OEM Agreement defines the current terms for lead times for return of
repaired or replacement FRU’s/products from Brocade to HP; and

WHEREAS, HP and Brocade wish to modify these lead-times;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, HP and Brocade agree as follows.

Section 5 NONCOMPLYING PRODUCTS will be modified as follows:

5.2 Replacement and Repair Period: Supplier will return the replacement or repaired OEM Products as soon as possible but in no
event later than [**] after receipt of the Noncomplying Product from HP, with the exception of those returns originating from EMEA,
which term will be no later than [**] days after receipt. This lead-time adjustment will apply solely to the list of non-RoHS compliant
whole switch FRU part numbers, in Attachment A of this FIFTH Amendment. Supplier’s opportunity to cure any failure to meet such
deadline, pursuant to Article (18) below, will apply to only two such breaches per OEM Product or Part Number during the term,

Add 5.3 as follows:

5.3 Non-RoHS Whole FRU Tracking: Supplier will track the non-RoHS whole switch unit FRU’s received from HP EMEA to ensure
the same units are returned after repair to PO ship to address located within HP EMEA, which will be identified by the assigned RMA
number, serial number and associated HP Purchase Order. Supplier will notify HP EMEA if supplier chooses to return a RoHS
compliant whole switch unit FRU as a replacement for the non-RoHS FRU as a result of being scrapped, or the defective unit being
non-repairable, or instruct HP EMEA to modify and/or close short the repair Purchase Order when the same non-RoHS unit cannot be
returned.

 

[**]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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[**]

The parties have caused this Amendment to be executed by their duly authorized representatives as indicated below.
               
AGREED:           
BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS    HEWLETT-PACKARD COMPANY (“HP”)   
SYSTEMS INC. (“SUPPLIER”)           
               
By:  /s/ Jill Cameron    By:  /s/ Julie A. Uranga     
           

  Name:  Jill Cameron      Name: Julie A. Uranga   
  Title:  

 

Dir. WW Sales Operations       Title:  
 

Procurement Manager   
    

 

       
 

  
Date: 5/24/07      Date: August 3, 2007   
           

               
AGREED:           
BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS    HEWLETT-PACKARD COMPANY   
SWITZERLAND, SARL. (“SUPPLIER”)    (“HP”)   
               
By:  /s/ Ulrich Plechschmidt    By:       
           

  Name:  Ulrich Plechschmidt      Name:    
  Title:  

 

Vice President EMEA       Title:  
 

  
    

 

       
 

  
Date: 25 May 2007    Date:      
           

 

[**]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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ATTACHMENT A

Non-RoHS Compliant Whole Switch Unit FRU Part Number List
           
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]    [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
[**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]  [**]
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Exhibit 10.103

[**]

OEM PURCHASE AGREEMENT

EIGHTH AMENDMENT

This EIGHTH Amendment (“Amendment”) effective as of the date of the last signature hereto (the “Effective Date”) amends the
OEM Purchase Agreement dated December 16, 2002 (“Agreement”) by and between Hewlett-Packard Company a Delaware
Corporation having a place of Business located at 20555 SH 249 Houston, Texas 77070, (“HP”) and Brocade Communications
Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation having its principal place of business located at 1745 Technology Drive, San Jose, California
95110 (“Brocade”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, HP and Supplier have entered into the Agreement pursuant to which HP agreed to purchase, and Supplier agreed to sell
OEM Products in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth therein; and,

WHEREAS, HP and Supplier desire to enter into this Eighth Amendment to amend certain provisions of the Agreement.

AGREEMENTS

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, HP and Supplier agree as follows:

1.  Definitions. Terms used in this Eighth Amendment that are not defined herein shall have the meaning given thereto in the
Agreement.

 

2.  Confirmation and Ratification. Except as expressly amended herein all unmodified and remaining terms and conditions of the
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. All capitalized terms not defined in this EIGHTH Amendment shall have the
meaning set forth in the Agreement. In the event a conflict between the Agreement and this EIGHTH Amendment, the terms of
this EIGHTH Amendment shall govern.

 

3.  Amendments. HP and Supplier hereby agree that the Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
 

  Add the following language to section 13 Marketing and Licensing:

13.16 Requirements of Third Party Licenses. Supplier shall deliver or make available to HP all materials required to meet
the requirements of any licenses for third party open source software that is included in the deliverables. For example,
supplier shall deliver or make available to HP the source code for any software licensed under an open source license that
has a source availability requirement (such as the GNU General Public License). If the source code is not included with the
material that supplier has previously delivered to HP, at HP’s request, supplier shall deliver or make available to HP the
source code for any software licensed under an open source license that has a source availability requirement. This will be
sent or made available to HP within [**] after HP’s request. Supplier shall grant HP the right [**] as necessary to meet
customer requirements.

 

[**]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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The parties have caused this Amendment to be executed by their duly authorized representatives as indicated below.
               
AGREED:           
BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS    HEWLETT-PACKARD COMPANY   
SYSTEMS INC. (“SUPPLIER”)    (“HP”)   
               
By: /s/ Ian Whiting    By: /s/ Julie A. Uranga   
           

  Name: Ian Whiting      Name: Julie A. Uranga   
  Title:  

 

VP, WW Sales       Title:  
 

SWD Procurement Manager   
    

 

        
 

9/6/07   
            

 

  
               
AGREED:           
BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS           
SWITZERLAND, SARL. (“SUPPLIER”)           
               
By: /s/ Kevin McKenna           
             

  Name: Kevin McKenna           
  Title:  

 

International Controller            
    

 

          

 

[**]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Exhibit 10.104

IBM and Brocade
Statement of Work

Base Agreement #ROC-P-68
SOW# 7 (Contract Number 4907015087.0)

This Statement of Work (“SOW”) #7 (Contract Number 4907015087.0) adopts and incorporates by reference the terms and conditions
of Goods Agreement #ROC-P-68 (“Base Agreement”) between International Business Machines Corporation (“Buyer”) and Brocade
Communications Systems, Inc. with offices at 1745 Technology Drive, San Jose, CA 95110 and Brocade Communications
Switzerland, SarL, with an office located at 29 REoute de l’Aeroport, Case Postale 105, CH-1215, Geneva 15, Switzerland
(individually and collectively “Supplier”). This SOW is effective beginning on October 1, 2007 and will remain in effect until through
September 30, 2008 (“Initial Term”). Upon expiration of the Initial Term and each renewal term thereafter, this SOW will be
automatically renewed for an additional one (1) year term (“Renewal Term”) unless terminated by either party upon ninety (90) days’
notice prior to the expiration of the Initial Term or any Renewal Term. The Initial Term and the Renewal Term shall be collectively
referred to as the Term. Transactions performed under this SOW will be conducted in accordance with and be subject to the terms and
conditions of this SOW, the Base Agreement, the PA and any applicable Work Authorizations (“WAs”). This SOW is not a WA.

1.0 Scope Of Work

Buyer licenses from Supplier a computer software program known as StorageX/VFM as described Section 3.0 of this SOW. Supplier
will also provide to Buyer the Services and Deliverables described in Section 5.0 of this SOW.

2.0 Definitions

“Code” means computer programming code, including “Object Code” (computer programming code substantially in binary form
that is directly executable by a computer after processing, but without compilation or assembly)

“Deliverables” means items that Supplier prepares for or provides to Buyer as described in a SOW and/or WA. Deliverables include
Licensed Works and Tools.

“Documentation” means the documents that Supplier generally makes available to its customers containing descriptive, operating,
installation, engineering and maintenance information for Licensed Works, including but not limited to, functional and test
specifications which may be amended, modified or enhanced from time to time during the term of this SOW.

“Enhancements” means changes or additions, other than Error Corrections, to the Licensed Work. If an Enhancement adds
substantial value to the Licensed Work and is offered to customers for an additional charge it will be considered a “Major
Enhancement”, and all other Enhancements, including those that support new releases of operating systems and devices, will be
considered “Basic Enhancements”.

“Error Corrections” means revisions that correct errors and deficiencies (collectively referred to as “errors”) in the Licensed Work.

“Externals” means any documentation, pictorial, graphic, audiovisual works, reports or data generated by execution of code and any
programming interfaces, languages or protocols implemented in the code to enable interaction with other computer programs or end
users. Externals do not include the code that implements them.

“Licensed Work” is any material described in or that conforms to the Description of Licensed Work in the relevant SOW and/or WA
and includes Code, associated Documentation, Externals, Error Corrections, and Enhancements.

“Prices” means the agreed upon payment and currency for Deliverables and Services, exclusive of taxes as specified in the relevant
SOW and/or WA.

“Royalty” means the IBM payment process as defined in Section 10 of this SOW. Buyer will pay Supplier the prices listed in
Attachment 1, Pricing, for Products shipped to its customers.

“Tools” means software that is not commercially available, and its Externals, required for the development, maintenance or
implementation of a software Deliverable.

3.0 Licensed Work And Related Deliverables And Services

3.1 Description of Licensed Work
             
Code Name  Version  Description  Documentation  Format  Delivery Requirements
Virtual File
Manager
(VFM)  

6.0

 

 

 

Comprehensive
enterprise file data
management solution;  

Online

 

Object
Code

 

CD, License key
documentation
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IBM and Brocade
Statement of Work

Base Agreement #ROC-P-68
SOW# 7 (Contract Number 4907015087.0)

Product/Operating Systems Supported: The supported operating systems for the software are listed below. Brocade will provide
IBM with future versions of software as they are released and supported by Brocade.
   
Licensed Work  Operating System(s) Support
StorageX Server or Monitoring Agent  •  Microsoft Windows 2000 SP4
  •  Windows 2003 Enterprise Server 2003, SP1, R2 (32-bit)
   
StorageX Client Only

 
•  Microsoft Windows®2000 SP2, SP3, SP4 or Windows XP Professional, SP1,

SP2 to manage roots on NT® or Windows 2000 servers
 

 
•  Microsoft Windows XP Professional, SP1, SP2 or Windows Server™SP1, R2,

to manage multiple roots on a single Windows Server 2003
   
StorageX Replication Agent  •  Microsoft Windows 2000 SP4
  •  Windows 2003 Enterprise Server 2003, SP1, R2 (32-bit)
  •  Redhat enterprise Linux 4.0
  •  Solaris 10

 b)  National Language Support Version: English only

 2.  Documentation: Supplier will provide Buyer with IBM branded customer documentation.

 a.)  Internal (standard Supplier documentation)
 

 b)  External (on-line documentation)
 

 c)  No other related written materials

 3.  Other Materials:

 a)  Quality Plan: Supplier will provide Buyer with quality plan upon Buyer’s request
 

 b)  Test Results: Supplier will provide Buyer with available test results upon Buyer’s request
 

 c)  Test Cases: Supplier will provide Buyer with available test cases upon Buyer’s request.
 

 d)  Maintenance and Support Reports (including information required and format)
 

 e)  Promotional Materials: Buyer and Supplier will mutually determine what promotional materials are needed for the
Licensed Works.

 

 f)  Education/Training material: Buyer and Supplier will mutually determine what Education and Training materials are
needed for the Licensed Works.

 4.  Code deposited on CD media and shipped to Buyer as directed on Buyer’s purchase order.
 

 5.  Shipment and Delivery: Delivery location and other delivery specifics —
 

   All products ordered hereunder will be shipped FCA Supplier’s manufacturing site (based on Incoterms 2000) to Buyer,
Buyer’s resellers and/or designated End Users as directed by Buyer on its purchase order. As used in this Agreement,
shipment and delivery are synonymous. For purposes of this Agreement, shipment and delivery occur upon delivery of
Products by Supplier at Supplier’s point of shipment to the common carrier specified by Buyer.

3.2 Identification of Tools

No tools are provided for the Licensed Works.

3.3 Limited Warranty Period

For [**] from the date of shipment, Supplier warrants that (i) the Licensed Works will substantially conform to the applicable user
documentation and (ii) that the media on which the Licensed Works is distributed is free from defects in materials and workmanship.
Supplier will repair or replace, at no charge, any defective Licensed Works that does not substantially

 

[**]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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IBM and Brocade
Statement of Work

Base Agreement #ROC-P-68
SOW# 7 (Contract Number 4907015087.0)

conform to the applicable user documentation, provided that the defective or non-conforming Licensed Works is returned to Supplier
within ninety (90) days from the date of shipment. Any Licensed Work Supplier replaces becomes the property of Supplier, and the
replacement Licensed Works becomes the property of Buyer. The replacement Licensed Works assumes the Service status of the
replaced Licensed Works, if the replaced Licensed Works is covered by a maintenance and support contract.

4.0 Rights In Licensed Works

The Licensed Work will be comprised of a Buyer-branded version of Supplier’s StorageX software product. The Buyer branded
version will be called “IBM System Storage VFM”. The Licensed Work will be provided by Supplier to Buyer in Object Code
format.

4.1 Object Code

Supplier grants Buyer a nonexclusive, worldwide, revocable license to transmit, transfer, distribute, and sublicense Licensed Works, in
Object Code form, in any medium or distribution technology, either directly or indirectly through Buyer’s resellers or other sales
channels. Supplier will license such Licensed Works to end users under a license agreement no less restrictive than Supplier’s end user
license agreement attached hereto as Attachment E.

4.2 Externals and Documentation

Supplier grants Buyer a nonexclusive, worldwide, perpetual, irrevocable, paid-up license to prepare and have prepared derivative
works of the Externals, and to use, have used, execute, reproduce, transmit, display, perform, transfer, distribute, and sublicense the
Externals and such derivative works, in any medium or distribution technology, and to grant others the rights granted herein.

5.0 Description Of Related Deliverables And Services

5.1 Maintenance and Support: For the term of this SOW, Supplier will provide to Buyer maintenance and support for the Deliverables,
based on maintenance and support fees being paid, as described in Attachment C entitled “Testing, Maintenance and Support.”

5.2 Third —Party License in Source Code: Seller will provide Certificates of Originality (COO) in the format as defined in
Attachment B. Such COO’s will list the url addresses for open source software licenses and Open Source Code. Such url addresses
will allow Buyer to access such Open Source Code. If Seller modifies such Open Source Code or Buyer is unable to access such Open
Source Code from the url addresses provided by Seller, Seller will make such Open Source Code available to Buyer if permitted by
the applicable third-party license in such Open Source Code. Except for such Open Source Code, nothing is this section permits Buyer
to access or use the Source Code for the Licensed Work.

6.0 Supplier’s Responsibilities

6.1 In addition to delivering Licensed Works, Tools and other Deliverables and Services on schedule, Supplier will:

 •  Participate in progress reviews, as requested by Buyer, to demonstrate Supplier’s performance of its obligations;
 

 •  Maintain records to verify authorship of Licensed Works for four (4) years after the termination or expiration of this SOW. On
request, Supplier will deliver or otherwise make available this information in a form specified by Buyer;

 

 •  As part of Supplier’s importation requirements, provide to Buyer on the commercial invoice:

 1.  the Harmonized Tariff Code of the importing country for every Product; and
 

 2.  an invoice description that provides enough detail to verify the categorical classification of every Product.

 •  For all Supplier Software, supply Buyer with a report outlining the current version numbers and anticipated cessation of
support dates for that Software. This report must be provided on a biannual basis or more frequently if required by Buyer

6.2 Testing

 •  Supplier will perform the following tests prior to each delivery of a Licensed Work (“Pre-Delivery Testing”):

 1.  component testing;
 

 2.  functional verification testing;
 

 3.  system testing; and
 

 4.  compatibility testing.

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, December 21, 2007



 •  Upon Buyer’s request, the details of such testing will be mutually agreed to by the parties.
 

 •  Supplier will provide to Buyer concurrent with each delivery of a Licensed Work all test results, test scenarios, test cases, and
test reports associated with the Pre-Delivery Testing.
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IBM and Brocade
Statement of Work

Base Agreement #ROC-P-68
SOW# 7 (Contract Number 4907015087.0)

 •  Prior to Buyer initiating its acceptance testing, Supplier will:

 a)  provide Buyer, in conjunction with the delivery of the Deliverables, all other associated material, as described in
Section 3.0 of this SOW;

 

 b)  perform internal testing, in accordance with this Section of this SOW, prior to providing the Deliverables to Buyer;
 

 c)  provide associated training documentation for Error Corrections; and
 

 d)  lead and document weekly status calls with Buyer until mutually agreed upon errors are corrected.

6.3 Supplier’s Use of Subcontractors

Supplier may subcontract Services to be performed hereunder. Notwithstanding this subsection, Supplier’s use of subcontractors will
not relieve Supplier of the responsibility for the subcontractor’s performance, and Supplier’s obligations and responsibilities assumed
under this Agreement will be made equally applicable to subcontractors.

6.4 Asset Protection

In the event that assets are loaned to Supplier and there is no separate loan agreement in place between Buyer and Supplier for those
assets, Supplier will be responsible for risk of loss and for the return of those assets to Buyer.

6.5 Third Party Code Warranty

Supplier represents and warrants on an ongoing basis that, before entering into this SOW, Supplier has disclosed to Buyer in writing
the existence of any third party code, including without limitation open source code and freeware (“Third Party Code”) that is
included in or is provided in connection with the Deliverables and that Supplier and the Deliverables are in compliance with all
licensing agreements applicable to such Third Party Code. Supplier further represents and warrants on an ongoing basis that, 1) before
including any Third Party Code in any modifications, new releases, or new versions of the Deliverables under this SOW, Supplier will
disclose to Buyer in writing the existence of such Third Party Code and 2) modified Deliverables or new releases or new versions of
the Deliverables including Third Party Code will be in compliance with all licensing agreements applicable to such Third Party Code.
Supplier will not provide to Buyer any Deliverables or modifications to or new releases or versions of Deliverables, that include Third
Party Code, unless Buyer has approved the inclusion of such Third Party Code.

6.6 Financial Reporting

Supplier will work with Buyer to provide financial information as required.

7.0 Quality Measurements

The parties agree that Attachment D entitled “Quality Requirements for Commercially Available Software” is hereby incorporated by
reference into this Agreement.

8.0 Buyer’s Responsibilities

8.1 Acceptance Testing

8.1.1 Acceptance Testing of Deliverables

Upon receipt of the Deliverables and subject to any extension of the period as described in Subsection 8.1.2, Buyer may commence
acceptance testing for a period of up to thirty (30) days prior to general availability, performing such tests as Buyer deems appropriate
to determine if:

a. the Deliverables meet the specifications described in this SOW;

b. the Deliverables execute repetitively within the system environment described in this SOW; and

c. Buyer can successfully execute to completion all functional and system test scenarios conducted by Buyer.

Buyer’s testing does not relieve Supplier of its obligations under this Agreement.

8.1.2 Error Correction and Acceptance

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, December 21, 2007



In the event Buyer encounters any errors during such testing, Buyer will notify Supplier and may provide Supplier with the test results
and other available documentation of the errors. Notwithstanding anything that may be construed to the contrary, Buyer is under no
obligation to identify any errors or to provide Supplier with notice of any errors. Upon Buyer’s notification of such errors, Buyer and
Supplier shall establish a mutually acceptable plan to address such errors. Upon Buyer’s successful completion of its acceptance
testing, Buyer will provide notice to Supplier of its acceptance of the Deliverables. Acceptance of the Deliverables by Buyer does not
relieve Supplier of any of its responsibilities under the
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Agreement, including but not limited to warranty responsibility, applicable quality requirements, infringement or product liability.

8.1.3 Waiver of Acceptance Testing

Buyer may, at its sole discretion, waive requirements for its acceptance testing of the Deliverables. Any such waiver must be in
writing and signed by Buyer. Buyer’s testing does not relieve Supplier of its obligations under this Agreement. Buyer has no
obligation to identify errors.

9.0 Schedule

The relevant milestones, completion dates, and terms associated with this SOW are:
     
  MILESTONES  DATE
1. Delivery of the Licensed Work which substantially complies with its Specifications  10/15/07
2. Delivery of the other Deliverables (other than the Licensed Work, Tools, etc.)  10/10/07
3. Successful completion of Buyer’s testing of the Licensed Work  10/15/07
4. Receipt of the completed Certificate of Originality for the Licensed Work  10/3/07
5. Other   

10.0 Forecasts/Purchase Orders/Shipments/Prices/Payments

10.1 Forecasts

Buyer will provide Supplier with a non-binding, nine (9) month rolling forecast no less often than monthly through the term of this
SOW for Products. Forecasts are not Orders or a commitment to buy, and are used for planning purposes only, and Buyer has no
obligation to purchase Products in accordance with its forecasts. Supplier understands and agrees that such forecasts are for
Supplier’s planning purposes only and they do not create any obligation or liability on the part of Buyer, either directly or
indirectly.

10.2 Media Purchases — Media Kits include the software media and IBM end user software licenses.

 10.2.1.  Purchase Orders. Buyer will place a purchase order on supplier for purchase of media according to the cost in
Attachment A.

 

 10.2.2  Shipment. Supplier will ship media product to buyers’ specified location in the purchase order. Programs ordered under
this SOW and risk of loss or damage will pass from Supplier to Buyer upon Supplier’s delivery of the Programs to the
Buyer’s common carrier.

 

 10.2.3.  Lead Times. From time of purchase order placement by buyer to shipment by supplier should be no longer than [**] days.
 

 10.2.4  Payment. Buyer will auto pay each media shipment. Payment terms are net 45 days from date of shipment.
 

 10.2.5  Replenishment Orders: Follow up orders will proceed when buyers inventory levels need replenishment. Standard
lead-time for media shipments is [**] days from the receipt of Buyer’s purchase order. Such lead-times shall be applicable
when Supplier declares the Products as generally available.

10.3 Product Purchases

 10.3.1  Buyer will pull Product from inventory and ship to Buyer’s customer location. On a monthly basis, Buyer will send
supplier an order ship report of order shipments the previous month. Payments will be in accordance with the Royalty
Payments paragraph below.

 

 10.3.2  Purchase Price/Taxes:
 

   Buyer shall pay the price for the Products listed in Attachment A. Product prices do not include any sales tax, use tax,
value-added tax, or any other taxes, fees, duties or governmental charges for the importation, movement, delivery, use or
possession of the Products, including replacement Products. Buyer shall provide Supplier with a resale or other appropriate
exemption certificate in conjunction with this

 

[**]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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   Agreement. In the event that Buyer does not provide to Supplier a resale or other appropriate exemption certificate, any
such taxes or amounts in lieu thereof that are charged to or payable by Buyer (exclusive of taxes based on Supplier’s net
income) will be invoiced to and paid by Buyer.

 

 10.3.3  Royalty Payment Calculations/Payment
 

   Royalty payments are paid against sales recorded by Buyer in a time period of a month. Payment will be made in US
dollars, [**] days following the close of the calendar month during which such shipments were made for a Product and/or
Service sale, unless the last day of the month falls on a weekend or holiday, it will then be made on the next business day.
In the US, a royalty payment month ends on the last day of the calendar month. Outside of the US, a royalty payment
month is defined according to Buyer’s current administrative practices. Payment will be paid in accordance with the
shipment report provided by Buyer. Buyer will provide a statement summarizing the payment calculations with each
payment.

 

 10.3.4  Lower Royalty Payment
 

   Buyer may request a lower royalty cost for the Licensed Work when a licensing transaction requires a substantial discount.
If Supplier agrees, both parties will sign a letter specifying the licensing transaction and its lower royalty payment.

 

 10.3.5  Returns
 

   Supplier agrees to credit Buyer for Product on the Ship Report which Buyer wishes to return to supplier for credit, within
[**] days of the original ship date from Buyer to end customer for domestic shipments or within [**] days of the original
ship date from Buyer to end customer for international shipments. Buyer will contact buyer’s customer of need for
destruction of all media, de-install and elimination of all maintenance and support and provide such letter to Supplier prior
to Buyer receiving a credit for such return. Returns are limited to the greater of [**] percent or [**] units of the total
number of programs shipped by Buyer within the prior monthly payment period. Payment reconciliation will be processed
through the payment calculation process in Section 10.3.3.

 

 10.3.7  Maintenance Support Fee:
 

   Product Prices listed on Attachment A include one year of prepaid software maintenance. Buyer will place purchase orders
for renewals of annual maintenance and support fees due for subsequent renewal periods.

 

 10.3.8  Royalty Records and Audit Rights
 

   Buyer will maintain relevant records to support payments made to Supplier. The records will be retained and made
available one (1) year from the date of the related payment. If Supplier requests, Buyer will make these records available to
an independent certified public accountant chosen and compensated (other than on a contingency basis) by Supplier.
Supplier’s request will be in writing, will provide Buyer 60 days prior notice, and will not occur more than once each year.
The audit will be conducted during normal business hours at Buyer’s office and in such a manner as not to interfere with
Buyer’s normal business activities. The auditor will sign a confidentiality agreement and will only disclose to Supplier any
amounts overpaid or underpaid for the period examined.

11.0 Communications

All communications between the parties will be carried out through the following designated coordinators. All notices required in
writing under this Agreement will be made to the appropriate contact listed below at the following addresses and will be effective
upon actual receipt. Notices may be transmitted electronically, by registered or certified mail, or courier. All notices, with the
exception of legal notices, may also be provided by facsimile.

 

[**]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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Business Coordinators
       
FOR SUPPLIER    FOR BUYER   
Name  [**]  Name  [**]
Title    Title  [**]
Address  [**]  Address  [**]
Phone  [**]  Phone  [**]
E-mail  [**]  E-mail  [**]

Legal Coordinators
       
FOR SUPPLIER    FOR BUYER   
Name  [**]  Name  [**]
Title  [**]  Title  [**]
Address  [**]  Address  [**]
Phone  [**]  Phone  [**]
E-mail  [**]  E-mail  [**]

Technical Coordinators
       
FOR SUPPLIER    FOR BUYER   
Name  [**]  Name  [**]
Title  [**]  Title  [**]
Address  [**]  Address  [**]
Phone  [**]  Phone  [**]
E-mail  [**]  E-mail  [**]

12.0 Accessibility

Supplier shall disclose to Buyer the extent to which Products, including software and documentation, provided are accessible to
persons with disabilities, either directly or through assistive technology. Supplier will complete and deliver to Buyer either the
applicable IBM Accessibility checklist (preferred), Web Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG) checklist or Information
Technology Industry Council US Section 508 Voluntary Product Accessibility Template, within 10 days of the effective date of this
Agreement. Supplier shall update the accessibility documentation provided to Buyer pursuant to the preceding sentence to address any
new versions or releases of the Products supplied to Buyer within 10 days of shipment. Failure of the Products to work in accordance
with the accessibility documentation provided by Supplier will be deemed a material breach of this Agreement.

13.0 Electronic Commerce

Unless previously submitted by Supplier, in order to initiate electronic transfer of payments associated with this SOW, Supplier will
complete the Supplier form entitled “Authorization for Electronic Funds Transfer” and fax the completed form to Accounts Payable at
the number included on the form.

 

[**]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO:  ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO:   
International Business Machines  Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.   
         
By: /s/ Malcom
McDonald  

 
 

By: /s/ Ian Whiting
 

 
 
 

     

Buyer Signature  Date October [11], 2007  Supplier Signature  Date October 9, 2007   
 
Malcolm McDonald    Ian Whiting     
     

Printed Name    Printed Name     
 
Team Lead—OEM Storage Procurement       
WW OEM Procurement  Vice President, Worldwide Sales   
     

Title & Organization  Title & Organization     
         
    ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO:   
    Brocade Communications Switzerland, SarL   
         
 

 
 

 
By: /s/ Ulrich
Plechschmidt  

 
 
 

       

    Supplier Signature  Date October 10, 2007   
 
    Ulrich Plechschmidt     
       

    Printed Name     
 
    Vice President, EMEA     
       

    Title & Organization     
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Attachment A
Pricing

Table 1 — VFM ENTERPRISE EDITION PRICING
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Table 2 — VFM MIGRATION EDITION PRICING:
               

BROCADE  IBM p/n  IBM VFM Migration Edition  
    US  LA/EMEA AP/Canada     
    Feature  Feature  Feature    UNIT  

Brocade p/n  IBM p/n  Code  Code  Code  Feature Description  PRICE  
            UNIT  
            PRICE  
            (includes 
            1 yr  
IBM Machine Type/Model: 5639-FM6  M&S)  
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BROCADE  IBM p/n  IBM VFM Migration Edition  

    US  LA/EMEA AP/Canada     
    Feature  Feature  Feature    UNIT  

Brocade p/n  IBM p/n  Code  Code  Code  Feature Description  PRICE  
            UNIT  
            PRICE  
            (includes 
            1 yr  
IBM Machine Type/Model: 5639-FM6  M&S)  
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BROCADE  IBM p/n  IBM VFM Migration Edition  

    US  LA/EMEA AP/Canada     
    Feature  Feature  Feature    UNIT  

Brocade p/n  IBM p/n  Code  Code  Code  Feature Description  PRICE  
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IBM Machine Type/Model: 5639-FM6  M&S)  
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Attachment B

Vendor Certificate of Originality

Certificate of Originality provided before GA of product to Product Development Team.

This questionnaire must be completed by a vendor (“You”) furnishing copyrightable material, such as software, audio/visual works,
written materials, etc. (“Material”) to IBM. The acceptance of this questionnaire by IBM is a prerequisite for the IBM final payment
for the furnished Material.

Depending on Your agreement with IBM, You may have an obligation to communicate additional information to IBM that IBM may
require for copyright registration and/or enforcement of legal rights relating to the furnished material.

Please leave no questions blank. Write “not applicable” or “N/A” if a question is not relevant to the furnished material.

Summary Information
     
Your name and address:     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

Name of the Material:     
     

IBM Contract No:     
     

IBM Contract Administrator:     
     

A -Material Identification

1. Category of the material (Please check only one):

� a) Software (including its related documentation)
� b) Audiovisual Works
� c) Mask Works
� d) Written Materials excluding related documentation of a)-c)
� e) Other (if other please identify):                                                                                                                       

If You selected either “Software” or “Audio/Visual Works”, please provide the names of any software tools (e.g. compiler, software
development tool, etc.) that were used to create such Material:
 

2. General description of the Material (including the description of any new function that You contributed):
 

3. What was the date that the creation of Material was completed? (except for minor error corrections, etc.):
 

B — Newly Created Material

The questions in this section are targeted at any newly created portion of the Material (“Newly Created Material”). If the Material
includes any pre-existing material, please provide detailed information for such pre-existing material in section C (Pre-existing
Material). All developers or creators of the Newly Created Material must be specified in one of the following Categories I, II or III.
Unless otherwise indicated, Your employees include temporary and supplemental employees who created or contributed to the
creation of the Material under contract or other agreement with You.

I. Was any portion of the Newly Created Material created by Your employee(s) within the scope of their work assignment or job
function (“Category I”) assignment? � Yes � No
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If You checked Yes please provide a copy of any relevant employee agreement governing the creation of intellectual property for
Your company by the employee and provide below the requested information for each employee. It is not necessary to provide copies
of the agreements actually signed by each employee as long as you provide the terms of each agreement. For example, it would be
sufficient to provide blank employee agreement forms of the type actually completed by the employee.
     
Name of employee:     
     

     

Title:     
     

     
Name of employee:     
     

     

Title:     
     

     
Name of employee:     
     

     

Title:     
     

(If there is insufficient space to list all contributors, please attach an additional page with the required information).

II. Was any portion of the Newly Created Material created by Your employee(s) outside the scope of their work assignment or job
function (“Category II”)? � Yes � No

If You checked Yes please provide a copy of any relevant employee agreement governing the creation of intellectual property for
Your company by the employee and provide below the requested information for each employee. It is not necessary to provide copies
of the agreements actually signed by each employee as long as you provide the terms of each agreement. For example, it would be
sufficient to provide blank employee agreement forms of the type actually completed by the employee.
     
Name of employee:     
     

     

Title:     
     

     
Name of employee:     
     

     

Title:     
     

     
Name of employee:     
     

     

Title:     
     

(If there is insufficient space to list all contributors, please attach an additional page with the required information).

III. Was any portion of the Newly Created Material created for You by anyone other than Your employees, including another vendor
company, an independent contractor, a subcontractor, a consortium or university (“Category III”)? � Yes � No

If You checked Yes please provide a copy of any relevant agreement that you may have governing the creation and/or license of the
intellectual property for this Material and the names and title of the individuals who contributed the material. If the third party was a
company, please provide the name and address for the company.
     
Name:     
     

     

Title/Address:     
     

     
Name:     
     

     

Title/Address:     
     

     
Name:     
     

     

Title/Address:     
     

(If there is insufficient space to list all contributors, please attach an additional page with the required information).

1. Does any portion of the Newly Created Material link to any libraries or other software that is characterized as freeware, shareware
or open source software (“OSS Material”). For the purposes of this Certificate of Originality, open source software is computer
software programs whose source code is available for inspection and use by anyone and is made available under
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a license that permits recipients to copy, modify and distribute the program’s source code without payment of royalty. Common
examples of such licenses, include, but are not limited to, the GNU GPL and LGPL licenses, the Mozilla Public License, Apache
license, BSD License, MIT License, Common Public License, etc.?
� Yes � No

If you checked No please go to section C.

If you checked Yes please, provide the following OSS Material information.

Is the linking static or dynamic? � static � dynamic
OSS Material Name:                                                                                                                   
Source of the OSS Material (e.g. a URL, company address, etc):                                             
                                                                                                                                                    
License Information (please attach a copy of the license):                                                        
Any information that would be helpful to identify the ownership of the OSS Material (e.g. Copyright notice, author’s name, contact
information, etc.):                                                                                      

C -Pre-existing Material

The target of this section is any material that had been created by You or others, before you entered into an agreement with IBM to
create the Material (“Pre-existing Material”). Pre-existing Material includes, but is not limited to, software, software libraries,
textbooks, and publications that were used in the creation of the Material provided by You to IBM.

1. Was any portion of the Material composed of or derived from Pre-existing Material?
� Yes � No

If you checked No go to section D.

2. Is any portion of the Pre-existing Material owned by You? � Yes � No

If you checked Yes please provide the name of the Pre-existing Material
                                                                                                                                      

3. Is any portion of the Pre-existing Material owned by a third party (excluding OSS Material)? � Yes � No

If you checked Yes please provide the following information:

Name of Pre-existing Material:                                                                                                   
Source of the Pre-existing Material (e.g. a URL, company address, etc):                                  
                                                                                                                                                     
License Information (please attach a copy of the license):                                                           
Any information that would be helpful to identify the source and ownership of the material (e.g. Copyright notice, author’s name,
contact information, etc.):                             
Have You modified the third party Pre-existing Material? � Yes � No
If you checked Yes, please briefly describe the nature of the modifications               
                                                                                                                                      

4. Is any portion of the Pre-existing Material OSS Material? � Yes � No

If you checked Yes please provide the following information:

Name of Pre-existing Material:                                                                                                                     
Source of the Pre-existing Material (e.g. a URL, company address, etc):                             
                                                                                                                                      
License Information (please attach a copy of the license):                                                           
Any information that would be helpful to identify the source and ownership of the material (e.g. Copyright notice, author’s name,
contact information, etc.):                             
Have You modified the third party OSS Material? � Yes � No
If you checked Yes, please briefly describe the nature of the modifications               
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5. Does any portion of the Pre-existing Material link to any OSS Material, including, for example, by using an OSS Material source
software development kit? � Yes � No

If you checked Yes please, provide the following OSS Material information.

Is the linking static or dynamic? � static � dynamic
OSS Material Name:                                                                                                                   
Source of the OSS Material (e.g. a URL, company address, etc):                                             
                                                                                                                                                    
License Information (please attach a copy of the license):                                                         
Any information that would be helpful to identify the source and ownership of the material (e.g. Copyright notice, author’s name,
contact information, etc.):                                                                                      

D -External Characteristics including Icons (“External Characteristics” include display screens, data formats, instruction or
command formats, operator messages, interfaces, images video, sound recordings, icons, etc.)

Were the “External Characteristics” of the Material or any portion thereof copied or derived from the pre-existing “external
characteristics” of other software or copyrightable material
(“Pre-existing Externals”)? � Yes � No
If You checked No go to section E.

If You checked Yes please provide the following information:

a) Type of External Characteristic:                                                                                  
b) Name of the External Characteristic:                                                                          
c) Source of the External Characteristic:                                                                         
d) Author (if known):                                                                                                       
e) Owner:                                                                                                                         
f) License information (if applicable):                                                                            
g) Please identify or describe any pre-existing External Characteristics are known to you that are similar in appearance to the External
Characteristic(s) that you are providing in the Material.
                                                                                                            
                                                                                                            

E -Miscellaneous

1. Does the Material conform to any particular technology standards? � Yes � No

If You checked yes please identify the name of such standard and standard body.

Name of Standard:                                                             
Standards body:                                                                 

2. Identify below, or in an attachment, any other circumstance which might affect IBM’s ability to reproduce and market this material,
including:

a) Confidentiality or trade secrecy of Pre-existing Materials included in the Material:
                                                                                                            

b) Known or possible royalty obligations to others arising out of the Material:
                                                                                                            

c) Other circumstances:                                                                      
                                                                                                            

Certification

By submitting this form, You acknowledge that you have responsibility for and direct knowledge of, development or creation of this
Material and hereby certify that:

a) All statements made in this form are true;
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b) This Material does not contain any materials copied or derived from other code, designs, document or other materials, except as
listed herein; and

c) All newly written parts of this material are original work of Your employees and/or third party under contract as specified herein.
     
Yes, I certify to the above statements
   

   
Signature   
Name:     
Title:     
Date:     
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Attachment C

Testing, Maintenance and Support

1.0  Definitions

1.1 APAR means the completed form entitled “Authorized Program Analysis Report” that is used to report suspected Code or
documentation errors, and to request their correction.

1.2 APAR Closing Codes means the established set of codes used to denote the final resolution of an APAR. Buyer will identify
APAR Closing Codes prior to the start of the maintenance obligations.

1.3 APAR Correction Times means the objectives that Supplier targets to achieve resolution of errors and distribution of the
correction to Buyer.

SEVERITY LEVELS AND THE SUPPLIER SUPPORT RESPONSE AND RESOLUTIONS TIMES
       
  Target Response     
Case Severity  Time*  Target Escalation to Development*  Target Resolution**
       
Severity 1
Critical  

[**] hour
 

[**] business hours
 

Provide action plan within [**] hours from
problem identification

       
Severity 2 High

 
[**] business
hours  

[**] business days
 

Solution or workaround within [**] business days
from problem identification

       
Severity 3
Medium  

[**] business
hours  

[**] business days
 

Workaround within [**] business days from
problem identification

       
Severity 4 Low

 

[**] business
hours

 

After a technical support engineer
validates or reproduces the
problem  

Brocade will decide within [**] days if the RFE
will be incorporated into a future product release

 

**  The times listed in this chart are targets only and are not a guarantee that Brocade will respond or resolve an issue within the
target time.

The business days begin when Supplier receives the APAR and supporting documentation and end when the Error Correction or other
resolution is shipped to Buyer. Buyer will consider exceptions from these objectives when warranted by technical or business
considerations.

1.4 APAR Severity Levels means designations assigned by Buyer to errors to indicate the seriousness of the error based on the impact
that the error has on the customer’s operation:

 a.  Severity 1 is a critical problem. The customer cannot use the Product or there is a critical impact on the customer’s
operations which requires an immediate solution;

 

 b.  Severity 2 is a major problem. The customer can use the Product, but an important function is not available or the
customer’s operations are severely impacted;

 

 c.  Severity 3 is a minor problem. The customer can use the Product with some functional restrictions, but it does not have a
severe or critical impact on the customer’s operations;

 

   And
 

 d.  Severity 4 is a minor problem that is not significant to the customer’s operations. The customer may be able to circumvent
the problem.

 

[**]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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1.5 Developer Test Systems means an appropriate configuration of installed hardware and software that Supplier maintains which is
representative of typical customer installations for the Product. These Developer Test Systems will contain, at a minimum, the
following:

 a.  the current and current minus 1 level of the Product:
 

 b.  the current and current minus 1 level of prerequisite/co-requisite hardware and software that Buyer specifies to Supplier;
and

 

 c.  specific fix-packs as required.

The Developer Test Systems will consist of the appropriate configured workstations only unless Buyer specifies and provides Supplier
other equipment at no charge.

1.6 Buyer Test Systems means an appropriate configuration of installed hardware and software that Buyer maintains which is
representative of typical Buyer customer installations using the Product. These test systems will contain, at a minimum, a level of
prerequisite/co-requisite hardware and software that is correspondent with that of the Developer Test Systems.

1.7 Maintenance Level Service means the service provided when a customer identifies an error.

 a.  Level 1 is the service provided in response to the customer’s initial phone call identifying and error.
 

 b.  Level 2 is the service provided to reproduce and attempt to correct the error or to find that the service provider cannot
reproduce the error.

 

 c.  Level 3 is the service provided to isolate the error at the component level of the Code. The service provider distributes the
Error Correction or circumvention or gives notice if no Error Correction or circumvention is found.

1.8 Problem Determination means the process of determining whether a problem is being caused by hardware, software or
documentation.

1.9 Problem Management Record (“PMR”) means a record created when a customer makes the initial support request. This record
becomes a part of the Problem Management System database and records the essential information about the customer question or
problem.

1.10 Problem Management System (PMS”) means an internal Buyer developed software system used to record customer
demographic information and encode data about the reported question or problem. The PMS will handle the dispatching of the call
record. The PMS will provide management reports of the call activity, and the recording and tracking of all questions and problems to
final resolution. The PMS will verify that each customer is “entitled” to program support.

1.11 Problem Source Identification means the process of determining which software or documentation component is failing or
attributing the failure to some external cause such as a customer error or no trouble found.

2.0  Maintenance and Support Responsibilities

2.1 The parties will agree to the specific details of the process flow each will follow to resolve customer calls for requests for support
thirty (30) days prior to the general availability of the product.

2.1.1. Entitlement Process: Supplier will provide software support for all calls from Buyer and Buyer customers. Buyer will
prepay supplier for first year maintenance and support in the price of the product. Prior to October 22, 2008, the parties agree
that they will work together to establish procedures whereby 1) Supplier will establish a unique identifier within the StorageX
product and 2) Buyer will develop an automated Ship Report which will be provided to Supplier on a weekly basis.

2.1.2 Maintenance Services: All version-to-version upgrades will be free to buyer and buyer’s customer. When supplier builds
new functionality into a new release or version for additional charges, that new functionality must be represented in a separate
feature code or codes which could be chargeable, or in a new, separately-priceable version with new features. If the new
functionality is not a separately priced feature, it is part of the base code or originally purchased feature structure. Any customer
under current maintenance and support (IBM Software Maintenance) will be entitled to the new code release or version for use at
that same use authorization level.
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2.1.3 Software End of Service: Supplier will provide IBM [**] months’ notice, prior to ending support for any Version IBM
has announced, to enable IBM to notify its customers regarding End of Support. If the product enters end of life ; i.e., is no
longer available in the marketplace, Supplier will provide IBM at least [**] months notice, prior to ending support, to enable
IBM to notify its customers at least [**] months in advance of the fact. Supplier will provide Level 3 support to IBM and its
customers as long as maintenance and support fees are up to date. If a customer is on a down-level version or release of software,
Brocade will take the support call. If a problem is identified that requires a bug fix or patch, Supplier’s customer will be
instructed to move to the current version/release of the software for support of such problem. Supplier will not make code
changes or fixes to down-level software.

2.2 Supplier will provide Buyer electronic (soft copy) information on any known problems in the Licensed Work and the work
arounds and solutions, if available, within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date of this SOW.

2.3 Product customers will initiate requests for support by contacting Buyer. Buyer will perform the following maintenance Level 1
support responsibilities, as described below. Buyer will:

 a.  create the PMR;
 

 b.  obtain from the customer a description of the problem, and verify its severity;
 

 c.  search the Buyer data base for known problems;
 

 d.  provide the available resolution if the problem is known;
 

 e.  recommend local Buyer assistance as required;
 

 f.  if no resolution, pass the PMR to Level 2; and
 

 g.  update the PMR documenting Level 1 actions.

Buyer will be the primary customer contact point for questions, problems and assistance concerning the Product. Buyer may use a
third party to perform its obligations.

2.4 Thirty (30) days prior to general availability of the Product, Supplier will establish a process to check incoming electronic requests
for Level 3 support at least twice daily.

2.5 Buyer will perform the following Level 2 support responsibilities.

a.  Level 2. Buyer will:

 (1)  Receive the PMR/APAR from Level 1;
 

 (2)  Analyze problem symptoms and gather additional data from the customer as required;
 

 (3)  Recreate the problem on the Developer Test System;
 

 (4)  Determine if the error is due to improper installation of the Product by the customer;
 

 (5)  determine if the suspected error is due to prerequisite or operationally related equipment or software at the customer
location;

 

 (6)  Attempt a bypass or circumvention for high impact problems, i.e., Severity 1 and 2:
 

 (7)  if no resolution and the problem appears to be a newly discovered Code or documentation error, create an APAR record.
 

 (8)  if Supplier requests, Buyer will assist Supplier in obtaining additional information or materials from the customer to
support Level 3 Problem Determination, Problem Source Identification and problem resolution; and

 

 (9)  update the PMR, documenting Level 2 actions.

b.  Level 3. Supplier will perform the following Level 3 support responsibilities

 (1)  Receive the APAR/PMR and supporting documentation and materials;
 

 (2)  Analyze the problem symptoms and diagnose the suspected error;

 

[**]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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 (3)  notify Level 2 if additional information, materials or documentation are required;
 

 (4)  Attempt to recreate the problem on the Developer Test System, if required:
 

 (5)  assist Level 2 in attempting to develop a bypass or circumvention for high impact problems, i.e., Severity 1 and 2;
 

 (6)  determine if Error Corrections are required to the Licensed Work;
 

 (7)  if Error Corrections are required to the Licensed Work, provide Error Corrections to Buyer in the format specified by
Buyer;

 

 (8)  return all APARs to Buyer with one of the defined APAR Closing Codes assigned, including text describing the resolution
of the error. In the event a Code error was found, provide the rationale for the closing of the APAR;

 

 (9)  provide resolution to APARs according to the assigned APAR Severity Level and within the defined APAR Correction
Time. The APAR Correction Times include building, testing, certifying successful tests of Error Corrections, and
packaging for shipment to Buyer any applicable Error Corrections in the format specified by Buyer;

 

 (10)  Receive technical questions, and supporting documentation and materials
 

 (11)  Analyze the technical questions and provide answers to Buyer;
 

 (12)  provide technical backup support to Buyer on the Product as provided above. In addition, Supplier will provide assistance
in answering questions that may arise concerning the operation and use of the Licensed Work that cannot be resolved by
Buyer; and

 

 (13)  close out the problem record with the customer.

2.6 As corrected versions become available, Supplier will provide a corrected version of the Licensed Work that includes all Error
Corrections to the Licensed Work. Additional corrected versions of the Licensed Work will be provided as determined and mutually
agreed to by Buyer and Supplier in the event they become necessary due to the frequency or severity of newly discovered defects In
order to provide Error Corrections, Supplier will maintain a current copy of the Product.

2.7 Supplier will maintain procedures to ensure that new Error Corrections are compatible with previous Error Corrections.

2.8 Packaging of Error Corrections and migration Code will be done as mutually agreed to by Buyer and Supplier.

3.0  APAR Origination and Correction

3.1 Generally APARs will originate from Buyer and customers reporting problems. Supplier will also report to Buyer as APARs all
valid errors discovered by Supplier or Supplier’s customers. After receiving an APAR, Buyer will assign an APAR number and
Severity Level, and forward the APAR to Supplier for actions.

3.2 For verified APARs for the Licensed Work, Supplier will provide Error Corrections as set out below within the applicable APAR
Correction Times:

a.  the fix to the Object Code in machine-readable form including a hard copy description of the Error Corrections (which may
include a paper submission of the Error Corrections);

 

b.  the Error Corrections to the source Code in machine-readable form that corresponds to the Object Code Error Corrections; and
 

c.  for a procedural work-around, the corrected procedure in machine-readable form.

3.3 Reader Comment Forms received by Buyer that do not form the basis of an APAR will be forwarded to Supplier for proper and
prompt handling as appropriate.

4.0  Training

4.1 Supplier will provide training on the Licensed Work, , and at the scope and level of effort described below. This training will be
provided on either Supplier’s or Buyer’s premises and will include:

 •  In-depth Training for IBM VFM launch

 •  One free of charge on-site 3-day training at IBM Mainz facility (currently scheduled for Oct 16-18, 2007)
 

 •  Two free of charge seats at San Jose, CA training facility IBM support personnel for Oct 9-11, 2007.
 

 •  One free of charge on-site 3-day training at the IBM RTP, NC facility (currently scheduled for Jan 15-17, 2008)
 

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, December 21, 2007



 •  Field sales and technical sales training for IBM VFM launch
       
Form Title: Licensed Works Agreement Statement of Work  Page 23 of 27    Form Release: 8/98
(LWA_SOW)
Form Owner: Global Procurement  

 
 

 
 Revision: 7/06

 

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, December 21, 2007



 

IBM and Brocade
Statement of Work

Base Agreement #ROC-P-68
SOW# 7 (Contract Number 4907015087.0)

 •  Lisa Dorr’s or replacement’s 90 minute conference call live and recorded (currently scheduled for Oct 30th)
 

 •  One 120-minute Virtual Classroom Training live and recorded (date TBD)
 

 •  A variety of the typical methods will be used (ex: IBM and/or Brocade road shows in the geos).
 

 •  On-going and future training opportunities for IBM VFM

 •  For each Brocade fiscal quarter, Free of Charge seats for forty (40) IBM people for Storage X (IBM VFM) Web
Based Training (available 1Q08)

 

 •  For each Brocade fiscal quarter, two free-of-charge instructor lead 3-day training classes held at a Brocade training
facility. IBM must pay for travel and board of student.

 

 •  Continue the typical training methods of road shows, conferences and conference calls.
 

 •  Any major change of the product (determined by Brocade and IBM) could require another on-site training event at
IBM facilities.

5.0  General

5.1 Supplier will provide to Buyer the name and phone numbers of Supplier’s personnel to contact when high priority problems are
encountered outside of normal working hours that require immediate assistance. Supplier’s normal working hours are defined as 8:00
AM to 5:00 PM, Monday through Friday, Pacific Standard Time.

5.2 Supplier will provide to Buyer, on request, information regarding the status of reported APARs related to the Licensed Work.

5.3 It is desirable that Buyer report APARs and status requests to Supplier via an electronic interface and that Supplier send APAR
Error Corrections status updates and requests for additional documentation to Buyer via the same interface. Buyer and Supplier will
jointly plan the electronic system. Each party is responsible for funding the costs of this interface at its location.

5.4 Critical situations may require the parties to use the telephone for immediate communications. The parties will follow such
communications via the electronic interface for tracking and recording purposes. Each party is responsible for funding the costs of this
communication at its location.

5.5 In circumstances where materials have to be exchanged using facsimile or courier services, each party is responsible for funding
the costs of these exchanges via facsimile or courier services at it location.

5.6 Supplier will participate in monthly telephone conference calls with Buyer to review the status and performance of the parties’
obligations. These calls may be scheduled more or less frequently as agreed to by the Technical Coordinators. Each party is
responsible for funding the costs of these conference calls at its location.
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Attachment D

Quality Requirements for Commercially Available Software

Supplier will verify, at the times and in such manner as mutually agreed to by the parties, the performance of the following Licensed
Work support and change management process work in order to ensure Supplier’s ability to support fielded Product and respond to
Buyer requirements.

1.0 SUPPLIER’S PROJECT CHANGE MANAGEMENT TRACKING

Supplier will initially document and provide to Buyer a test report following the format and content provided in the Brocade
Tapestry StorageX 6.0 QA report.pdf The Supplier will periodically measure tracking activities and review with Buyer (Buyer and
Supplier will determine a mutually agreeable frequency of project management reviews).

2.0 CHANGE MANAGEMENT PROCESS ASSESSMENT

2.1 Assessment Elements

Supplier will determine the status of Licensed Work support activities by making appropriate periodic measurements and reviewing
with Buyer as provided in this Section. An initial assessment of Licensed Work support and change management processes may be
made by Buyer, with presentation by Supplier. Ongoing assessments, as appropriate, will be made at twelve (12) month intervals,
or otherwise as mutually agreed to by Buyer and Supplier. Assessment Elements will consist of the following metrics, as a
minimum.

a) Change request summary and status

b) Trouble report summary and status

c) Review of project schedules, issues, concerns

3.0 REVIEWS

On a periodic basis, if mutually agreed by the Buyer and Supplier due to high defect rates in the Licensed Work, the Buyer or
Buyer’s quality representative may conduct reviews at the Supplier’s and Supplier’s sub-tier supplier’s location. The Supplier shall,
at Buyer’s request, which request will be in writing and provide not less than thirty (30) Days advance notice, permit inspection of
interim and final change management Licensed Work deliverables for Buyer. All such information shall be deemed the confidential
information of Supplier and shall be held in confidence by Buyer, and Buyer and Buyer’s quality representative will sign a
confidentiality agreement. The Supplier shall ensure access for Buyer’s reviewers to all the Supplier sites where work is being
performed or materials being delivered to Supplier in performance of Supplier’s change management work for the Buyer.

4.0 DOCUMENT CONTROL

The Supplier shall ensure that material documents pertinent to the Licensed Work, such as software change management
specifications and designs, contracts, policies, procedures, software development process flow chart, and work instructions
(including test procedures) are under Supplier’s configuration control system as provided in this Section and are available to all
necessary personnel in the development environment in accordance with that system. Supplier shall have a document configuration
control system for the effective updating/removal of any obsolete material documentation from Licensed Work development areas.

5.0 QUALITY RECORDS

The Supplier shall establish and maintain procedures for identification, collection, indexing, filing, storage, maintenance, and
disposition of material quality records for the Licensed Work.

6.0 QUALITY PROBLEM NOTIFICATION TO BUYER

The Supplier must notify the Buyer of any significant, reproducible defects in the Licensed Work that may affect the Licensed
Work, that have been identified by the Supplier’s internal testing (i.e., process control data, internal test data, quality data, etc.), by
third parties which produce products on behalf of the Buyer, or by another customer. Supplier may fulfill its notification
requirement under this Section by providing Buyer with direct access to Supplier’s “Problem Reporting and Resolution Database”
for the Licensed Work that Supplier in its discretion makes available for the purposes of problem reporting and ticketing (for
clarity, this clause will not require Supplier to provide Buyer with Supplier’s internal, technical database of defects and corrections

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, December 21, 2007



for the Licensed Work).

7.0 QUALITY OBJECTIVE

Supplier will cooperate with Buyer to establish a mutually acceptable product quality plan (“Quality Plan”) on a mutually
acceptable timeline, with the objective of ensuring product defect density rates customary in the industry for like software. The
supplier will work towards meeting this target using the specifications and the test environment available to them. Supplier will
perform testing and provide Buyer with summary test reports as described in Section 6.1 of the SOW. The Supplier and Buyer will
work towards meeting quality goals and objects specified in the Quality Plan. As part of the Quality Plan, Supplier agrees to track a
mutually agreeable set of pre-GA quality metrics during project planning and execution.

*Authorized Program Analysis Report (“APAR”) means the completed form entitled “Authorized Program Analysis Report” that is
used to report suspected Code or documentation errors, and to request their correction.

Problem Management Record (“PMR”) means a record created when a customer makes the initial support request. This record
becomes a part of the Problem Management System database and records the essential information about the customer question or
problem.
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Exhibit E
Brocade StorageX End User License Agreement

PLEASE READ THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT (“AGREEMENT”) CAREFULLY BEFORE DOWNLOADING, INSTALLING,
OR USING THIS SOFTWARE AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTATION. BY DOWNLOADING, INSTALLING, OR
USING THE SOFTWARE, YOU ARE AGREEING TO BE BOUND BY THIS AGREEMENT. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE TO ALL
OF THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT, PROMPTLY RETURN AND DO NOT USE THE SOFTWARE. NO
AUTHORIZATION TO USE THIS SOFTWARE IS PROVIDED TO YOU UNLESS YOU FULLY AGREE AND COMPLY WITH
THE FOLLOWING TERMS AND CONDITIONS.

1. LICENSE

Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (“Brocade”) grants to you (“Customer”) a non-exclusive, non-sublicenseable,
non-transferable, worldwide license to use the accompanying software as specified herein (“Software”) in object code form only and
solely for Customer’s internal business use, together with the accompanying documentation, and solely in the data amounts or on the
number of nodes for which Customer is licensed. Customer shall only use the Software in the quantity set forth on the attached
Software Order Schedule. In addition, Customer may make one (1) archival copy of the Software. Customer must acquire one copy of
the Software for each computer on which the Software will be installed. This license is personal to Customer and Customer shall not
assign, transfer or sublicense this license without Brocade’s prior written approval; any attempt to do so shall be void. This license is
further restricted to the particular protocols and accompanying documentation purchased hereunder.

2. RESTRICTIONS

The Software constitutes trade secrets and proprietary data of Brocade and Customer agrees to hold in confidence and not disclose the
Software to any third party. Customer may not alter, merge, modify or adapt the Software in any way including reverse engineering,
translation, disassembling or decompiling. Customer may not sell, distribute, loan, rent, lease, license or otherwise transfer the
Software or any copy.

3. UPGRADES AND ADDITIONAL COPIES

For purposes of this Agreement, “Software” shall also include any upgrades, updates, bug fixes or modified versions (“Upgrades”)
provided to Customer by Brocade or an authorized distributor, along with any backup copies of the Software, and for which Customer
has paid the applicable license and support and maintenance fees. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Customer acknowledges and agrees
that Brocade and its resellers and distributors shall have no obligation to provide any Upgrades. If Upgrades or additional copies of the
Software are provided, Customer acknowledges and agrees that it has no license or right to use such additional copies or Upgrades
unless Customer, at the time of acquiring such copy or Upgrade, already holds a valid license and the corresponding software keys to
the original Software for the applicable number of copies, and is subject to and in compliance with (including the payment of all fees)
a then-current Software support and maintenance program with Brocade or its authorized distributor.

4. COPYRIGHT

As between Brocade and Customer, Brocade owns all intellectual property rights in the Software and user documentation. The
intellectual property rights are protected by the United States copyright laws, other applicable copyright laws, and international treaty
provisions. Brocade reserves to itself all rights not expressly granted.

5. LIMITED WARRANTY

For ninety (90) days from your date of purchase, Brocade warrants that (i) the Software will substantially conform to the applicable
user documentation and (ii) that the media on which the Software is distributed is free from defects in materials and workmanship.
Brocade will repair or replace at no charge any defective Software or Software that does not substantially conform to the applicable
user documentation, provided that the defective or non-conforming Software is returned to Brocade within ninety (90) days from the
date of purchase. Any Software Brocade replaces becomes the property of Brocade, and the replacement Software becomes the
property of Customer. The replacement Software assumes the Service status of the replaced Software, if the replaced Software is
subject to a Software support and maintenance program with Brocade or its authorized distributor. Before Brocade exchanges any
Software, Customer agrees to remove all Software to be exchanged that is installed on its computers. Customer also agrees to ensure
that the Software is free of any legal obligations or
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restrictions that could prevent its exchange. Any misuse or unauthorized modification of the Software will void the limited warranty.

EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED HEREIN, THE SOFTWARE AND THE ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTATION ARE
PROVIDED “AS IS” WITHOUT ANY WARRANTY OF ANY KIND AND BROCADE DISCLAIMS EACH AND EVERY
OTHER WARRANTY, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY,
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR NON-INFRINGEMENT.

6. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

IN NO EVENT WILL BROCADE BE LIABLE FOR INDIRECT, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
ARISING OUT OF THE USE OF OR INABILITY TO USE BROCADE PRODUCTS OR SERVICES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT
LIMITATION, DAMAGES OR COSTS RELATING TO LOSS OF PROFITS, BUSINESS, GOODWILL, DATA OR COMPUTER
PROGRAMS, EVEN IF ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. IN NO EVENT SHALL BROCADE’S
ENTIRE LIABILITY FOR ANY DIRECT DAMAGES EXCEED THE AMOUNT PAID BY YOU FOR THE SOFTWARE OUT OF
WHICH SUCH CLAIM AROSE.

7. U.S. GOVERNMENT RESTRICTED RIGHTS

Any Brocade software and documentation provided to the U.S. Government is with Restricted Rights as follows. Use, duplication, or
disclosure by the Government is subject to restrictions set forth in subparagraphs (a) through (d) of the Commercial Computer
Restricted Rights clause at FAR 52.227-19 when applicable, or in subparagraph (c)(1)(ii) of the Rights in Technical Data and
Computer Software clause at DFARS 252.227-7013, and in similar clauses in the NASA FAR Supplement. The
Contractor/Manufacturer is Brocade Communications Systems, Inc., 738 Highway 6 South, Suite 850, Houston, TX 77079.

8. GENERAL

No Brocade dealer, distributor or agent is authorized to make any modification or addition to this Agreement.

The export of this Software is governed by the U.S. Department of Commerce under the export administration regulations and
Canadian export regulations and is governed by the U.S. Department of State under the International Traffic in Arms regulations. It is
your responsibility to comply with all such regulations.

THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE
OF CALIFORNIA AS IF PERFORMED WHOLLY WITHIN THE STATE AND WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO THE
PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICT OF LAW.

In the event any provision of this Agreement is determined to be void or not enforceable, the remaining provisions of this Agreement
shall continue in full force and effect; provided, however, that if any limitation on the grant to you of any right herein is held invalid or
unenforceable, such right shall immediately terminate.

Should you have any questions concerning this Agreement or Brocade’s software use policies, write to Brocade Communications
Systems, Inc., 738 Highway 6 South, Suite 850, Houston, TX 77079, or call 1-888-NUVIEW-0.
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Exhibit 12.1

Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(in thousands, except ratios)

                     
  Fiscal Year Ended  

  October 27,  October 28,  
October

29,   
October

30,   October 25,  
  2007   2006   2005   2004   2003  
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before

taxes  $144,915  $ 98,352  $55,198  $(19,624)  $(134,697)
Fixed charges from continuing operations                     

Interest expense and amortization of debt
discount and issuance costs on all
indebtedness   6,414   7,082   7,693   10,677   13,339 

Interest included in rent   5,159   3,616   3,578   3,722   7,579 
                

Total fixed charges from continuing operations   11,573   10,698   11,271   14,399   20,917 
                

Earnings (loss) before taxes and fixed charges  $156,488  $109,050  $66,469  $ (5,225)  $(113,780)
                

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges (1)   13.5x   10.2x   5.9x   —   — 
Coverage deficiency (2)  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 19,624  $ 134,697 
                

 

(1)  The ratio of earnings to fixed charges was computed by dividing earnings (loss) from continuing operations before taxes by fixed
charges from continuing operations for the periods indicated. Fixed charges from continuing operations include (i) interest
expense and amortization of debt discount and issuance costs on all indebtedness, and (ii) one-third of all rental expense, which
the Company considers to be a reasonable approximation of the interest factor included in rental expense.

 

(2)  Earnings were inadequate to cover fixed charges. For the years ended October 30, 2004 and October 25, 2003, the Company
needed additional earnings of $19.6 million and $134.7 million, respectively, to achieve a ratio of earnings to fixed charges of
1.0x.
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Exhibit 21.1

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

     BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.

     BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS SKYPORT LLC

     NUVIEW, INC

     MCDATA CORPORATION

     MCDATA SERVICES CORPORATION

     BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS LUXEMBOURG HOLDINGS SARL

     BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS LUXEMBOURG HOLDINGS II SARL

     BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS LUXEMBOURG SARL

     BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SWITZERLAND SARL

     BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SERVICES SWITZERLAND SARL
Brocade has an additional 48 international subsidiaries and 9 domestic subsidiaries, which have been omitted pursuant to
Item 601(b)(21)(ii) of Regulation S-K.
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.:

     We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-143053, 333-140334,
333-129909, 333-129908, 333-117897, 333-103571, 333-100797, 333-72480, 333-64260, 333-53734, 333-39126, 333-95653 and
333-85187) and Form S-3 (Nos. 333-143109 and 333-84698) of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. of our reports dated
December 20, 2007, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. as of October 27, 2007
and October 28, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash
flows for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period ended October 27, 2007, and the related financial statement schedule, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of October 27, 2007, which reports appear in the October 27, 2007 annual
report on Form 10-K of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. Our report dated December 20, 2007 on the consolidated financial
statements contains an explanatory paragraph stating that Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. and subsidiaries adopted the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payments at the beginning of the year ended
October 28, 2006.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Mountain View, California
December 20, 2007
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CERTIFICATION

I, Michael Klayko, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended October 27, 2007 of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

     a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

     b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

     c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

     d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

     a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

     b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 19, 2007
     
  /s/ Michael Klayko
  Michael Klayko   
  Chief Executive Officer   
  (Principal Executive Officer)   
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Richard Deranleau, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended October 27, 2007 of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

     a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

     b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

     c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

     d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

     a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

     b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 19, 2007
     
  /s/ Richard Deranleau   
  Richard Deranleau   
  Chief Financial Officer   
  (Principal Accounting Officer)   
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

          I, Michael Klayko, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that the Annual Report of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 27, 2007
fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained
in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of
Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
     
   
 By:            /s/ Michael Klayko  
            Michael Klayko  
            Chief Executive Officer  
 

          I, Richard Deranleau, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that the Annual Report of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. on Form 10-K for the fiscal quarter ended October 27,
2007 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information
contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations
of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
     
   
 By:            /s/ Richard Deranleau  
            Richard Deranleau  
            Chief Financial Officer  
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